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CORPORATE PROFILE
NEBT

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (“JCI” or the
“Company”) is a mining company headquartered and listed in
Hong Kong. The Company was acquired by Jinchuan Group Co.,
Ltd* (“Jinchuan Group” or “*JCG”) in November 2010 and is the
Jinchuan Group’s overseas resources development flagship
enterprise established for the purposes of accelerating Jinchuan
Group’s multinational operation strategy and elevating Jinchuan
Group’s global investing, financing and operating capabilities.
The Company is primarily engaged in the development and
operation of overseas mining resources projects, as well as the
trading of raw materials and products of copper, cobalt, nickel
and other nonferrous metals.

Currently, JCI is the operator of a number of mines and projects
in the Central African countries of the Republic of Zambia
(“Zambia”) and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (“DRC”).
The mining assets now operated by JCI are:

OPERATING MINES:

— Ruashi Mine (75% ownership) — located in the DRC and
comprising 3 open pits and a process plant producing
copper cathode for direct sale on the international market.

—  Chibuluma South Mine (85% ownership) — located in
Zambia and comprising an underground mine with a
process plant producing copper concentrate for sale to a
smelter located in Zambia.

DEVELOPMENT PROJECT:

— Kinsenda Project (77% ownership) — located in the DRC
and is one of the world’s highest grade copper deposits
with resources grade at 5.5% copper. The underground
mine currently being developed is scheduled to start
production with full processing in the first half of 2017.

EXPLORATION PROJECTS (advanced stage):

— Musonoi Project (75% ownership) and Lubembe Project
(77% ownership) both located in the DRC and are currently
under exploration and feasibility.

— Of which Musonoi Project is well prepared for the
development stage, possessing 0.9% high grade cobalt
resources. It had completed the feasibility study and
preliminary mine design, and is expected to commence
construction in the second half of 2017.

The Jinchuan Group currently retains an approximate 75%
ownership of JCI. The Jinchuan Group was founded in 1958 and
is a state-owned enterprise with its majority interest held by the
People’s Government of Gansu Province. The Jinchuan Group is
one of the world’s largest mining enterprises being the third
largest producer of nickel in the world, third largest cobalt
producer in the world and the third largest copper producer in the
People‘s Republic of China (“PRC”).

*  For identification purposes only
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

REVENUE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Zhiqgiang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Deputy Chairman of the Board)
Mr. CHEN Dexin (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN*

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. WONG Tak Chuen

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. WU Chi Keung (Chairman)
Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN*

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION

COMMITTEE
Mr. WU Chi Keung (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Sanlin
Mr. ZHANG Zhong
Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony (Chairman)

Mr. CHEN Dexin

Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. WONG Tak Chuen

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Chairman)
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* Subsequently resigned on 31 January 2017.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE*
Mr. CHEN Dexin (Chairman)

Mr. ZHANG Zhong (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Chuen

Mr. Peter John DENEEN

Ms. Maria Majoire LO

REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit 3101, 31/F

United Centre

95 Queensway

Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.jinchuan-intl.com

MAJOR BANKERS

China Development Bank Corporation

The Export-Import Bank of China

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
DBS Bank Limited

BNP Paribas
£ The Executive Committee was officially dissolved with effect from
18 August 2016.
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Yang Zhigiang

Chairman of the Board
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, BZNVEWRHWRE :

The Company’s business, which focuses mainly on non-ferrous RNATEBRTEUEEEETINIRIEEASE
metals in particular copper and cobalt, was adversely affected SBEZRNATERELR (BEEHEER) TH
by the declining price of commaodities (including both copper and HE 2 REXE -BHE-S—AELERZH
cobalt) and has performed poorly in recent years. It was not until AEBRARRE 2 7 Z506,000E 7T
towards the end of 2016 that copper price rebounded from the PEoshBR-E—+E—AhaFE ES
bqttom and at a t!me r'ose .to above US$6,000 per tonne. Cobalt SIE55 00027 - RE—F — +FiHHES T
price surged rapidly in mid-February 2017 to US$55,000 per FE 2 o

tonne. Copper and cobalt prices are anticipated to show a steady R

to optimistic outlook in 2017.



In the past year, the Company has adopted “think first before
taking actions while prioritising efficiency” as the basis of its
decisions on any commencement of operations, with a view to
confront its “worst aspects”, resolve the “toughest issues” and
strive for the “best rewards”, as well as pursue the maximisation
of output to input efficiency and strengthen the new philosophy
in concentrated management, and as a result successfully
turned challenges into opportunities. On behalf of the Board, |
am pleased to announce that the Company has not only ended
a loss-making trend but has successfully reduced losses and
recorded a turnaround to profit attributable to owners of the
Company of US$8.347 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 (for the year ended 31 December 2015: loss attributable to
owners of the Company of US$291.767 million).

| would like to thank my fellow directors, management and staff
for their commitment and support in the past year, especially
to Mr. Chen Dexin, our CEO appointed in mid-2016, who has
contributed immensely to the development of the Company.
Mr. Chen has strategically laid out the development of JCI with
clearly defined objectives and positioning, which represents
focus on the development of four major business areas: the
first being a strong expansion in mining operations; the second
being to enhance, enlarge and enrich the international trading
business; the third being to actively seek opportunities in
developing new business segments; and the fourth being to
leverage on Hong Kong's position as an international financial
hub to develop the investment and financing business segments,
as such turning JCI into a world-class mining company.

Looking forward, we have great optimism for 2017. Currently,
the non-ferrous metal industry has entered into a cycle of
recovery, where the prices of copper and cobalt products of the
Company are recovering. The Company shall push for further
advancement amid recovery and move forward in all aspects of
development, overcome all challenges faced in improving quality
and efficiency and in transformation and upgrade, as well as
accomplish the two fundamental reformations, from preserving
asset value to asset appreciation, and from large-scale, speed-
oriented growth to quality and efficiency-driven growth.

| would like to reassure and promise all of our shareholders that
our CEO, Mr. Chen Dexin, and myself will lead all employees
of the Company to join force and strive for improvement and
success with our utmost commitment for the stable, healthy and
sustainable development of the Company, in order to create
greater value for all of our shareholders.

Finally, | would like to thank the People’s Government of Gansu
Province for their dedicated support to the Jinchuan Group and

the Company.

Mr. Yang Zhigiang
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 20 March 2017
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CEO’'S REPORT
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| am glad to report on behalf of the management of the Company.
| was appointed as the CEO of the Company on 15 June 2016
after my past few years’ hand-on management as chairman and
CEO of Metorex, a subsidiary of the Company. The global mining
industry underwent severe challenges and non-ferrous metal
market sentiment hovered at the bottom over most of the year
under review. The industry attention was drawn back again with
turnaround of metal prices towards the end of 2016 and
remained at such sustainable level in early 2017 till the date of
this report. It is very encouraging to look forward to further
enhancing our profitability in years to come, especially my mining
operating team working together with me had put concerted
efforts to efficiently control the costs during the past few years of
difficult market environment.

In 2016, both the average LME copper and cobalt price dropped
by 12% and 9%, respectively. Through refined management,
technological reform and innovation, continuous optimization of

Chen Dexin
Chief Executive Officer
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economic and technical indicators, enhancement in labour
productivity and production, reducing operating costs and
increasing economic efficiencies, our Mining Operations was
able to turnaround to a profitable results with a significant
improvement in operating performance of Ruashi Mine in the
DRC and Chibuluma South Mine in Zambia. Having said that, we
had also resolved some key issues during 2016 like to de-bottle
neck the production flow in Ruashi Mine and curtail our
production scale of Chibuluma South Mine both during the first
half of the year. On the other hand, the Chifupu deposit of the
Chibuluma South Mine completed its development and had
achieved early-start production by November 2016. Besides,
Kinsenda Project had produced its first tonne of ore in October
2016 and expected to start production with full processing during
the first half of 2017. Musonoi Project had completed its feasibility
and optimization studies, as well as the preliminary mine design.
Funding arrangement is in the pipeline to secure adequate
financing to facilitate the rapid pre-construction works during the
development phase of this project in 2017.

Our Trading of mineral and metal products operations was also
largely impacted by global weak metal commodity market and
our delay in new business development. We strive to enlarge
and enrich this trading operations, though the trading volume
decreased. We have been able to renew the 20,000 tonnes
copper blister annual supply contract and line up with our loyal
customers to anchor our core stream of trading revenue.
Progress finally made in second half of 2016 in the roll out of
new business lines regarding inventory financing on non-ferrous
metal with expanded bank facilities. We hope it would help enrich
our trading structure by growing more business in this regard in
2017.

Apart from the above two business segments, more efforts had
been driven towards the third and fourth areas, namely corporate
financing and new business development. | have prioritized
financing as a prime function for the Company to deploy its
function as a listed platform in provision of capital for mining
development and fulfillment of our vision. We have pursued
different funding channels with active regular communications
with investment banks and funds to explore equity and debt
financing in the capital market. Apart from that, our Mining
Operations had secured two further loans of US$25 million and
US$100 million with CDBC for a tenor ranging from one to three
years, in May and November 2016 respectively. In the area of
new business development, we have also studied several merger
and acquisition opportunities, in particular Southern Africa with
close proximity to our existing mines to look for synergy effect.
No conclusion of deals have been made for these studies. We
will be continually diligent in this process and be focus and strict
in our assessment of any new business development opportunity.
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To elevate the investor attention to the Company, accompanied
with the favourable timing of recovery of the non-ferrous metal
sector, we also put more emphasis on investor relations and
equity value management. Regular updates of company news on
our corporate website have been maintained. Participations in
mining conferences had taken places in “121 Mining Conference”
in Hong Kong in October 2016 and “International Mining and
Resources Conference” in Melbourne in November 2016. With
the recognition by the market, the share price and thus the
market capitalization had been more than doubled from when |
was on board in June 2016 up to present. We will continue to
strengthen these areas to enhance the Company’s presence and
position in the capital market.

We will continue to carry out measures such as improving quality
and efficiency, drawing on the management mode of the
AMOEBA, taking financial management as the core, and
implementing measures such as meticulous management and
comprehensive budget management, technological innovation,
continuous optimization of economic and technical indicators,
and improved production. The Company strives to continuously
and significantly reduce production costs on base of 2016, while
taking good advantage of the favorable commodity market for
copper and cobalt prices (particularly cobalt prices). The
Company developed a strategy of “Improvement on Cobalt and
Maintaining Growth on Copper” through scientific management,
cost reduction and improved efficiency in order to increase
production and sales and achieve better profitability, and
simultaneously strived to achieve the profit target of 2017. We
will enter 2017 with the following projects:

- Actively promote the Ruashi Mine Phase lll Project to
build a solid foundation for Ruashi Mining in the future.

- Perform full equipment test run for Kinsenda Project
beginning in the second quarter of 2017, complete pilot
production for processing plant, ensure smooth production
flow, achieve monthly target output, curing production
technical indicators, with mine site and processing plant
to achieve full year operating targets by the end of 2017.

- Actively introduce strategic investors to further optimize
the shareholding structure.

- To focus on enlarging total resources and extending the
industrial chain, continue to find other copper and cobalt
project investment opportunities.

- In addition to physical trade of copper blister, we have
signed a 20,000 ton zinc ingot repo trade contract to
accelerate the development of the new trading business.

Finally, | would like to thank the continuous supports of the
Shareholders, the communities where the business units engage,
customers and business partners. At the same time, | would also
like to thank the Board members, management team and all
employees for their hard work and contributions.

Mr. Chen Dexin
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 20 March 2017
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MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW

The Group’s Mining Operations include two operating mines
(Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine), one development
project (Kinsenda Project) and two exploration projects (Musonoi
Project and Lubembe Project).

A summary of the Group’s expenditure incurred on its mining
production, development and exploration activities from each
mine and project for the year ended 31 December 2016 are as
follows:

Expenditure

PRUE 575 [0 R

AEBRBEEKDIEWE L ERES (RuashilE
K Chibulumai@#&) - —fEREE B (Kinsenda
HE) RMEREEE (Musonoilm B &
LubembelE B ) o

UTEIAEBZBEREBHE T -
FTZA=+-HLFEZRBELE -
REBEBREE 2 X HBE !

on mining Expenditure on Expenditure
production development on exploration Total
activities activities activities expenditure
For the year ended 31 December 2016 REEE
BE-E-A"F+-A=+—-HLEE EBXH  HABREXBXE  REEEXU A3
US$ million US$ million US$ million US$ million
BEXR BEER BEXR BEXR
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 38.5 1.1 - 39.6
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma F & 5.7 2.6 0.3 8.6
Chifupu deposit Chifupu &k - 6.7 - 6.7
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda 18 B - 51.2 - 51.2
Musonoi Project Musonoi & B - - 0.9 0.9
Lubembe Project Lubembe 1B H - - - -
Total expenditure B 44.2 61.6 1.2 107.0
OPERATING MINES EIEES
Ruashi Mine Ruashif#
Overview wE

The Ruashi Mine is an opencast oxide copper and cobalt mine
situated in the DRC on the outskirts of Lubumbashi, which is the
capital of the Katanga Province. It was first discovered by Union
Miniére in 1919 and has been intensively evaluated by drilling
over the years. Up to the end of 2016, 1,886 drillholes have been
drilled on the mine.

The Ruashi Mine currently consists of three open-pit deposits
and a modern SX-EW leach processing plant. These deposits
occur along strike of each other over a combined strike length
of 2,000 meters, and are separated by cross-cutting faults and
breccia zones.

The Group indirectly owns 75% interest of Ruashi Mine and the
remaining 25% interest is held by Gécamines, a state-owned
mining company in the DRC.

RuashifgJ3 — BN RRBIR (£) EXEE (0F
mEEg)ME2EXREIE - 48 - ZRER
— R —HEHUnion Miniére®IR - It ZERE
BEFRETHREIGFEIE - BE-FT—KF
FIR » EZES S HER1,886(EE L -

RuashifZEE I B =EEXERK —EERNA
LER -SSR Z2REER - ZSBWKLBRE
EHHEERE2,000KHEERSRE > BHEY
EERAME DR

AN £ B [ % # BRuashilE 75%% & » &%
T25%E=MA R (£) —HEBEELQA

GécaminesiE g o

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 =& — X F %




12

MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
PRURSETE [ BR

Operational Review

During 2016 Ruashi Mine reduced power cost from US$20c/kWh
to US$14c/kWh, as a result of reduced dependence on diesel
generators supply by reducing the base load. The Electrowinning
current efficiency improved from 71% to 81%, with resulting
power savings. Ruashi Mine also achieved a 12% increase in
plant processing capacity, following the implementation of a de-
bottlenecking project.

Production and sales summary for Ruashi Mine:

& E O

MRZZF—NF > RuashilBEH LV EEHE H#t
FEMREE S mBEENRE  FEIXAH
BTEHN20EX,REESETRE14XD -8
AREENSRNEBTI%REAZE81% » iZ
HEAEMR - RuashiiB AN ERKEEME
{LIEEBEBR12%ER L -

RuashiiZEz EEREEMENT -

For the year ended 31 December 2016 2015
BE+-B=+—HLEE —E—XE —SE—FE
PRODUCTION: EE:

Copper (tonne) i (mg) 32,129 35,056
Cobalt (tonne) & (W) 3,391 4,344
PRODUCT SOLD: EmiEE

Copper (tonne) 1 (mg) 32,233 35,059
Cobalt (tonne) £ (W) 3,264 4,331
Revenue (US$ million) WA (BEXT) 210.3 262.1
Average LME Copper price (US$/tonne) A& T I98E(E (X, H) 4,863 5,502

Copper production for the year ended 31 December 2016
decreased by 8.3% to 32,129 tonnes as compared to 2015. The
decrease in copper is attributed to the lower than budget foreign
ore supply and the lower ore grade, although Ruashi Mine milled
2.6% more tonnes in 2016 than 2015.

A decrease in cobalt production by 21.9% during the year ended
31 December 2016 as compared to 2015 was the result of low
plant availability and processing issues. Cobalt feed grades were
also lower due to low ore grades. Plant recovery for both cobalt
and copper was impacted by adverse ore characteristics/process
issues affecting leach recovery.

The decrease in revenue is attributable to the decrease in
volume of copper and cobalt sold and a lower copper and cobalt
price during the most part of 2016. Commodity prices recovered
in the fourth quarter of 2016.

The capital expenditure of Ruashi Mine for the year ended 31
December 2016 totalled US$1.1 million, which was primarily
spent on cathode replacements, acid storage tanks and
debottlenecking of the plant.

The Company continues to discuss ways of becoming less
reliant on the DRC power grid, which is mainly hydro-generated
and often unstable especially during the dry season. These
discussions have led to partnerships being actively explored with
fellow miners in the DRC in an attempt to jointly find alternative
solutions.

BE-E—-R"E+-A=+—HLEEZ#
EEB-Z-AFRL8.3%E32,1200 » H
EEENBEBEAHESRBEERRBERALT
FEFrEk - IR BRuashilBR—E— NENE
B - —RFE%26%-°

HRBEANARRERHEMIEZE  BRE
EZE—RE+ A=+ -—BLEEZHE
ER-ZZE-—FAFEFHD21.9%  $hEERBUITH
BA RN TR T B - 865 810 T R AVIRE
RETARBREEEM MIMERSE -

FERRREIME -

W AR A TS B R 85 6 2 8 K% i BB R D M
ERFEER-T—A"FRIPIEE T ERATE -
AmEBER-ZE-AFENEEMROA -

BE-ZZE-—-X"F+=ZA=+—HILEFEE"
RuashifZEMNEASTHEHRBI11BEEEL £
EZAREREE BRHEENEEEEMRSEL -

RRAREEHNEMEERLHBIR (£)
RER(EBRKNBE  EEREFHRE
HEEARE) WIkHE  EERMBEERSRE
AR () MRBLEERYBHER B0
ERFTEALRRT R -



Chibuluma South Mine and Chifupu deposit
Overview

Chibuluma South Mine is an underground copper mine situated
in Zambia located 13 km from the town of Kalulushi. The Chifupu
deposit is located approximately 1.7 km from the Chibuluma
South Mine.

The Company indirectly owns 85% interest of Chibuluma South
Mine (including Chifupu deposit) and the remaining 15% interest
is held by ZCCM Investment Holdings plc, a Zambian state-
owned mining company.

Operational Review

Chibuluma South Mine has undertaken a reserve replacement
program with development of a copper deposit, Chifupu deposit,
which is expected to be able to extend the life-of-mine (“LOM”)
until 2022. Chifupu access development was completed and
production commenced in the fourth quarter of 2016.

Production and sales summary for Chibuluma South Mine:

MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
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ChibulumaiE & ¥ Chifupuf& IR
#E

Chibulumaf@ 5 J3 — By R & tb T2 #9 it T 4
I » FEKalulushifg E132 2 ° Chifupuf& bk 82
ChibulumaraTEMEE 1. 728 -

7K/ B B % A Chibulumai@ & (&2 & Chifupu
T&IR) H85% M @ BA T 15% M HELa: —
B E B &% A FZCCM Investment Holdings
plciFE o

& E O

ChibulumaEBEE HREFEEEF S8 > XM
% — R B AChifupulB PRV SETE IR - FEFH 2B
RGEEREBBSHHEB (TLOMDE=Z
ZZH o ChifupuB RE TR B BIL R -2
—REENEHBRE °

Chibulumam Bz EERHEEBMEZWT -

For the year ended 31 December 2016 2015
BHE+Z-B=+—HLEE —E—XE —SE—FE
PRODUCTION: E=E 10,458 12,726
Copper (tonne) i (Mg)

PRODUCT SOLD: EmEE

Copper (tonne) ) (Mg) 10,850 13,303
Revenue (US$ million) KA (BEEET) 52.9 71.4
Average LME Copper price (US$/tonne) & E9mE (Ex 1) 4,863 5,502

Copper production for the year ended 31 December 2016
decreased by 17.8% to 10,458 tonnes as compared to 2015.
The decrease was due to lower ore grade as a result of
dilution arising from collapsed stopes attributed to unfavourable
underground conditions at Chibuluma South Mine and also poor
production equipment availability.

Copper revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016
decreased by 25.9% to US$52.9 million as compared to that of
the prior year. The reduced revenue is attributed to lower copper
production and lower average copper price during most part of
2016.

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2016
totalled US$9.6 million, which was primarily spent on
underground mine development and expenditure in opening of
the Chifupu deposit.

BE-ZE2—R"F+-A=+—-RHALEEZIH
EER - -AFTH17.8%Z10,458HF o &
R4 2 HAChibulumaFa iE & 7 Kl ith & &+
FEBNPBREEENECURTANEE
RBRIKFTEL -

BEZE-—ARE+ZA=+—HLEE
WABEETH25.9%E5298BETT ° LA
THRIDBERAEETERRAZZE—REXRT
DB ESHEFIIREHRE -

BE-Z—R"E+ZA=+—HLEE &
AEZHEHAIEERT  NEEAMNMEE
T 5E R AEChifupulE FREA BRI BE X -
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DEVELOPMENT PROJECT
Kinsenda Project
Overview

The Kinsenda Project is a brownfield copper development
project situated in the Katanga Province of the DRC and ranks
as one of the world’s highest grade copper deposits. The project
has good access to infrastructure, with a sealed single-lane road
connecting the mine to the regional highway 20 km to the west
of the site. This project will see an existing mine from 1980 being
reinvigorated into an initial 24,000 tonnes per annum copper
concentrate mine.

There exist substantial additional mineral resources that could
see the life of mine increase in excess of 20 years. Once steady
state is achieved, the option to increase throughput will be
evaluated.

Construction of the process plant was completed in 2015. The
unfavorable ground conditions and flooding of underground
works affected the progress of mine development, and the
project was rescheduled to start production with full processing
in the first half of 2017.

Holing was achieved in October 2016. The mine is stockpiling
ore for plant commissioning.

The capital expenditure on the Kinsenda Project for the year
ended 31 December 2016 was US$51.2 million, which was
primarily spent on the construction and development of the
tailings dam and the mine. Total project cost to date is US$344.5
million.

EXPLORATION PROJECTS

Musonoi Project
Overview

The Musonoi Project is a greenfield copper and cobalt
exploration project located on the northern outskirts of Kolwezi,
approximately 360km North West of Lubumbashi city, the capital
of the Katanga Province of the DRC.

Up until 31 December 2016, the focus at Musonoi Project
has been to perform a number of optimisation studies on the
bankable feasibility study completed in 2014. The studies
have indicated that the orebody occurs on the eastern end
of the Dilala Syncline and is a blind deposit with high-grade
mineralisation starting at between 50 and 100 m below surface.
The orebody has a strike length of 600 to 700 m and is open
ended at depth below 600m from surface, and will be mined from
underground using a long hole stopping or sub-level stopping
with backfill mining method.

B ETE B
Kinsendalg B
#E

Kinsendal& B J3— @Bt AIER S 1EE » (U R
BR(@E)MAME  ARUBEIRZTEHHE
BRe— - ZBEEREREREREZBRRE
B—RABETEREEBSUA0AEE
HEFSERAK WBEEEEEE—ANE
FHEBNREBES TR —BERRFEEE
24,000 3 15 18 FY 1E 45 ©

ZHEBEFERERIMEYER - B MNES
FIEREIEB20F - —BEZBEME - BISFT
HRRSHEENGE -

MIBHERER-F—HFEM - HHEM
BERARERBT IRERNKEBEAMEET
BSHABNEE  ZBABRIBR=-F—t
FE¥FURRELEE -

BLIREN-E—R"FTATK -BEH
ERZVBEAEFURMEABRE -

BE-Z—R"E+-A=Z+—HLEE"
KinsendalE B VEARL H A1 288X £
EZARRERERBSHNEERMER -E5H
BHRRABEIM45BEBET

HRiEE H
MusonoilgE B
HE

Musonoil8 B J3 — B AR E Z7 LU S NE R
KREFEEEN - SHIRTREIER  BEEMIR (£) i
HEGEABFMALLNI0AE -

BE-ZZ—AR"E+=ZA=+—HL ' Musonoi
BEEHRE-_Z-—NETRNRTHRET
THMEETSEELTE - ZSHEES -
7& 8 H I8 #£Dilala Syncline®Ri% » M@K T
5021005k 2 E B E L S RN BRIEK ©
B K% R600ZE 700K » #RIE (R Z 1132600
KUT » BB FAEERBE LRI BES
FRUE AN B DA EHE BRI SE R i T BAER o
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As at 31 December 2016, a total of 89 diamond drillholes have
been drilled on the Musonoi Project area totalling 24,604 meters.
60 drillholes covering 17,880 meters have been collared in the
Dilala East area and 21 drillholes covering 3,223 meters in the
Dilala West area.

The optimisation studies have, as expected, reduced the capital
expenditure estimated during the initial bankable feasibility study.
The final approval and funding strategy is anticipated to be
approved in 2017.

Lubembe Project

Overview

The Lubembe Project is a greenfield copper exploration project
situated in the Katanga Province of the DRC. No additional
progress has been made in evaluating this deposit during the

year.

The Lubembe Project mining license was renewed during 2016
and extended for a further 15 years to 2032.

MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
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N-FBE—XRE+=-HA=1+—H8  2&Musonoi
EREBASHLEBZESESH AEIL 2K
24,6043K o E > 601E 78 2 5 B 3£ 17,880°K
#4717 FADilala EastiE & - 21{E B =Bt E
3,223k #y$& 7L 1 ¥ Dilala WestiE & ©

B R E MBI B T AL RITHE
ITHERRIIEFTELRRE X - RABH R
EXRBIEGFTER-ZE—tFEH -
Lubembeld B
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LubembeI® B J5 — B ABIR (£) i 7 ME

HURBAERERIEIRE - RAFE - ZIEKATEY
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OVERVIEW

The Group’s mineral resources and mineral reserves statement
presented in this report have been prepared as at 31 December
2016 and serves as an update to the mineral resources and
mineral resources statement as at 31 December 2015.

Mineral resources are defined as a concentration or occurrence
of material of economic interest in or on the earth’s crust in
such a form, quality, and quantity that there are reasonable and
realistic prospects for eventual economic extraction. Mineral
reserves are defined as the economically mineable material
derived from a measured or indicated mineral resource. All
mineral resources and mineral reserves information presented
are compliant with the South African Code for the Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Reserves (the
SAMREC Code), and are reported according to the requirements
of Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s mineral resources are
estimated to contain 4,518 kt of copper and 366 kt of cobalt. The
Group’s mineral reserves as at 31 December 2016 are estimated
to contain 502 kt of copper and 29 kt of cobalt.

MINERAL RESOURCES

The Group’s mineral resources as at 31 December 2016
accounted for all the currently existing mining projects of the
Group, being two operating mines Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma
South Mine (including Chifupu deposit), a development project
of Kinsenda Project and two exploration projects of Musonoi
Project and Lubembe Project.

The Mineral Resources are quoted inclusive of Mineral
Reserves.

MINERAL RESOURCES DISCUSSION

The Group Mineral Resources as at 31 December 2016
decreased marginally to 4,518 kt of contained copper from 4,604
kt of that as at 31 December 2015. The decrease in Group
Mineral Resources was mainly contributed by the depletions
and cut-off grade changes at Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South
Mine (including Chifupu deposit). There has been no change in
Mineral Resources for the Kinsenda Project, Musonoi Project
and Lubembe Project from 31 December 2015 to 31 December
2016 as only limited exploration drilling was carried out at
Kinsenda Project, and no drilling at all at either Musonoi Project
or Lubembe Project.

The Group Mineral Resources as at 31 December 2016
decreased slightly to 366 kt of contained cobalt from 371 kt of
that as at 31 December 2015. The decrease was mostly due to
depletion of oxide resources at Ruashi Mine. There has been
no change in the contained cobalt mineral resources at Musonoi
Project.

A

RBEFM2IEEAEBEREEREREE
HECRAER=-E—X"E+=-A=+—8
wE . RIEAR-Z—HAE+=-RA=+—8
BEERENBEEMRERBZBEHER -

BEEREDERRBBEIFERMERAH
R AREKBENZ2WE  HFE 28
RYEFEBRRUERKAMRZAERE
BAR - BERMEDERARBRBRIES
BEEFREFAELCEIRZYE -FTEE
Rl REEREREEREERNINEE
FREHRER BEERRBEEFERS
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1BEZHREZR -
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
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TRBAXAEERA-Z-—R"F+ZA=1+—

The following table summarises the total mineral resources of

the Group as at 31 December 2016: ACEEERAS .
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
“E-AETCAZE-R “E-REEYCA=T-R
Mineral Resources” Tonna%e Grade® Contained Metals Tonna%ge Grade® Contained Metals
REEREY Wi R 2tEE W mfir® 2tE2
(M) (% Cu) (%Co)  (ktCu  (ktCo) . th; }% Cu; E% Cof kt Cu; kt Co;
(BEH)  (%@) (%) (THE) (THH) (EEH % 1 %) (FHE) (TS

Ruashi Mine Ruashif
(oxide and sulphide)  (SLBEHFLE)
- Measured -5 0.4 3.0 04 13 1 04 30 04 13 2
- Indicated ~ 4 136 21 0.4 307 49 144 24 04 346 52
- Infered = 3 21 02 263 8 1 23 02 8 %
- Total Ruashi Mine ~RuashifE &zt 253 23 0.3 583 78 26.9 24 03 640 83
Chibuluma South Ming ~ Chibulumaz &
Chibuluma South Mine ~ Chibulumarz
- Measured -5H 15 39 - 57 - 19 44 - 78 -
- Indicated —}%ﬂ 0.2 4.5 - 6 - 03 42 - 13 -
- Inferred i K - - - - - - - - - -
- Total Chibuluma South  —Chibuluma £ 3

Mine 17 39 - 63 - 22 41 - 9 -
Chifupu deposit Chifupuf s
- Measured - 0.8 27 - 2 - 08 27 - 2 -
- Indicated - 124 04 20 - 7 - 04 20 - 7 -
- Inferred -H N 14 2.6 - 36 - 14 26 - 36 -
- Total Chifupu deposit ~ —Chifupul K2zt 26 26 - 65 - 26 26 - 66 -
- Total Chibuluma South  —Chibulumafji& (4%

Mine (including ChifupulER) 25t

Chifupu deposit) 43 33 - 128 - 48 33 - 156 -
Kinsenda Project ~  Kinsenda’ B
(Development Project) (F%%ER)
- Measured -9 - - - - - - - - - -
- Indicated -4 135 5.3 - - 135 53 - -
- Inferred -HH R 15 6.0 - 446 - 75 6.0 - 446 -
- Total Kinsenda Project  —Kinsenda’8 B 425t 21.0 55 - 1057 - 2.0 55 - 1157 -
Musonoi Project Musonoi’a B
(Exploration Project)  (AHEE)
- Measured i 13.0 33 09 424 19 13.0 33 09 424 119
- Indicated -??‘?%'J 13.9 24 09 328 127 139 24 09 328 121
- Inferred -H N 48 25 09 12 42 48 25 09 121 42
— Total Musonoi Project ~ —Musonoi& B £43t 37 28 09 873 288 AT 28 0.9 873 288
Lubembe Project Luhemhe& B
(Exploration Project)  (RBEE)
- Measured -%5 - - - - - - - - - -
- Indicated -4 54.0 19 - 106 - 54.0 19 - 1016 -
- Inferred -§H N 36.6 2.1 - 761 - 36.6 21 - 761 -
- Total Lubembe Project  —Lubembe’® B 425t 90.6 20 - - 90.6 20 - 1777 -
Group's Resources ~ ASEERE
- Measured i 18.7 33 08 516 120 16.1 33 08 538 121
- Indicated -5 95.6 25 02 234 16 %5 25 02 243 11
- Inferred - 61.6 26 01 1,628 70 624 26 04 1,643 71
- Total Resources -EFEAH 172.9 2.6 0.2 4,518 366 175.0 26 02 4,604 3
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Notes:

(M The figures do not imply precision and may not total due to rounding.
Mineral Resources for the various operations and projects have been
compiled in compliance with SAMREC Code. Mineral Resources are
quoted inclusive of Mineral Reserves.

2 The grade for the Chibuluma South Mine, the Chifupu deposit and the
Lubembe Project is TCu grade.

MINERAL RESERVES

The Group’s mineral reserves as at 31 December 2016
accounted for the two operating mines Ruashi Mine and
Chibuluma South Mine (including Chifupu deposit) and the
development project of Kinsenda Project. No mineral reserves
have been declared for the exploration projects of Musonoi
Project and Lubembe Project as at 31 December 2016.

MINERAL RESERVES DISCUSSION

The Group Mineral Reserves amounted to 502 kt contained
copper and 29 kt contained cobalt as at 31 December 2016 as
compared to 555 kt contained copper and 36 kt contained cobalt
as at 31 December 2015.

The drop in copper and cobalt reserves at Ruashi Mine are
mainly attributable to mining depletions, and to a lesser extent, a
change in cut-off grade associated with lower commodity prices
during 2016.

The decrease in copper reserves at Chibuluma South Mine
reflected the depletion for the year resulted from the mining
activities.

No changes have been made to the Kinsenda Project’'s Mineral
Reserves in 2016 where the mine remains in ramp-up mode.

By eE -

(1) BFIAERRE  WARRETERMBEMNA -
BEEEXERIER 2 BEEREYHFESAMREC
HA - BEEERECESBERE -

(2)  ChibulumaRg & * Chifupu®& ik & Lubembel& B
ZRuBEEMN -

REWRE

AEEBR-_Z—AR"FEF+ZA=1+—HZEBE
f+# 2 B W 8 & E & 5 Ruashif& & Chibulumarg
& (B $EChifupulERK) B K Kinsendald B B %
BEZz#E R-ZT-—XE+=A=+—8>

Musonoil® B K& Lubembel& B #1118 B If £ &
MBERE -

BEMRER

R-ZB-RF+ZA=1+—R0 XEFZE
EMEAC02THNESER2THIEESE -
R-ZE—RF+ZHA=+—HAIA555THiiR
SERITHHEESE -

RuashiBH St REE TR TEFE 2R X
BE HEARAZZE-—"EERENRTRE
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BB AR RVIBEE

KinsendalE B —E— A "EMNBEEREIES
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The following table summarises the total mineral reserves of the

RESOURCES AND RESERVES

TRBAXAEERA-Z-—R"F+ZA=1+—

Group as at 31 December 2016: ARBERELE .
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
ZE-R"ETZA=1-H “E-RETZA=t-H
Mineral Reserves'" Tonnage Grade® Contained Metals ~ Tonnage Grade® Contained Metals
BEREY Wifr ffi @ 2¢EE Wi fmfi @ 2¢E8
M) Cw  (Co)  (ktCw  (ktCo) (M)  (%Cu  (%Co)  (tCu  (Co)
(BEM) (%@  (%8h) (TH@) (TE&) (FEW) (o8  (%#) (THE) (THE)
Ruashi Mine Ruashif
(oxide and sulphide)  (ELBANHLE)
- Proved Reserves -#ERz 0.4 20 0.6 3 1 06 35 04 2 4
-Probable Reserves ~ ~HBFHE 74 21 04 158 2 83 22 04 181 3
- Total Ruashi Mine -Ruashifg st 1.5 21 04 161 29 8.9 2.3 04 202 36
Chibuluma South Mine - Chibulumag &
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibulumaii &
- Proved Reserves -HEfRE 1.2 27 - 34 - 15 28 - 40 -
-Probable Reserves ~ —HKHE 0.1 37 - 4 - 03 34 - 9 -
- Total Chibuluma South ~ —Chibulumaf 43
Mine 13 28 - 38 - 1.7 29 - 49 -
Chifupu deposit ChifupulgFR
— Proved Reserves -#EkE 0.3 26 - 8 - 04 26 - 9 -
- Probable Reserves - HiEHE 0.1 18 - 2 - 0.1 18 - 2 -
— Total Chifupu deposit = Chifupulg K245t 0.4 23 - 10 - 05 23 - 1 -
- Total Chibuluma South  —Chibuluma s (&5
Mine (including Chifupu ~ Chifupul %) 885
deposit) 17 26 - 48 - 22 26 - 60 -
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda’ B
(Development Project) (F%EE)
- Proved Reserves -HEHE - - - - - - - - - -
-Probable Reserves ~ —HHHE 6.1 48 - 293 - 6.1 48 - 293 -
- Total Kinsenda Project  —Kinsenda® B 425t 6.1 48 - 293 - 6.1 48 - 293 -
Group's Reserves ARERE
- Proved Reserves -HERE 1.6 2.6 . 45 1 24 29 01 70 4
- Probable Reserves -BREE 13.7 33 0.2 457 2 148 33 02 485 32
- Total Reserves -fhem 15.3 32 0.2 502 29 172 32 02 555 3
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Notes:

(M The figures do not imply precision and may not total due to rounding.
Mineral Reserves for the various operations and projects have been
compiled in compliance with SAMREC Code. No Mineral Reserve has as
yet been declared for the Musonoi Project and the Lubembe Project.

2 The grade for the Chibuluma South Mine and the Chifupu deposit is TCu
grade.

COMPETENT PERSON STATEMENT

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves as at 31 December
2016 in this report have been reviewed and compiled by Mr.
T P Williams, BSc (Hons), PrSciNat (South African Council of
Natural and Scientific Professionals Registration No 400387/04),
FSAIMM (Fellow of the South African Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy). Mr. Williams is the Mineral Resource Management
Executive for Metorex and is a full-time employee of the Group.
He is a mining geologist with more than 25 years’ experience
in exploration, resource development, estimation and mining
geology in gold and base metals through West, Central and East
Africa.

Mr. Williams qualifies as a Competent Person under Chapter 18
of the Listing Rules and the SAMREC Code. He has confirmed
in writing that the information disclosed is compliant with Chapter
18 of the Listing Rules, and that it may be published in the form
and context in which it is intended.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT

This section covers the activities of JCI's operation office in
Johannesburg and all mining and associated activities of JCI
Group. Our Hong Kong Head Office is not included in this report
given its immaterial impacts.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

JCI continues to demonstrate its commitment to the
implementation and maintenance of Safety, Health, Environment
and Community (“SHEC”) management systems in order to
facilitate environmental protection. Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma
South Mine maintained their certification to 1ISO14001, the
international standard for environmental management systems.
All companies complied with relevant legislation and other
environmental requirements in the countries of operation.

JCI Board has undertaken the responsibilities of overseeing the
Group’s SHEC matters since the dissolution of JCI Executive
Committee with effect from 18 August 2016. Reporting to the JCI
Board is the Metorex Executive Safety, Health, Environment and
Community Committee (the “SHEC Committee”) comprising key
executives of the mining operations. The committee meets prior
to the board meetings to review SHEC performance reports from
various operations. The Mine General Managers may attend
on invitation. Information considered includes incident reporting
(number and nature of incidents), trends in SHEC performance,
hazard identification, risk assessments, natural resource
management and community development initiatives.

SHEC performance is managed on a day-to-day basis through
IsoMetrix, the Group’s electronic SHEC, as well as the risk
management system.

Fines and Legal Action

The JCI Group and its operations incurred no fines or penalties
related to safety, environmental, community or occupational
health transgressions of legal and other requirements during
2016. No legal action was brought against JCI Group in this
regard.

Environmental Incidents

One Level 3 (serious environmental harm) incident was recorded
at Chibuluma South during 2016 as compared to no Level
3 incidents were reported at any of the Group mines during
2015. An illegal discharge of underground dewatering water
occurred at the Chifupu deposit. An underground dewatering
pump failed, causing flooding of the decline and an emergency
pump arrangement was implemented. The incorrect pipes were
used in this arrangement and a pipe burst occurred, resulting
in uncontrolled discharge of underground water offsite and into
local community areas. While no significant pollution occurred,
the incident was classified as Level 3 in the JCI incident
reporting system as the water flowed offsite for a number of
hours following the pipe burst.
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Chibuluma South Mine recorded fourteen Level 2 (material
environmental harm) incidents during 2016 (2015: nine Level 2
incidents), the majority of which were associated with high levels
of total suspended solids in the tailings dam discharge water.
This occurred as a result of inadequate settling time on the top
of the dam as it nears capacity. A new tailings storage facility is
under construction and will be commissioned during 2017.

Ruashi Mine recorded two Level 2 incidents during 2016 (2015:
six Level 2 incidents), one of which was a sewage tank leak and
the other involved the overtopping of the return water dam during
a high rainfall event.

Environmental Policy
The Group Environmental Policy is as follows:

JCI Group is committed to the responsible stewardship of natural
resources and the ecological environment. Environmental
management is recognised as a high corporate priority, and is a
component of Zero Harm, one of the Company’s values.

JCI Group is committed to:

. continually improving the assessment and improvement of
environmental performance and the prevention of pollution
through the implementation of processes, practices
and techniques to avoid, reduce or control the creation,
emission or discharge of any type of pollutant or waste and
to reduce adverse environmental impacts;

. conducting environmental impact assessments on all
relevant new programmes and projects;

. the integration of environmental management into
management practices throughout the Company;

. minimising the use of consumptive resources and
promoting the reduction and recycling of waste products
where possible;

. rehabilitating disturbed land and protecting environmental
biodiversity;

. exercising prudence with critical ecological resources, in
particular where impacts are unknown or uncertain;

. managing environmental risk in the workplace and
surrounding areas;

. complying with applicable legal requirements and with
other requirements to which the organisation subscribes
and which relate to its environmental aspects;
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. training and educating employees in environmental
responsibilities; and

. being transparent and constructive in interactions with
stakeholders.

Employees and contractors working at JCI operations play a
fundamental role in achieving environmental objectives through:

. taking ownership of, and participating in, environmental
management programmes and initiatives; and

. setting objective and targets for sound environmental
management within the framework of an 1ISO14001
standard environmental management system.

EMISSIONS

The Company last compiled its carbon footprint report at
the end of 2013, and an update to the previous report is in
progress. The main emissions occur at Ruashi Mine as a
result of the mining fleet operating in the Ruashi Mine pit. An
increase in diesel-generated power occurred at Ruashi Mine
in 2013 due to power shortages in the DRC. This has resulted
in a significant increase in Ruashi Mine’s carbon footprint
since that time, as the power generated in the DRC is hydro-
electric power and the mine has been required to supplement
the electrowinning plant power supply with generator power
at times of low power availability. Hydro-electric power is
preferable both from cost and environmental perspectives,
however it is important to maintain power stability in the plant.
The carbon footprint in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(CO,-e) and the Scope 1 and 2 emissions are shown in
the tables below. Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions
(e.g. fuel use) and Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions
(e.g. purchased power).

)

Total carbon footprint (t CO,-e) (ﬁﬁi—ﬁﬁﬁﬁi’%%)
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2011 2012 2013

2011-2013 —E-—FFE-%- —E-—-F ZB-Zf ZEZ-=

Ruashi Mine Ruashif& 28,852 24,806 61,293
Chibuluma South Mine Chibulumaia & 6,078 6,008 6,236
Kinsenda Project Kinsendalg B 1,434 1,061 2,399
Johannesburg Operational Office NECHELEERSE 1,453 961 657
JCI Group JCIKEE 37,817 32,836 70,585
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HE1R25EHE

Scope 1 and 2 emissions (t CO,-¢) (B —E{thEE) 2011 2012 2013
2011-2013 —E-——FERF-F-—= - S——F —ZE--F Z—8-=

Ruashi Mine Ruashif& 28,764 24,740 61,206
Chibuluma South Mine Chibulumarg & 6,051 5,968 6,198
Kinsenda Project Kinsendalg B 1,434 1,061 2,399
Johannesburg Operational Office NEEHEEERSE 235 289 253
JCI Group JCIEE 36,484 32,058 70,056

Ruashi Mine’s main initiative to reduce its carbon footprint is
to reduce the mine’s reliance on diesel generation as a power
source. Stability of the power grid and availability of power
improved during 2016 due to improvement of Société Nationale
d’Electricité (“SNEL”) equipment maintenance as well as the
implementation of Copperbelt Energy Corporation Plc (“CEC”)
power supply agreement to import power from Zambia. The
average SNEL power supply improved from 0.6MW in the first
quarter of 2016 to 4.7MW in the fourth quarter.

Ruashi Mine has also adopted a daily power management
strategy which involves optimising the use of power from SNEL
as a priority, the CEC power is used to make up the shortfall and
the generators are the third power source for use in the event
of grid power outages or constraints. The power supplied by the
generators has reduced from 3.8MW in the first quarter of 2016
to 0.8MW in the fourth quarter.

Kinsenda Project operates a maize farm on the mine, which
planted approximately 400 hectares of maize in 2016 (2015: 500
hectares).

WASTE

Hazardous waste

The main types of hazardous waste generated by the mining
operations include waste oil and batteries as well as old reagents
and spent catalyst at Ruashi Mine. Medical waste is generated
by the hospital at Kinsenda Project and the mine clinics at
Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine. The Kinsenda Project
hospital has an incinerator for the disposal of medical waste.
Medical waste from Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine is
taken to the surrounding hospitals for incineration.
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Waste oil generation at all sites is shown in the table below. REFERIUIEEANEREETIN TR :

2014 2015 2016
Waste oil generation (litres) EEE#RE (H) —E-NF —E-HF ZB-KE
Ruashi Mine Ruashif# 85,000 81,800 68,000
Chibuluma South Mine Chibulumarg & 62,370 70,770 53,130
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Used oil generated at Chibuluma South Mine is disposed of to
a facility licenced by the Zambia Environmental Management
Agency (“ZEMA”) and used batteries are sold to licenced battery
companies. 72.92 tonnes of scrap metal was generated in 2016
(2015: 808 tonnes), which is initially stored in the salvage yard
and then sold to scrap dealers. A lot of scrap metal was sold in
2015 to clear the back log which accumulated in the past years,
whereas the sale of scrap was on an as-needed basis in 2016.

Ruashi Mine has implemented an oil recycling programme for
waste oil. Other hazardous waste generated at Ruashi Mine
includes sulphur ash and vanadium pentoxide catalyst from
the acid plant. The hazardous waste is currently stored on site.
The DRC does not have a licenced hazardous waste disposal
facility, so the mine intends to export the waste catalyst to South
Africa for disposal in a licenced site by a logistics company. The
amounts of hazardous waste generated by Ruashi Mine are
shown in the table below.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT
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Ruashi Mine hazardous waste 2014 2015 2016
generation RuashilBFiEE B EEY —E-ME —E-HF ZB-XKFE
Sulphur ash (tonnes) & (W) 152 177 18
Vanadium pentoxide catalyst (litres) EEZHELE () 10,500 - -

Non-hazardous waste

Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine dispose of
non-hazardous waste generated by the mining operation only,
while Kinsenda Project also assists with the disposal of non-
hazardous domestic waste from nearby Kinsenda village. Ruashi
Mine has a domestic landfill onsite, and disposed of 45.6 tonnes
of non-hazardous waste in 2016 (2015: 17.1 tonnes). The mine
also has a plastic recycling programme in place and 78.44
tonnes was recycled in 2016 (2015: 48.6 tonnes). Chibuluma
South Mine disposed of 73.9 tonnes of domestic waste in 2016
(2015: 218 tonnes), which was taken to a landfill site in Kitwe.
Kinsenda Project removes approximately 30 tonnes of waste
from the mine and village each month, which is disposed of at a
landfill site located 4km from the village. The Company is in the
production of compost for local vegetable gardens as a waste
reduction initiative.
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RESOURCE USE

Energy Consumption

The power supplied by the utilities in Zambia and the DRC is
largely hydro-electric power. The DRC mines have experienced
shortages of supply from power utilities since 2013, and diesel
generators are used as an alternative power source. Ruashi
Mine’s power consumption is shown as kWh per tonne of
finished copper. Chibuluma South Mine produces copper
concentrate, so the power consumption is reflected as kWh

&R fE A
HERH #E
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per tonne of copper concentrate produced. Kinsenda Project BRP(ENFTEAREHEK) - MBRES
is still under construction (the main use of power is for mine TEE -
dewatering) so the total power consumption is shown.
2014 2015 2016
Ruashi Mine energy use Ruashif 19 8¢ R £ F —E-NFE ZE-RF ZB-KF
Power consumption (kWhtt finished copper) & 1138 (F R B /M B M 4) 4,120 4,488 4,580
2014 2015 2016
Chibuluma South Mine energy use ChibulumaFa i K9 85 R £ —E-NFE ZE-RF ZB-KF
Power consumption (kWh/t concentrate) ENHEE (TRE MIRERE) 18,097 23,032 25,807
2014 2015 2016
Kinsenda Project energy use Kinsendag B #9 &5 )R £ A —E-NFE ZE-RF ZB-KF

ENHEFE (BTRE)

Power consumption (Total kWh)

31,720,670 35,999,325 35,220,635

Water consumption

Water at Ruashi Mine is recycled from the return water dams as
well as from the stormwater dam for use in the plant. The Ruashi
Mine pit is dewatered with the use of boreholes, and water from
these boreholes is supplied to REGIDESO (Régie de distribution
déau), the local water utility, which then supplies water to the
local community. Power of hydrogen (“pH’) is monitored on the
site on a daily basis.

FEK

fERuashit - T FAKR B BIR SR RGN
fEIR7K o RuashilBH KR AEH HEE - ZZE
2 3 19K Bl 45 5 b B 2R 7k 2 SIREGIDESO
(Régie de distribution déau) & B it & ith 31+ &
F/A -ESTAEANBBE (TpHED -

Ruashi Mine’s water consumption for 2014 to 2016 is shown in RuashiBR=—E—NEZ = — EMWEK
the table below. EBRTX-

2014 2015 2016
Ruashi Mine water consumption Ruashif&E 3£k £ —E-NFE ZE-HF ZE-RE
Copper produced (tonnes) thE= () 37,170 35,056 32,129
Water use (m?/day) AKE (ZHK,R) 6,026 6,491 7,451
Water use (m?¥/tonne Cu) K& (LFK,WiiE) 59.17 67.58 84.88
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Chibuluma South Mine produces copper concentrate, which
is transported to a smelter in Zambia, so it is not possible to
calculate the water use per tonne of finished product. The mine
uses return water and water from underground dewatering
in the plant, with make-up water pumped from surface and
underground water sources when required. The mine monitors
water in accordance with the requirements of its environmental
management plan. Chibuluma South Mine consumed an average
of 0.93m® of water per tonne of ore processed in 2016 (2015:
24m3). Projects were implemented during 2016 to harness some
of the water coming from underground, which has resulted in
reduced water abstraction from the river. It must be noted that
more than 90% of the water used in the Chibuluma South Mine
plant is recycled from the tailings dam, and the figure presented
therefore reflects actual water use.

Kinsenda Project was under construction in 2016 (as was the
case in 2015), but dewatering of the underground mine was
undertaken as mine development progressed. Approximately
40,000m?® of water was pumped out of the mine daily in 2016
(2015: 51,000m?). Elevated copper levels have been detected
on occasion when old ore passes are dewatered, and the areas
are treated with lime. No water with elevated copper levels is
discharged to the environment. The mine also chlorine treats the
well water of the surrounding village twice per week to ensure
safe drinking water for the community.

REAGENTS

Ruashi Mine produces finished copper through a solvent
extraction and electrowinning process. It is therefore the main
user of reagents in the JCI Group. Ruashi Mine’s reagent
consumption is shown in the table below.

Ruashi Mine reagent consumption Ruashil@BH B f &
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Sulphuric acid (kg/t leached) Wik (=, 2EM)
Diluent (kg/t) BRE (TR, 1)
Sulphur (tpd) Wi (M, 8)
Sodium meta-bisulphide (SMBS) £ $(SMBS)
(kg/t leached) (F=/2EME)
Lime (kg/t leached) B (FR/ZEM)
Magnesium oxide (t/t cobalt) S b ek (W MEEh)

2014 2015 2016
—E-ME ZE-—RF ZEBE—AKE
62.8 814 771

12.24 13.15 16.71

65 81 83

6.3 46 3.4

26.5 255 32.1

1.2 1.1 0.9

Reagents in the Chibuluma South Mine plant include lime and
frother.

Chibuluma South Mine reagent
consumption

ChibulumaEBRE A&

ChibulumamEH RBRERNWEEBE AT
R ABHEHE o

Frother (g/t) FERE (=, M)
Lime (g/t) B (R H)

2014 2015 2016
—E-NE ZE-REFE ZEB-AE
40.73 46.82 50.68

160 176.3 191
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The main environmental aspects of the mining operations
include:

. Rehabilitation of overburden dumps and tailings dams
for closure. Concurrent rehabilitation of the Ruashi Mine
and Chibuluma South Mine tailings dams is in progress.
Chibuluma South Mine is in the process of constructing
a new tailings dam, and topsoil has been stockpiled for
the purpose of rehabilitation. Concurrent rehabilitation
at Kinsenda Project will commence once the plant is
commissioned, however construction-phase preparations
e.g. topsoil stockpiling and vegetation of the starter walls of
the tailings dam have been completed.

. Dust generation, mainly from vehicle movement on
unpaved roads, tailings dam and stockpiles. Fall-out dust is
monitored during the dry season, and roads are watered to
reduce dust generation.

. Pollution from hydrocarbons and chemicals. Mining
operations are heavily mechanised, and pollution control
measures are in place in the workshops. Leaks outside
of contained areas have the potential to cause pollution,
including cumulative pollution where small leaks are
involved. Preventive maintenance and clean-up are
strategies to reduce and remediate such incidences.

. Impact of mining operations on ground and surface water
quality. All of the mining operations have implemented
water quality monitoring programmes on ground
and surface water as appropriate to their approved
environmental management plans.

SOCIAL

EMPLOYMENT

The Company’s mines operate within the labour laws of the
country of operation. In both Zambia and the DRC the mines
are required to comply with the Labour Code, Ministerial
Decrees and the Collective Agreements, which include working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, anti-discrimination, work
conditions, vocational qualifications and output. The Group
operates under internal policies on recruitment, remuneration,
leave and conditions of employment which take the legislation of
the countries of operation into account.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

JCI Group has a Zero Harm policy in place which commits
to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. This Zero Harm policy
is developed and reviewed to ensure the mines operate in
compliance with the requirements of the health and safety
laws of the country of operation.

JCI Group is a mining group that strives towards achieving
the Zero Harm principle. We will execute all of our tasks
and responsibilities in such a way that we cause Zero Harm
to ourselves, our fellow workers, the environment, the
community and stop unsafe acts and conditions immediately.

We are committed to achieve Zero Harm by:

. Providing a working environment that is conducive to
achieving Zero Harm;

. Managing risks in the workplace through the application
of the JCI risk management framework;

. Ensuring that employees and contractors have the
relevant skills to perform work-related tasks in a safe
and environmentally responsible manner and that they
are aware of their individual environmental, community,
health and safety obligations and rights;

. Complying with applicable legal requirements as
a minimum, with other requirements to which the
organisation subscribes to. In the absence of relevant
occupational health, environment and safety laws
the Company will apply best practice standards and
procedures;

. Ensuring that appropriate resources, training and
personal protective equipment are provided;

. Following a consultative, transparent and constructive
approach in interactions with all stakeholders;

. Minimise potential negative social impacts while
promoting opportunities and benefits for host
communities; and

. Continually improving environmental, occupational
health, public health and safety performance through
the setting and achievement of stretch goals taking into
consideration evolving stakeholder expectations, best
practices, scientific knowledge and new technology.
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Employees and contractors working on JCI operations
play a fundamental role in achieving occupational health,
community, environment and safety objectives through:

. Taking ownership of, and participating in, occupational
health, environment, community and safety
management programmes and initiatives and complying
with standards and procedures; and

. Exercising their right to work in a healthy and safe
environment and their duty to withdraw from an
unhealthy or dangerous situation.

Safety

No fatalities occurred at any of the JCI Group mines in 2016.
During the year under review, a total of ten lost time injuries were
recorded in the Group. Both Ruashi Mine and Kinsenda Project
achieved more than 2 million fatality free shifts during 2016.

Ruashi Mine achieved 2,287,826 fatality free shifts up to the end
of 2016 (up to the end of 2015: 1,769,149 fatality free shifts)
since the last fatality occurred in 2013. Four lost time injuries
occurred at the mine during the year (2015: three lost time
injuries).

Six lost time injuries occurred at Chibuluma South Mine in 2016
(2015: six lost time injuries). The lost time injury frequency rate
increased from 2.8 to 2.9 per million man- hours worked. The
lost days severity rate was 24.6 in 2016 compared to 38.5 in
2015, representing a 36% reduction.

Kinsenda Project achieved 2,048,577 fatality free shifts up to the
end of 2016 (up to the end of 2015: 1,740,010 fatality free shifts)
and no lost time injuries (2015: two lost time injuries) occurred
onsite. The total reportable injury frequency rate improved
year-on-year from 1.78 to 1.46 injuries per million man-hours
worked. This is a significant safety achievement, especially
considering the high level of construction activity at the mine
during 2016.
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Safety Statistics for the Group AEENZZEE

Fatality Frequency Rate BEEIRN 2014 2015 2016
per million man-hours worked TTHEER —E-NE ZE-RF ZE-XE
Ruashi Mine Ruashif 0.00 0.00 0.00
Chibuluma South Mine Chibulumafg & 0.00 0.40 0.00
Kinsenda Project Kinsendal& B 0.00 0.00 0.00
Group Mines rEBES 0.00 0.11 0.00
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate SHEIRNBAIR 2014 2015 2016
per million man-hours worked ITEEHE “E-NF ZE-HF ZE-XF
Ruashi Mine Ruashifi& 0.79 0.72 1.03
Chibuluma South Mine Chibulumaig & 212 2.82 2.89
Kinsenda Project Kinsendal& B 0.32 0.71 0.00
Group Mines REBES 0.89 1.26 1.25
Health =5

All of the mining operations fall within areas where malaria is
a significant health risk. Malaria cases at each operation are
shown in the table below. Prevention measures include indoor
residual spraying in Zambia as well as malaria prevention
programs at the sites. These programs involve the donation
of mosquito nets, removal of stagnant water and improvement
of drainage, and support to existing government and Non-
Government Organisation (“NGO”) programs and education of
the workforce and community. It is of concern that the number
of malaria cases occurring at the mines is not decreasing, and
further awareness and intervention is required.

FrEREER IR EREREANRERRL
EBEET NREFXENERRIBERRT
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URHETRHBEETHS - HREBSHIE
RERRBILERD  WARLFE - E
ERTHE

2014 2015 2016
Malaria cases EREARRE —E-NFE ZE-HF ZZE-RE
Ruashi Mine Ruashif& 1,645 1,867 1,741
Chibuluma South Mine Chibulumara 12 24 54 85
Kinsenda Project Kinsendal& B 826 895 1,069

The Company actively promotes HIV/AIDS prevention programs
aimed at employees, their families and the communities in
which we operate. Voluntary counselling and testing for HIV is
encouraged amongst employees and support systems are in
place for employees who test positive for HIV.

AARMEEEEBHHRS, LR TER E
B EDNHEES RENRERKRMFAEE
MHE - B & 5B B BB AR
mE BEREBEXFRAEDEINLARES
AHEGENES -

Voluntary counselling and testing i RS /OB 2014 2015 2016
for HIV/AIDS El ) 4= —E-NF ZE-IF ZB-AF
Ruashi Mine Ruashif 1,208 1,203 1,281
Chibuluma South Mine Chibulumaig &

(including community) (BELE) 3,286 2,659 55
Kinsenda Project Kinsendal& B 1,672 2,031 1,045
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Kinsenda Project operates a hospital and primary health care
facility on site which treats employees, their dependents and
provides a limited service to the local population. Ruashi Mine
and Chibuluma South Mine have clinics on site.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Company recognises that development and training of
employees is a continuing process for every employee at every
level of the organisation, therefore training is perceived as a
necessary investment in order to enhance productivity and attain
the Company’s business goals. Critical needs and affordability
are taken into account.

All employees, contractors, consultants and visitors receive
site induction of various levels, depending on the duration of
stay, area to visit and previous visits to site. JCI is committed to
ensure that employees are competent in their roles and therefore
possess necessary permits, licences and the like in order to
carry out work safely and in accordance with the laws of the
countries in which we operate.

In addition, the training departments on the mines identify
training needs through advice from supervisors, comparing the
skills and knowledge of employees to their job profiles, analysing
the performance appraisals, information from the individual
development plans and training and development required by
law in the countries of operation.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The Labour Code in the DRC provides that forced work is
prohibited. The mines do not hire candidates who are under
the age of 18 years, even if the law in the DRC allows for
consideration of recruiting candidates from the age of 16. Ruashi
Mine has a Human Rights policy in place which specifies the
right to:

. Human dignity;

. Fair treatment (subject to considerations of affirming
previously disadvantages groups);

. Freedom and security of persons;

. Not to be subject to slavery, servitude and forced labour;

. Freedom of conscience, religion, thought, belief and
opinion;

. Freedom of expression (subject to considerations of

confidentiality and the prohibition of hate speech and
incitement to cause harm);

. Peaceful assembly;

. Freedom of movement;
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. Fair labour practice;

. Not to be employed if a child;

. Not to be arbitrarily deprived of property or possessions;
. Freely participate in the cultural life of their choice;

. Lawful, reasonable and fair action; and

. Not to be subjected to arbitrary arrest or detention.

Chibuluma South Mine does not have a particular written policy
on the prevention of child and forced labour, however, the mine
follows the Zambian labour policy which clearly forbids child
labour. Zambia is also a signatory to the ILO conventions No.
138 (minimum age for admission to employment and work) and
No. 29 (Forced Labour).

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

All JCI Group suppliers and contractors are required to comply
with the Group’s SHEC policies and procedures while working
on its sites. The SHEC policies include but are not limited to
requirements of labour standards, environmental protection,
occupational health and safety. These policies are set out in their
contracts. It is also a requirement of the 1ISO14001 certification
that contractors comply with mine environmental policies,
procedures and practices. At the same time, suppliers and
contractor are encouraged to improve their own sustainability
performance from time to time.

JCI maintains a database of approved suppliers and contractors
and perform internal assessment regularly to review the track
records of each of them. During the year under review, no
suppliers or contractors were disqualified or removed from the
database on the basis of their SHEC performance.
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Suppliers by geographic region

Suppliers for the operating mines are located in the following

BB REHE D N HER

EERSNHEBULRTIIME

regions:

Ruashi Mine suppliers by i EEFHE DM 2016
geographical region Ruashif& it FE & —E—-RE
Democratic Republic of the Congo Ml R R EHME 317
South Africa 3k 178
Zambia gtk 15
Switzerland Gt 3
United Kingdom HE 4
United Arab Emirates MAEHEEHER 2
Australia B K R EE 3
Mauritius EERE 3
Canada mEx 2
China B 3
Germany = 1
India NE 1
Portugal BEF 1
Singapore DI 1
Chibuluma South Mine suppliers by B EEEE S H 2016
geographical region Chibulumars i {it FE 75 —E-RE
Zambia gtk 44
South Africa EE3 40
China H 1
Europe BUM 1
Kinsenda Project suppliers by BwEEREHESHN 2016
geographical region Kinsendals B £ fER —E-RF
Democratic Republic of the Congo MIREREHM 91
South Africa FE3 74
Zambia itk 17
Europe BUM -
Australia B AR FIEE -
Botswana [ERR -

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

EmEE

JCI Group strives to supply products that are of high standard
and consistently meet customer quality expectations. Copper
products are labelled in a manner consistent with industry
practice and sold to reputable traders whereas cobalt products
are sold to Jinchuan Group. We have a quality control policy
in place to ensure that the products are produced to comply
with the health and safety standards and meet the standard for
acceptance by our customers. No breaches or infringements
were reported in the year ended 31 December 2016.

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD # JIl & &
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There was no known issue regarding material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations in respect of health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the
products of the Group during the year under review that would
have any significant impact on the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

Ruashi Mine has a Code of Ethics in place, which is currently
under review to include anti-corruption requirements. Chibuluma
South Mine addresses corruption through its Code of Conduct.
Kinsenda Project currently has no specific policies related to
corruption although the Ruashi Mine’s code is adopted. Current
controls include an approvals framework for authorisation of
orders and contracts and an online ERP system. The Finance
and Procurement departments have internal policies in place to
address conflict of interests, corruption and fraud. Ruashi Mine
has in-house investigators who are tasked with researching and
investigating all case of fraud, embezzlement, theft, corruption,
extortion or money laundering within the Company. Their
reports are presented to the Prosecutor’s office and the General
Management, and cases are escalated to the operation office in
Johannesburg as required.

Chibuluma South Mine has a Code of Conduct in place which
includes anti-corruption.

Kinsenda Project has no specific policies related to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. A declaration of interest
was signed by all employees since 2014. Controls in place
include an approvals framework with authorisation levels and
responsibilities, online approval through an ERP system, internal
audit and a compliance officer and legal resources in place.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

JCI Group has a Community Policy in place as follows:

Community Policy

JCI Group strives to minimise potential negative social impacts
while promoting opportunities and benefits for host communities.
The Company engages in a range of sustainable development
and community relations activities. Community management and
development is recognised as a high corporate priority, and is a
component of Zero Harm, one of the Company’s values.

JCI Group is committed to:

. Continually improving community development and
community investment programmes through monitoring,
measuring and managing our social and economic
impacts;

. Developing programmes that ensure the sustainable
welfare of communities;
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B RBE

Upholding and promoting the human rights of our
employees and contractors, our suppliers, and the
communities in which we operate;

Recognising and respecting indigenous people’s culture,
heritage and traditional rights and supporting the
identification, recording, management and protection of
indigenous cultural heritage;

Building and maintaining stakeholder relationships with
people who are directly affected or interested in our
operations; and

Managing the risk of public health threats amongst
employees, contractors and local communities.

Community investment at the mining operations was undertaken

HEEREARPNEERABH - M
NHEERERMNEEMELRIARE
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as follows:
Ruashi Mine’s Community Investment RuashifEB it B iR & 2015 2016
(US$) (%) —Z-hF —E-XREF
HIV/AIDS awareness %T#/ﬁrra/

and prevention R FRRE R TERs 40,000 10,000
Education %Z)EJ 32,000 5,000
Agriculture projects BX¥IER 350,000 250,000
TOTAL At 422,000 265,000
Chibuluma South Mine’s Community Chibulumar & 19 2015 2016
Investment (US$) HERE (ER) —E—-RF —E—-XEF
Education HE 62,583 11,620
Health fEE 23,219 18,287
Skills Development HReEE 16,500 12,406
Sport and Recreation 8 A B (R 190,402 62,873
TOTAL F 292,704 105,186
Kinsenda Project’'s Community Kinsendal® B £y 2015 2016
Investment (US$) HERE (ER) —E-FF —E—-RE
Agriculture B 3,243 7,400
Community electricity HES 192,000 258,222
Community feeding schemes HEHGETE

(orphans and widows) (%) 12,048 21,027
Education HE - 4,016
Sport and recreation B B B KA 16,158 5,458
Community sanitation HEHE 1,100 4,008
Community relations HEEE 5,515 14,515
TOTAL et 230,064 314,646
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The commodity sector was adversely affected by a succession
of disappointing China macro-economic data and a strong US
dollar, and as a result, the copper price sustained at low levels
during first half of 2016. This impact coupled with a number of
other challenges at our two operating mines in the DRC and
Zambia, respectively, have negatively impacted the financial
performance of the Mining Operations for most of the year under
review. The recovery in copper and cobalt prices towards the
end of 2016 has given rise to some positive impact on our overall
financial performance in 2016. The profitability of the Trading of
Mineral and Metal Products was relatively less affected by the
decline in copper price. However, with a lack of new business
opportunities and unfavorable market conditions in the non-
ferrous metal sector, both the volume and gross margin of this
trade segment during the year under review were comparatively
lower than those of 2015.

Mining Operations

Our Mining Operations is represented by the Metorex Group,
which is headquartered in South Africa. The Metorex Group
has majority control over two operating mines in Africa which
are the Ruashi Mine, a copper and cobalt mine located in the
DRC and the Chibuluma South Mine (including the Chifupu
copper deposit), a copper mine located in Zambia. For the year
ended 31 December 2016, the Group produced 42,587 tonnes
of copper (2015: 47,782 tonnes) and 3,391 tonnes of cobalt
(2015: 4,344 tonnes), and sold 43,083 tonnes of copper (2015:
48,400 tonnes) and 3,264 tonnes of cobalt (2015: 4,331 tonnes)
which generated sales of US$205.2 million and US$58.0 million
respectively (2015: US$257.7 million and US$75.8 million
respectively). The drop in production tonnage of copper by
10.9% was mainly due to the curtailing of the operating scale in
the Chibuluma South Mine in early 2016 in order to cope with
the declining copper price. The significant reduction in production
tonnage of cobalt by 21.9% was mainly attributable to the
inadequate supply of third party ore for the Group’s processing in
the Ruashi Mine.

The Metorex Group also has control over the Kinsenda Project,
a development copper project under construction and located in
the DRC, and two advanced stage exploration projects located
in the DRC, namely the Musonoi Project, which is a copper
and cobalt project; and the Lubembe Project, which is a copper
project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ER AR R AT

Trading of Mineral and Metal Products

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s wholly-
owned trading subsidiary purchased and sold a total of 19,969
tonnes (2015: 18,521 tonnes) of copper blister, and 6,136 tonnes
(2015: 43,315 tonnes) of copper concentrates. The revenue from
sales of copper blister and copper concentrates for the year
ended 31 December 2016 amounted to US$96.3 million and
US$5.4 million respectively (2015: US$95.6 million and US$41.6
million respectively).

The copper blister was sourced from a Zambian producer under
a renewed annual contract for 20,000 tonnes in 2016. The
volume of blister shipped during 2016 was similar to that of 2015.
The copper blister was sold in China directly to copper refineries,
traders and also a joint venture partner of JCG.

The annual contract of Mongolian origin copper concentrates
sourced from a European supplier lapsed since the beginning
of 2016. There was one shipment of 6,136 tonnes recorded in
January 2016 which was due to the delay in despatch of the last
shipment under the previous annual contract in 2015. All of the
copper concentrates were sold to JCG.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s operating results for the year ended 31 December
2016 are a consolidation of the results from the Mining
Operations and the Trading of Mineral and Metal Products.

Revenue

The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016 was
US$364.8 million, representing a decrease of 22.5% compared
to US$470.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2015. Both
business segments recorded a respective decrease in revenue
during the year which are further discussed below.

The Group’s sales performance from its Mining Operations was
as follows:

BEREBEMES

BEZE-RF+ZA=+—BLEFE XE
Br2EESMBARBERBESH19,969
Wi (—Z—H5F :18,52108) HH1[ 526,136 (=
T—FF 1 43315M) HABE - BE-F— N
F+ZA=+—HLEFE HEHAKRIERE
BeWZmDRRBIAEETRSABERET

—E-IHF HHABBEEETKIEE

EV I

IR TRE — R =T — N FEH 220,000
HMEERBEARBEE —RELDEED -
CE-AFRECHWHBHE_Z-AFX
BARE - HIC HEETHR 2B RN - B
SBUR—BICCZEEREBMHE -

KEE—ZXBNEEE2ELHERBEZ
FERBENCE-ZE—A"FARLE MR
—E-RE-AHEBZ—R6,136MRE > ]I
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FJCG
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ERESEKIEE -
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BE-Z—R"E+ZA=+—-HLEEEZ
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T A=+ —BHIEFEEZ470.7TEEET T &
225%  FALMEEE S EHIHRBWRET
P HE—HmmaT o

FEERFRBEB 2HERRUT ¢

2016 2015

—E-RF —E-AF

Volume of copper sold (tonne) fHeHE = () 43,083 48,400

Volume of cobalt sold (tonne) shEHE S () 3,264 4,331

Revenue from sales of copper (US$ million) fHeHEW=E (BB XET) 205.2 257.7

Revenue from sales of cobalt (US$ million) HEERRE (BBET) 58.0 75.8
Total Revenue from the Mining Operations RBEK AW

(US$ million) (B&%r) 263.2 333.5

Average price received per tonne of copper (US$) CUWEMEHHFHEE (ET) 4,764 5,324

Average price received per tonne of cobalt (US$)* C UNESMISLEFIIER (EmT)? 17,770 17,508

#  after taking into account of basis coefficient between 69.5% and 73.0% in
2016 (2015: 69.5%).

t BRRIBE-AFEZERREN F69.5%F73.0%
(ZZE—F%F :69.5%) °
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During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
encountered difficulties as a result of the continuing decline in
commodity prices in most of the year, in particular, the drop
in copper price was the major factor for the decrease in the
Group’s overall sales revenue. The lower production in 2016 also
impacted revenue.

The copper mining revenue dropped by 20.4% from 2015 to
2016, as a result of both lower prices and lower production
volumes. The cobalt revenue decreased by 23.5% from 2015 to
2016 mainly as a result of decreased production volumes.

The Trading of Mineral and Metal Products segment recorded a
substantial decrease in revenue on sales of copper related raw
materials by 25.9% from US$137.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2015 to US$101.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2016. 2016 proved to be a difficult year for this
trading segment due to the less favorable market conditions.
New revenue generated from inventory financing relating to non-
ferrous metal commodities which was initiated in late 2016 only
derived minimal income for the year since its commencement.
It is expected that the Group will expand this new stream of
income in 2017.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales represents the purchase cost for the Trading
of Mineral and Metal Products and the costs associated with
the production of copper and cobalt from the Group’s Mining
Operations. The major components of cost of sales are as
follows:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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HERAZEZARIIWMT

2016 2015
ZE-RE —E-h8%
Us$’000 US$'000
TER EpTv
Mining Operations: RIEER
Realisation costs SR A 6,167 6,779
Mining costs BRIE R AR 44,124 52,759
Salaries and wages HeRI1E 41,680 55,541
Processing costs TR A 78,054 111,869
Engineering and technical costs IRREMAR 20,059 24,077
Safety, health, environment and community costs &2 * F - BERTERAE 2,970 2,699
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BERZEZFE 46,772 49,939
Amortisation of mineral rights TBEREEN 10,973 7,496
Other costs H At A A< 10,867 16,622
Purchases for Trading of Mineral and BEREBERE
Metal Products PREB R AR 100,822 134,856
Total Cost of Sales BEHERE 362,488 462,637
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ER AR R AT

Apart from the decrease in volume sold, the successful
implementation of cost saving measures during the year resulted
in the total cost of sales of 2016 reaching a further lower level as
compared to that of 2015.

The decrease in cost of sales for the Trading of Mineral and
Metal Products was primarily due to the significant decrease
in trade volume of copper concentrates as no annual contract
was concluded in 2016, as well as the decrease in the average
copper price in 2016.

Overall, the Mining Operations had lower costs which
was primarily due to lower production volumes and the
implementation of cost saving initiatives. The labour costs have
reduced by 25.0%, as a result of the curtailing of operating scale
at Chibuluma South Mine as well as the Metorex Head Office in
South Africa. Mining costs showed a 16.4% decrease due to the
implementation of cost saving initiatives and revised mine plan at
Chibuluma South Mine.

The decrease in processing costs was mainly attributable to the
lower production volumes, the implementation of cost saving
measures, lower reagent prices and lower power cost. Ruashi
Mine had reduced dependence on diesel generators, which is
shown by the decline in the usage of generators from 27.3% in
2015 to 14.0% in 2016. The unit price of grid power had also
reduced by 7.1% which resulted in an overall lower power cost.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment decreased by
US$3.2 million and amortisation of mineral rights increased by
US$3.5 million during the year. The decrease in the depreciation
was mainly due to extension of the useful life of the SX-EW plant
at Ruashi Mine, which resulted in the consequential reduction of
the depreciation charge of the plant. The increase in amortisation
was mainly due to higher amortisation charge was recorded
in 2016 as a result of higher amortisation rates for Chibuluma
South Mine.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group decreased by 70.4% from US$8.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to US$2.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016. The decline in copper
price and decrease in production volumes were the main causes
of decrease in the gross profit. The recorded gross profit margin
dropped from 1.7% in 2015 to 0.6% in 2016.

In fact, the Group had recovered from a gross loss of US$9.0
million shown in our interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2016 to the present final results of US$2.4 million gross
profit.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R
Net Financing cost 7 B R AR

2016 2015

i —E-HEF

US$’000 UsS$'000

FERT FER

Financing income B U A 686 449
Financing cost B 7 B AR (6,832) (6,603)
(6,146) (6,154)

The net financing cost of approximately US$6.2 million which
had remained steady for both the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2016. There was an increase of US$0.2 million for
both the financing income and financing costs for 2016 against
those in 2015. The increase in finance income was mainly due
to interest income derived from held for trading investments
acquired in 2016, whereas the increase in finance cost mainly
due to the increase in bank borrowing during 2016 after it being
offsetted to a certain extent by interest expenses capitalised in
the development project.

Other gains and losses

The drop in net loss in the other gains and losses was mainly
resulted from the absence of a significant loss which was
recognised in 2015 mainly due to a significant unrealized
exchange loss of approximately US$5.3 million derived from the
conversion of USD-loans by Metorex, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, whose functional currency was South
Africa Rand (“ZAR”), when the currency of ZAR against US$
depreciated in 2015. Since the functional currency of Metorex,
amongst others, was changed from ZAR to US$ to align the
primary currency received and expended in its operations in
mid-2015, there has been less US$ exposure to the Group and
accordingly less foreign exchange difference was resulted in
2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ER AR R AT

Selling and distribution costs

The costs mainly represent the off-mine costs incurred when the
Group sells its copper and cobalt under the Mining Operations,
and they primarily comprise of transportation expenses, ocean
freight expenses and custom clearing expenses. The breakdown
of selling and distribution costs is as follows:

HERDHERA

ZEBRAETEEASERHEELRBEER 2
MNESTEEZBSIRAE  TERREE
WX - BERXURBHEMAX - HERDH
A Z BBARANT

2016 2015
—RE —E-REF
US$’000 US$000
FER FEx

Off-mine costs: WS IMRAS
Transportation Eiy 335 445
Ocean freight gE 13,156 16,219
Clearing costs of export OB A 9,350 11,343
Others Hth 599 446
Total Selling and distribution costs BEHERDEREK 23,440 28,453

Selling and distribution costs decreased by 17.9% from US$28.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to US$23.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016. This was primarily
due to the successful implementation of effective cost control
measures in 2016, in addition to the lower production volumes
and thus tonnage sold. As a result, the resultant unit selling and
distribution costs were reduced.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by 22.2% from US$26.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to US$20.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016. Administrative expenses
mainly include staff costs and mining royalties payable to the
minority shareholder and local governments of the Operating
Mines in Africa and other operating expenses of the Group. The
decrease in administrative expenses in 2016 as compared to
2015 was primarily due to the decrease in the mining royalty
charges as a result of the decrease in revenue from the Mining
Operations, on which the mining royalty charges are based. The
resultant unit administrative expenses were also reduced by the
successful implementation of effective cost control measures, in
particular the reduction in head count through the restructuring of
personnel organisational.

HERDHERABBE-ZE-—HF+=A8
=t+—HLEFEMN2858EEZTHD17.9%E
BE-ZE-AF+ZA=1+—-HLFEMN234
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BEHERERETHE  MEMSXAMTRE -
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Reversal of Impairment loss

During the year under review, the Group recorded a non-
cash reversal of impairment loss of US$67.8 million on the
mineral rights (2015: Impairment loss of US$129.4 million) and
an impairment loss of US$14.0 million on the exploration and
evaluation assets (2015: US$182.9 million). Since there was
an increase in copper price towards the end of the year as
compared to the end of 2015.

The reversal of impairment loss was resulted from the change in
value of the principal parameters used in the 2015 impairment
assessment in the mining operations, mainly the higher price
estimate for commodities, namely copper and cobalt, and the
lower cost estimate resulted from the successful implementation
of cost control measures in 2016.

There was an impairment loss for Kinsenda Project despite the
recovery in copper and cobalt prices towards the end of the year.
It was because the production plan of this development project
has been delayed due to additional work performed during the
year. This additional work is neither budgeted nor planned.

The reversal of impairment loss was made in relation to Ruashi
Mine in the DRC and Chibuluma South Mine in Zambia and
impairment loss was made in relation to the Kinsenda Project in
the DRC.

The assessment of the reversal of impairment loss was
principally triggered by the increase in the copper and
cobalt prices towards the end of 2016 and the successful
implementation of the cost saving plan for Ruashi Mine and the
Chibuluma South Mine during the year. The key value of input
used in the valuation comprise forecast long term copper price
over LOM at a range from US$5,400 per tonne to US$7,200 per
tonne; and forecast long term cobalt price between US$30,000
per tonne to US$36,000 per tonne, after taking into account
the market consensus from metal analysts. The discount rates,
as another key value of input, remained stable in 2016 as a
result of no significant change of risk profiles of the countries
of the respective mine are located. Moreover, the successful
optimization of respective current mine plan in 2016 had, on the
other hand, changed the production reserve and improved the
cost structure, thus giving rise to favourable effect to the reversal
of the impairment loss.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ER AR R AT

Despite the recovery in copper and cobalt prices towards the
end of 2016, the production plan for Kinsenda Project has been
delayed due to additional unplanned and unbudgeted work
performed during the year. Accordingly, even there is favourable
change in the copper and cobalt prices and stable discount rate,
the unexpected cost and delay resulted in the impairment loss
recognised in 2016.

Given the nature of the Group’s activities, the valuation method
adopted for each mine was determined based on discounting the
respective cash flow projections to derive the value in use as the
recoverable amount.

Income tax credit

The Group is subject to taxes in Hong Kong, the DRC and
Zambia due to its business operations in these jurisdictions.
An income tax credit of US$3.0 million was derived for the year
ended 31 December 2016 as compared to that of US$13.8
million in 2015. The decrease in income tax credit was primarily
due to the absence of a significant deferred tax credit resulting
from the impairment loss of mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets for the year ended 31 December 2015. The
income tax credit for the year under review was mainly resulted
from the recognition of estimated tax losses and the deferred tax
credit from the movement in the property, plant and equipment,
mineral rights and exploration and evaluation assets arising from
the Mining Operations.

Profit (loss) for the year

As a result of the above, the Group incurred a consolidated
profit of US$6.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 as
opposed to a consolidated loss of US$355.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015.
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Earnings before interest (net finance costs), income
tax, depreciation and amortisation and impairment
loss impact (“EBITDA”)

The EBITDA of the Group is derived as follows:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER LT

RETFB CRRMBERAE) - FIEHR - TEK
BELIRBESRTZEMAER ((EBITDA)

AEBEZEBITDATIR TREH :

2016 2015

—E-XRE —E-HEF

US$’000 US$000

FTER ES

Profit (loss) for the year FrmAl (EE) 6,314 (355,816)

Add: Net finance cost III=E-Ey 35 %N 6,146 6,154

Less: Income tax credit B FEBiER (2,993) (13,821)

Add: Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1l : ¥1% - BMERRBITE 46,888 50,003

Add: Amortisation of mineral rights hn o IEEREEE 10,973 7,496
Add: (Reversal of Impairment Loss) Impairment n:MEEERERZ (REE

Loss recognised in respect of mineral rights BEE)RESE (67,765) 129,386
Add: Impairment loss recognised in respect of B EREFHEERERZ

exploration and evaluation assets BEEE 14,017 182,878

EBITDA EBITDA 13,580 6,280

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had bank balances and
cash of approximately US$96.4 million as compared to US$51.6
million as at 31 December 2015, of which nil (2015: US$4.2
million) was pledged for funding environmental liabilities relating
to Mining Operations and issuance of letters of credit in favor of
the Group’s suppliers.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had bank borrowings of
US$83.3 million and loans from related companies of US$5.1
million both of which are due within one year, bank borrowings of
US$245.2 million and loans from related companies of US$120.0
million both of which are due within 2 to 5 years and bank
borrowings of US$66.0 million which are due over 5 years.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2016 was
55.1% compared to 45.4% as at 31 December 2015. Gearing
ratio is defined as net debt over total equity, and net debt is
derived from total borrowings (including amount due to an
intermediate holding company and amount due to a fellow
subsidiary) less bank balances and cash. The increase in the
gearing ratio was caused by additional bank borrowings to fund
its capital expenditures of Mining Operations, in particular the
near final development phase of the Kinsenda Project.

For the year under review, the Group has financed its operations
with loan facilities provided by banks, borrowings from related
companies and internally generated cash flows.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ER AR R AT

Material acquisitions and disposals of investments

The Group did not undertake any material acquisitions or
disposals of investments during the year under review.

Significant capital expenditures

Except for the purchase of property, plant and equipment of
US$45.6 million (2015: US$101.9 million) and exploration and
evaluation assets of US$23.0 million (2015: US$18.1 million), no
significant capital expenditures were made for the year ended 31
December 2016.

Details of charges on the Group’s assets

The Group’s inventories of US$3.9 million (2015: US$41.3
million) and trade and other receivables of US$4.0 million (2015:
US$5.0 million), respectively, were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2016.

Foreign exchange risk management

The reporting currency of the Group is in US$ and the functional
currencies of subsidiaries of the Group are mainly in US$. For
its mineral and metal products trading activities, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency exchange risk in RMB, the currency
the Group receives as its revenue for part of its mineral and
metal products trading business, and ZAR, the currency the
Group mostly expends as its expenses for its office of the Mining
Operations in South Africa. The Group monitors its exposure to
foreign currency exchange risk on a on-going basis.

Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and US$, the Group
is not exposed to significant exchange rate risk for transactions
conducted in HK$. On the other hand, the exchange rate
fluctuation of RMB against US$ and ZAR against US$ could
substantially affect the performance and financial position of the
Group.

There have been fluctuations in the exchange rate of RMB
against US$ and the exchange rate of ZAR against US$ in
recent years. During 2016, the Group managed its foreign
currency exchange risk arising from RMB denominated
transactions by entering into specific foreign exchange
deliverable forward contracts to fix the exchange rate of future
revenue receipts against US$.
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MINERAL RESOURCES AND MINERAL
RESERVES

The Group Mineral Resources as at 31 December 2016 are
estimated to contain 4,518 kt copper and 366kt cobalt. Ruashi
Mine contains 583 kt copper and 78kt cobalt; Chibuluma South
Mine contains 128kt copper; Kinsenda Project contains 1,157kt
copper; Musonoi Project contains 873kt copper and 288kt cobalt;
and Lubembe Project contains 1,777kt copper.

The Group Mineral Reserves as at 31 December 2016 are
estimated to contain 502kt copper and 29kt cobalt. Ruashi Mine
contains 161kt copper and 29kt cobalt; Chibuluma South Mine
contains 48kt copper; and Kinsenda Project contains 293kt
copper.

PROSPECTS

The global economy remains depressed although there are signs
of improvement in operating conditions in the short term going
forward. Recent improvements in both the copper and cobalt
prices has provided a glimmer of light for the Mining Operations
going into 2017. Operating units expect to see some relief in
2017 although the focus on operating discipline and cost control
will remain in place following a successful reduction in operating
costs in 2016.

The LOM plans of the two Operating Mines (Ruashi Mine in the
DRC and Chibuluma South Mine in Zambia) will be reviewed
to align the Operations with new price and cost expectations.
Different commodity price and production scenarios are being
considered to optimise the production schedule to maximise
return for each operation, while maximizing reserves and LOM.

Stripping activities commenced at the Kinsenda Project in the
DRC in late 2016, and mining production from underground
is currently being ramped up to nameplate annual capacity of
24,000 tonnes copper, whilst building sufficient tonnage on the
ROM stockpile to start production with full processing in second
quarter of 2017.

Early works to secure the site have commenced at the Musonoi
Project in the DRC, and initial collection of geotechnical and
geohydrological data essential for Front End Engineering Design
(FEED) of the surface and underground mining infrastructure
were adequately funded. Development of the Musonoi Project
is a key component for the medium term growth for the Group,
with a link to upstream processing of copper-cobalt concentrate
through a roaster to be constructed as part of the phase llI
Expansion of Ruashi Mine to treat sulphides at the existing
Ruashi Mine hydrometallurgical facility.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ER AR R AT

Besides Mining Operations, the Group also undertakes trading
activities. Whilst the recent unfavourable market conditions can
negatively affect volumes and turnover, this business segment
continues to offer opportunities for further development and
expansion. Recently, the Group has enhanced its trading
resources with an intention to grow the new line of business
whilst taking an appropriate cautious risk management
approach.

The Group’s vision is to grow a sustainable and competitive
international mining business. As such, the Group continues
to review potential acquisition opportunities and whilst current
market conditions are challenging, it also presents some
interesting opportunities which could fit the Group’s growth
vision. In view of the recent sign of recovery of non-ferrous metal
commodity prices, the Company targets to take this opportunity
to strengthen its shareholder base by introducing strategic
investors when appropriate.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 3,991 (2015: 4,581)
employees, which comprises 2,017 (2015: 2,367) permanent
workers and 1,974 (2015: 2,214) contractor’'s employees.
Employees receive competitive remuneration packages including
salary and medical and other benefits. Key staff may also be
entitled to performance bonus and grant of options over the
shares of the Company.

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding
the directors) during the year ended 31 December 2016 were
within the following bands:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasize accountability
and transparency to shareholders. Periodic review will be made
to the corporate governance practices to comply with the
regulatory requirements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied throughout the year ended 31
December 2016 with the respective code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Following the resignation of Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 31 January
2017, the Company only has two independent non-executive
Directors and two audit committee members, the number of
which falls below the minimum number required under Rule
3.10(1), Rule 3.10A and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. In
addition, the Company fails to meet the composition requirement
of the remuneration committee under Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the composition requirement of the nomination
committee under code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code. The
Company is continuing its search for a suitable candidate to fill
the vacancy and will endeavour to do so within three months
from the date of resignation of Mr. Maclachlan pursuant to Rule
3.11, Rule 3.23 and Rule 3.27 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding securities
transactions by directors. Based on specific enquiry of directors
of the Company, all of them have confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The main duty of the Board is to act in good faith for the benefit
of the Company as a whole with proper delegation to the
management of the Company according to the articles of
association of the Company.

The Board as at the date of this report comprises six directors of
whom four are executive directors and two are independent
non-executive directors. The Company will continuously evaluate
its Board structure to ensure sound corporate governance is in
place.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of legal action against directors.

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2016 and up to 20 March 2017, the date of this report
were:

Executive directors:

Mr. YANG Zhiqgiang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Deputy Chairman of the Board)

Mr. CHEN Dexin (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT (resigned on 13 June 2016)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony
Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN (resigned on 31 January 2017)
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MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

A total of 4 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 2
Remuneration and Nomination Committee meetings, 4 Risk
Management Committee meetings, 2 Strategy and Investment
Committee meetings, 1 Executive Committee meeting, 1
Independent Board Committee meeting, 1 annual general
meeting and 2 extraordinary general meetings were held during
the year ended 31 December 2016. In addition, the Chairman
held a meeting during the year ended 31 December 2016 with
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the presence of executive directors. The
following is a summary of the attendance of meetings of each
director:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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YANG Zhigiang 5 44 - - - - - - 1N 012
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Notes: BT EE
1. The Executive Committee was dissolved on 18 August 2016. 1. BOTZEEEER-_Z-—<ENATN\HHH-
2. Resigned on 13 June 2016. 2. RIZE-—XREXAT=A8E-
# Directors who were absent were occupied by other businesses. # RENESEITREREEtMEHEMERE o

The Board met regularly during the year and on an ad hoc basis
as required by business needs. The Board’s primary focus is to
determine and review the overall strategic development of the
Company and its subsidiaries and to oversee the achievement of
the plans in relation thereto. Daily operational decisions are
delegated to the executive directors and the senior management.
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CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the roles of Chairman
of the Board (“Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”)
were separate and performed by different individuals. As at the
date of this report, the Chairman of the Company is Mr. Yang
Zhigiang and the CEO is Mr. Chen Dexin. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The CEO focuses on
the Company’s business development and daily management
and operations generally.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has
complied with the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of a
sufficient number of independent non-executive directors
(“INEDs”) and at least one independent non-executive director
with appropriate professional accounting or financial
management experience. The Company has received, from each
of the INEDs, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the INEDs are independent.

The INEDs of the Company are independent of the management
and hence the Company considers that they are free of any
relationship that could potentially interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgment. None of the INEDs has any
business or financial interests with the Company nor has any
relationship with other directors of the Company.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company with a term or revised term
ending on 31 December 2019 or the date on which he shall retire
from office in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company and the Listing Rules and not having been re-elected
or his appointment is terminated before that.

Save as disclosed above, none of the non-executive directors
being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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BOARD COMMITTEES:

a)

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
written specific terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code provisions. As at 31 December 2016, the Audit
Committee of the Company comprises three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Wu Chi Keung (being
Chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony
and Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan, who together have the
relevant accounting and financial management expertise,
industrial knowledge, legal and business experience to
discharge their duties. The Audit Committee had held 2
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016 to
review and approve the interim and annual results of the
Company, review the internal controls of the Group,
consider the remuneration of the external auditor and
continuing connected transactions of the Group and to
discuss audit issues with the external auditors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

. to review the interim and annual financial statements
before they are submitted to the Board for approval;

. to make recommendations to the Board on, the
appointment, the re-appointment and removal of the
external auditors, and approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors, and
any questions of resignation or dismissal of that
auditors;

. to review and monitor the external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of
the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

. to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
controls, and risk management systems;

. to review the Company’s financial and accounting
policies and practice;

. to report to the Board on the matters set out in the
CG Code as required by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited; and

. to review the terms and conditions of continuing
connected transactions of the Company.
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CHERRE

EEgZ8Y

a) BHRZEEE
ARARRRLES Jzﬁiﬂiﬁ
REEE TEEIBBTHEBE -
R A% +=AZt—8 &2

AIREREZECSHR=RBLIHTE
AR BREASREE (BEXESE
G2 ERE) » ByuE A KNeil Thacker
Maclachlan%t 4 - Tﬁ—nxﬂﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁz
S RMEEEEEME - TEME
EERERKE  LUEY f)ﬁ%ﬂ%fﬁ o &
BREESCORBE=-ZE—A~"F+=A
StTt-HAEFEERTMAEE LX%E@
&Ttt*yzlxﬁqulﬁﬂﬁéiinﬁ
AEBZAIMERE TR ZIK%I%HH—V
g R AEECHERERS NHE
NERE AT SE -

EREEEZTERBMOT

. EHRHREFEHKBRRIEEESS
A EEEREE

. MRER  EFNEZERBIRIMNERZE
fmEEERBES R IER
HEHNME R TG > URER
R0 75 B8 52 A% B AN BT = AR BE /Y
2 ;

. RREAZELD B RERIPEZX
HEMBILREEMN  URKERE
FHISRA

. *ﬁ‘a‘%ﬂ-"&ﬁﬂ’)ﬂﬁ%}%ﬁ%ﬂ s RERES
KEREERL

+ BEALQF
Bl ;

BB RETBERRIE

. E"ﬁé%ﬂﬁ““A“%Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ’D\TE‘ﬁz
TETFUASHOESSRE

- EBEALATDBEEERZNERR
&4 o

[
A
[
bl
ﬁ
Hu
b=n|

ANNUAL REPORT 2016




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

b)

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration and
Nomination Committee with written specific terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code provisions. As
at 31 December 2016, the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee comprised five members, of whom two are
executive directors, namely Mr. Zhang Sanlin and
Mr. Zhang Zhong, and three are independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Wu Chi Keung (being Chairman of
Remuneration and Nomination Committee), Mr. Yen Yuen
Ho, Tony and Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan.

The principal duties of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee are to review and consider the remuneration
and nomination functions for the directors and senior
management of the Company.

Remuneration functions

In terms of the remuneration functions, the duties of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee are as follows:

. to make recommendations with respect to the
remuneration of Directors and Senior Management of
the Company for approval by the Board;

. to review the remuneration package and recommend
salaries, bonuses, including the incentive awards for
Directors and Senior Management of the Company;

. to administer and make determinations with regard to
the Company’s long term incentive scheme,
embracing the share option scheme and share
incentive scheme (when appropriate); and

. to administer and make determinations with regard to
the Group’s Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”)
system for short term incentive purposes.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee sets out
annually its recommendations on the remuneration
package of Directors and Senior Management. In
determining the packages for a Director and Senior
Management, the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee considers various factors, including market
comparability, complexity of duties, and performance.
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c)

In order to attract, retain, and motivate executives and key
employees serving the Company, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme on 20 June 2012 and a
share incentive scheme on 2 June 2015. Such incentive
schemes enables the eligible persons to obtain an
ownership interest in the Company and thus to reward the
participants who contribute to the success of the
Company’s operation.

Nomination function

In terms of the nomination functions, the duties of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee are as follows:

. to perform evaluation of the Board regarding the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

. to identify, select and nominate individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board;

. to assess the independence of independent
non-executive directors on its appointment or when
their independence is called into question;

. to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate,
and review the measurable objectives that the Board
has set for implementing the Board diversity policy,
and the progress on achieving the objectives; and

. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the directors of the
Company and their succession plans.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee had held 2
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016 to
review and recommend to the Board the long term incentive
scheme, compensation packages of the Directors and the
Senior Management of the Company and to review the
management structure of the Company and the
composition of the Board.

Other Committees

As at 31 December 2016, apart from Audit Committee and
Remuneration and Nomination Committee, the Company
has 2 other Board Committees, namely Risk Management
Committee and Strategy and Investment Committee to
assist the Board to review the significant daily operational
matters and thus make recommendations to the Board.
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The function of Risk Management Committee is to oversee the
Group’s risk management activities and provide
recommendations to the Board on risk strategy and control
measures to mitigate the overall risk arise from market fluctuation
and other external factors.

The function of Strategy and Investment Committee is to provide
the long term strategic development of the Group and give
recommendations to the Board on the acquisition and disposal of
investments, as well as the oversight of the Company’s overseas
assets.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions with written specific terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code provisions.

The duties of the Board in respect of corporate governance
function are summarized as follows:

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and Senior
Management;

. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to Directors and employees;
and

. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. As such,
the Board has implemented a policy concerning diversity of
board members in accordance with A.5.6 of the CG Code. The
purpose of the policy is to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Company’s board of directors.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In
designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

During the year, the Board has reviewed its composition under
diversified perspectives and considered the Board to be
adequately diversified. The Board has also reviewed the board
diversity policy and monitored the implementation of this policy.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements. As at 31 December 2016,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial statements
on a going-concern basis.

The audit committee and the Board have reviewed the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2016.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to
financial reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report
attached to the financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets at all times. While, it is
management’s role to set the appropriate tone from the top and
take charge of the designing, operating and implementing an
appropriate system of internal control and risk management to
manage risks.

Our Risk Management Framework

The Board has established on-going and responsive processes
for managing rather than eliminating risks of failure to achieve
strategic objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. Such
processes involve:

- Understanding of organizational objectives;
- Identifying risks associated with achieving or not the
organisational objectives and assessing the likelihood and

potential impact of particular risks; and

- Developing remedial action plans to address and monitor
identified risks.
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A Risk Management Committee has been established to oversee
the Group’s risk management activities and provide
recommendations to the Board on risk strategy and control
measures to mitigate the overall risks arise from market
fluctuation and other external factors.

Through the newly appointed Chief Risk Officer, the Risk
Management Committee oversees the day-to-day risks of the
major activities across the Group. Risk owners, the business
units of the Group, identify, evaluate, monitor and mitigate their
own risks and report to Chief Risk Officer on a monthly basis.
The Chief Risk Officer assesses and liaises with the risk owners
at each scheduled meeting, the results of their activities during
the preceding period pertaining to the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls, including but not limited to, any
indication of failings or material weakness in those controls. The
Chief Risk Officer is accountable to Chief Executive Officer,
where the Chief Executive Officer is accountable to the Board for
the Group’s performance and the implementation of the Board’s
strategies and policies, including policies on risk management
and internal control.

Internal Control

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function to an
independent external consultant. The independent external
consultant is responsible for conducting internal control reviews
on operational, financial and compliance controls of the major
operating entities and key business units in Africa using a
risk-based approach. Internal control reviews had been
conducted during the year according to the annual internal audit
plan approved by the Audit Committee. During the process of
internal audit reviews, the independent external consultant
identified internal control deficiencies and weakness, proposed
recommendations for improvements and remedial actions with
management and process owners. Management has taken
certain remediate actions accordingly and had planned to refine
certain internal control procedures in due course. The results of
the internal control reviews and management’s remedial actions
have been reported to the Audit Committee.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 and considered the risk management and
internal control systems effective and adequate. The review
covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, and risk management functions. The scope
and quality of ongoing monitoring of risks and the internal control
systems have been assessed.

The Board has also reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, and their
training programmes and budget.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

All employees are bound by the Group’s Code of Conduct to
keep all unpublished inside information strictly confidential until
the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved and
refrain from accepting personal benefits through the power or
authority derived from their position. The Company will continue
to review the effectiveness of its internal procedures and internal
controls over handling and dissemination of inside information
and update its Code of Conduct and /or internal procedures from
time to time.

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Internally facilitated briefings for directors
are arranged and reading material on relevant topics are issued
to directors where appropriate. All directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses. During the year, the Company
has arranged in-house briefing or provided reading material to all
of their then existing directors, namely Mr. Yang Zhigiang,
Mr. Zhang Sanlin, Mr. Chen Dexin, Mr. Peter Geoffrey Albert
(resigned on 13 June 2016), Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wu Chi
Keung, Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony and Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan
(resigned on 31 January 2017), to provide update to them on the
latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices for the purpose of Code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code. All directors of the Company have participated in
continuous professional development and provided a record of
training they received for the financial year ended 31 December
2016 to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company
Secretary of the Company has undertaken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2016.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION AND
RIGHTS

The Company is committed to ensuring the Group’s compliance
with its disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations. The Company would ensure all
shareholders and potential investors have equal opportunities to
receive and obtain the public information issued by the Company.

The Company welcomes its shareholders to attend the general
meetings to express their opinions and encourages all Directors
to attend the general meetings to develop direct communications
with shareholders. The external auditors are also required to
attend the annual general meeting to assist the Directors in
answering any pertinent questions from shareholders. The
Company regularly releases information to its shareholders such
as annual and interim reports, circulars and notice of general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Set out below are procedures for shareholders of the Company
to convene an extraordinary general meeting, put enquiries to
the Board and put proposals at shareholders’ meetings. These
procedures are generally governed by the articles of association
of the Company and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
which prevail over the below information in case of any
inconsistencies.

a) Procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

1. One or more shareholders of the Company holding at
the date of deposit of requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all time have the right, by written
requisition, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition.

2. The requisition must be deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal place of business, the registered office.

3. The requisition must specify the objects of the
meeting and be signed by the requisitionists. The
signatures of such requisitionists will be verified by
the Company’s share registrars or branch share
registrars (where applicable).

4. On the condition that the requisition from the
requisitionists is proper and in order, the Board will
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and such meeting for transacting the
business specified in the requisition shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
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5. If the Board fails to proceed to convene an
extraordinary general meeting within 21 days from the
date of deposit of a valid requisition, the
requisitionists themselves may convene an
extraordinary general meeting in the same manner as
that in which extraordinary general meeting is to be
convened by the Board, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

b) Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company who have enquiries for the
Board are most welcomed to contact the Company at any
time and such enquiries will be forwarded to the Board. The
contact details are as follows:

Address: Unit 3101, 31/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Hong Kong

Facsimile: (852) 3919 7208
E-mail: info@jinchuan-intl.com

c) Procedures for shareholders to put proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders of the Company are advised to follow Article
12.3 of the articles of association of the Company for
including a resolution through a valid requisition of an
extraordinary general meeting. Details are set out in
paragraph a) above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Updated information of the Company is available to investors via
the Company’s website www.jinchuan-intl.com. All material
information such as circulars, annual and interim reports and
procedures for nomination of directors for election can be
accessed from the Company’s website.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditor is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor’'s remuneration for the
year ended 31 December 2016 is US$397,000 out of which
US$300,000 was related to audit services for the consolidated
financial statements and US$97,000 was related to non-audit
services regarding the review of continuing connected
transactions, review of interim results and other professional
services.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELENEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HITES

YANG Zhiqiang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Yang Zhiqgiang, aged 59, PhD,
professor-grade senior engineer, an
Executive Director of the Company since
November 2010. He is currently the
chairman of the ultimate holding company,
Jinchuan Group which is a large-scale
non-ferrous metal mining conglomerate,
specializing in mining, concentrating,
metallurgy, chemical engineering and
further processing. Mr. Yang joined the Jinchuan Group in 1982
and had served as the deputy general manager in Jing Hang
Engineering Company (##& T2 8]) of the Jinchuan Group,
deputy chief engineer and general manager of the corporate
management division in the Jinchuan Group, deputy general
manager in the Jinchuan Group, president and general manager
of Silver Non-ferrous Metals Company (HiRE®@£EB2A ), and
the deputy director of the Development and Reform Commission
of Gansu Province. Mr. Yang, as the chairman of the Jinchuan
Group, has over 30 years of extensive experience in resources
development, mine construction, large-scale metal selection and
group production, marketing and capital management.

ZHANG Sanlin
(Deputy Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Zhang Sanlin, aged 52, a senior
economist, an Executive Director of the
Company since November 2010. He
completed his postgraduate studies in
business management. He joined the
Jinchuan Group in July 1985 and since
then has been consecutively responsible,
at the smelting plant, for statistics and
production planning, and at the management division of the
Jinchuan Group, for corporate management and corporate
transformation, and at the mines under the Jinchuan Group, for
management, and at the management division of the Jinchuan
Group, for asset restructuring, institutional adjustment, capital
restructuring and share listing, merger and acquisition and asset
management. He is currently the vice president and the
executive director of the Jinchuan Group and is responsible for
the Jinchuan Group’s asset management, legal matters,
corporate management and corporate reformation. He has
extensive experience in mining business management and
corporate asset management.
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CHEN Dexin (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chen, aged 47, professorate senior
engineer, completed his postgraduate
studies in Economics and Management,
an Executive Director of the Company
since January 2014. He has been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effect from 15 June
2016. He is currently the vice president of
the Jichuan Group. He joined the Jinchuan
Group in July 1994 and since then has
been consecutively responsible for the
mining technology and management of Jing Hang Engineering
Company (F#B I A F) of the Jinchuan Group, No. 2 Mine (=
#EE) of the Jinchuan Group and No. 1 (Longshou) Mine (R & &)
of the Jinchuan Group. He is currently the chairman of the board
of directors of Metorex (Proprietary) Limited (“Metorex”), an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Chen
was the acting chief executive officer of Metorex from April
2015 until June 2016. He has extensive operation and
management experience in the mining industry. He is also a
non-executive director and the deputy chairman of the board
of Wesizwe Platinum Limited since 2011, a company listed on
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in the Republic of South
Africa (the “South Africa”). He is the chairman of the board of
directors of Tibet Tian Yuan Minerals Exploration Ltd since
2011.

ZHANG Zhong

()

Mr. Zhang Zhong, aged 51, EMBA, an
Executive Director of the Company since
November 2010. He is currently the
general manager of Jinchuan Group
(Hongkong) Resources Holdings Limited
and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. For over 25 years,
Mr. Zhang has consecutively served as the
= head of the computer center of the
Jinchuan Group, the director of the research institute of
automation, liaison officer on overseas projects of the Jinchuan
Group, head of the information centre of the Jinchuan Group, the
president of Gansu Jinchuan Jin Ge Mining Vehicles Company
Limited (H&E <) &K IEXEHGRAF), a Sino-German joint
venture, the president (and general manager) of Jinchuan Group
Mechanics Manufacturing Limited (£ )!|S£E##3E Q) and
the general manager of the planning and development division of
the Jinchuan Group. He has extensive experience in the
company’s operating management, enterprise IT, project
management, business development and Chinese foreign JV.
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INDEPENQENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BYEHITES

WU Chi Keung

Mr. Wu Chi Keung, aged 60, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company since January 2011. He
graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in 1980 with a Higher Diploma
in Accountancy. He has more than 30
years of experience mainly in financial
audit and specializes in providing auditing
and assurance services, financial due diligence reviews, support
services for merger and acquisitions, corporate restructuring and
fund raising engagements. Mr. Wu’s prior experience in finance
mainly includes working with international accounting firms until
he retired as a partner from Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2008.
Mr. Wu is currently the managing director of a family-owned
private company in Hong Kong engaging in property and other
investment activities. He is an independent non-executive
director of China Medical System Holdings Limited, Zhong Fa
Zhan Holdings Limited, Huabao International Holdings Limited,
YuanShengTai Dairy Farm Limited, Huajin International Holdings
Limited, COFCO Meat Holdings Limited and Zhou Hei Ya
International Holdings Company Limited (the shares of these
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. Wu was also
an independent non-executive director of the following
Companies listed on the Stock Exchange: GreaterChina
Professional Services Limited from May 2011 to July 2014, China
Wah Yan Healthcare Limited (formerly known as China Reniji
Medical Group Limited) from January 2012 to July 2014 and Link
Holdings Limited from June 2014 to October 2014. Mr. Wu is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom.

YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony, aged 69, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company since August 2010. He is a
solicitor of Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. He is also a barrister and
solicitor of Australia, and was a member of
The Law Reform Commission of Hong
Kong. Mr. Yen has been practicing law in
Hong Kong since 1983 and was the Law
Draftsman of the Department of Justice in Hong Kong from 1995
to 2007.
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Currently, Mr. Yen is an Adjunct Professor of the Beijing Normal
University and an Honorary Court Member of the court of the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He was an
Adjunct Professor of the City University of Hong Kong from July
2011 to June 2014. He is a Director of the Hong Kong Institute
for Public Administration and an Honorary Legal Adviser to the
Friends of Scouting, Scout Association of Hong Kong.
Additionally, Mr. Yen serves as the Director of two secondary
schools, the Vice Chairman of the Neighbourhood Advice Action
Council and a Member of Heep Hong Society’s Executive
Council. He is also an Honorary Adviser to the Pok Oi Hospital,
Honorary Adviser to the Hong Kong Academy of Nursing and the
Honorary Legal Adviser to the Shanghai Fraternity Association.
Mr. Yen was appointed as an Honorary Fellow of the School of
Education, University of Hong Kong in 2014. In the past years,
he was appointed by the HKSAR Government as a member of
the Education Bureau’s Panel of Review Board on School
Complaints and as the Vice-Chairman of the Social Welfare
Lump Sum Grant Independent Complaints Handling Committee.
Mr. Yen also serves as a guest speaker to various universities in
Hong Kong. He is an independent non-executive director of
United Photovoltaics Group Limited, Alltronics Holdings Limited
and WWPKG Holdings Company Limited (the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange). He was also an independent
non-executive director of Link Holdings Limited (the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange) from June 2014 to
October 2014. Mr. Yen was in October 2015 appointed by China
Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co. Limited as an independent
director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEREREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
CHEN Dexin

For details of Mr. Chen biography, please see the sub-section
headed “Directors” on page 63.

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
ZHANG Zhong

For details of Mr. Zhang Zhong'’s biography, please see the sub-
section headed “Directors” on page 63.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND COMPANY
SECRETARY

WONG Tak Chuen

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen, is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, as well
as a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience
in auditing, financial management, mergers and acquisitions
gained from various senior finance related positions in an
international accounting firm in Hong Kong, companies listed in
Hong Kong and a company listed in the United States.

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT — TRADING
Peter John DENEEN

Mr. Peter John Deneen, has over 20 years of experience as a
metals trader, formerly based in Beijing as a permanent resident
and chief representative of Cometals, a division of Commercial
Metals Company (NYSE: CMC). He later headed up Samsung
America’s worldwide alumina team, a major supplier to the
Chinese aluminum industry. Mr. Deneen also knows the copper
industry, having traded copper concentrates and cathodes for
many years, and was a former director of Erdmin, a Mongolian
refined copper producer. He holds a master’s degree in
International Management (M.I.M) from the American Graduate
School of International Management (Thunderbird), and a B.A. in
Chinese Studies and economics from Hampshire College in
Amherst, Massachusetts. Mr. Deneen is fluent in Mandarin
Chinese.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF METOREX
QIAO Fugui

Mr. Qiao Fugui, Master of Engineering, holder of postgraduate
qualification, currently the assistant to the general manager and
the general manager of the mineral resources division of
Jinchuan Group. Mr. Qiao joined the Jinchuan Group in 1988. He
was previously served as the deputy general manager of the
planning and development division of the Jinchuan Group, the
director of No. 3 Mine (=#&&) of the Jinchuan Group, general
manager of the mining division of Jinchuan Group, the president
of Gansu Jin Ao Mining Limited (HEE®RIEZE£ A7), the joint
venture established by the Jinchuan Group and BHP Billiton. He
is also a director of GobiMin Inc., a company listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange Venture Exchange in Canada, since
2007. He has expertise in technical aspects of mine exploration
and development and extensive experience in operation and
management. He was a non-executive director of the Company
from 30 November 2010 to 1 January 2014.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF METOREX
YANG Jinshan

Mr. Yang Jinshan, senior accountant, holder of university degree,
joined the Jinchuan Group in 1991. He has previously served as
the Deputy General Manager of the Financial Division and Risk
Management Division of Jinchuan Group and the Chief Financial
Officer of the Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHE

The directors of the Company present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements. During the year, there were no significant changes in
the nature of the Company’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Company’s business and a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties being faced by the Company are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “CEQO’s report” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Company
that have occurred since the end of the year, and indication of
likely future development in the Company’s business can also be
found in these sections. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set
out on page 3. A discussion on the Company’s environmental
policies and performance can be found in the Sustainable
Development Report on pages 21 to 36. An account of the
Company’s relationship with its shareholders and investors can
be found on pages 60 to 61.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company
complies with the requirements under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law (2011 Revision), the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ”) for, among other things, the disclosure of
information and corporate governance.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2016 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 90 to 179.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2016.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements
and restated as appropriate, is set out on page 180. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note
14 to the financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2016 are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

On 29 May 2014, Kinsenda Copper Company SA (as borrower),
a 77% owned subsidiary of the Company, and Jinchuan Group
(as guarantor) entered into a facility agreement (“Facility
Agreement 1”) with China Development Bank Corporation
(“CDBC”) (as lender) in relation to a term loan facility in an
amount of US$225,000,000. The final repayment date of the term
loan facility will be the date falling 10 years from the date of the
first utilization of such facility, which had taken place on 30 May
2014.

On 27 May 2016, Metorex (as borrower), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a facility
agreement (“Facility Agreement 2”) with the CDBC (as lender),
whereas Jinchuan Group acted as guarantor, in relation to a loan
facility for the purpose of funding its working capital and
operations in an amount of US$25,000,000. The final repayment
date of the loan facility will be the date falling on the last day of a
12 month period from the date of the first utilization of such
facility, which had taken place on 6 June 2016.

On 9 November 2016, Metorex (as borrower) entered into a
facility agreement (“Facility Agreement 3”) with the CDBC (as
lender), whereas Jinchuan Group acted as guarantor, in relation
to a loan facility for the purpose of funding the working capital
and operations of Metorex and its subsidiaries in an amount of
US$100,000,000. The final repayment date of the loan facility will
be the date falling on the last day of a 36 month period from the
date of the first utilization of such facility, which had taken place
on 14 November 2016.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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Pursuant to the Facility Agreement 1, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, Jinchuan Group is required, at all times, to
(directly or indirectly) own more than 50% of the shares of
Kinsenda Copper Company SA. Pursuant to the Facility
Agreement 2 and Facility Agreement 3, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, Jinchuan Group is required, at all
times, to (directly or indirectly) own not less than 51% of the shares
of Metorex. Breach of the specific performance obligation stated in
each of the above facility agreements will constitute an event of
default. Upon the occurrence of such event of default, the relevant
bank may declare the loan facility to be cancelled and all
outstanding amounts may become immediately due and payable.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the
financial statements.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company‘s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2016 represented the
aggregate of share premium account, contributed surplus and
accumulated losses, which amounted to nil (2015: nil).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. YANG Zhiqgiang (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Deputy Chairman of the Board)
Mr. CHEN Dexin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHANG Zhong
Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT
(resigned on 13 June 2016)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN
(resigned on 31 January 2017)

Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT resigned as an executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 13
June 2016 to pursue his personal interest and commitments.

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN resigned as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 31
January 2017 due to his own decision to devote more time to his
personal commitment.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, at every annual general meeting of the Company
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Mr. Zhang Zhong and Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or letter
of appointment with the Company with a term or revised term
ending on 31 December 2019 or the date on which he shall retire
from office in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company and the Listing Rules and not having been re-elected
or his service contract or appointment is terminated before that.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors being proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2016, none of the directors and the chief
executives of the Company had any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which are
required: (a) to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV and the SFO (including
interests or short positions which he is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed“ Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2016 were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company granted to any of the directors
or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for those disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, no contracts, transactions or
arrangements of significance, to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries were
a party and in which a director of the Company or entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2016.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
potential liabilities of directors and officers of the Company to
third parties arising out of their corporate activities. This permitted
indemnity provision was in force for the benefit of the directors of
the Company during the financial year ended 31 December
2016, and remains to be in force as at the date of this Report of
Directors.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Further details of the Scheme are disclosed in note
30 to the financial statements.

There were no share options of the Company outstanding at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2016.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEERE

EEREAGHZESRS

BRTXFERERS | —EmREEN R
FERIFREMESE » AQ7 - ANEAF
HERQBDREEMNEQXARETBEAD
AESYHEESAHENERERNBHERE
BEABBEZEREGN RERNTH-

EEEY

BE-B—AF+=A=t—ALFE X
AAVMTIRFEEASREERTHE
BH2BREMEEHH RBHAL -

BEFZRERX

ARREHAESKESABELZHSBRER
B2 S RET A RER T A REF 0 H =K
ENEE AIAUEFNRERXEERE-R
—RETZA=+-BENBBRFEREN
BEAESEREEANAER -

BiEsTE

ARBRLBREE (518 mEAEE
ERREETEM2AERSREEREYED
KRB o T8 2 H b e 15 70 B 5 SR MY &30

W -

BEZZ—R"E+ZA=+—HLEEXRHE
B WMEAQAT S KRTEZBERE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 =& — X F %




74

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEERE

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to any director or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (i) had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO; or (ii)
were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying the right to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or
any options in respect of such capital.

Long position in the shares of the Company

FERRER

RZZB-XRE+ZA=+—H AR FME
AESHRSITHRAEMAM  THAL>G R
RRB RGO RAEERD P EERER SR
BEIRkHIEIBMHAZT TR AR A FREFZLCH
RZEHEIKR - (i) BERNEEEENE
BAATREAERTEARBDRRAERE
ZAEMERIRAEES%SH U L2 RN ZE
RS iz A2 10T A8 A B IR A

RAEDBDRMD 2H R

Number of shares  Percentage of the

which may be total number of
Capacity/nature Number of converted from shares in issue
Name of shareholder Note  of interest shares held PSCS (Note 3) (%) (Note 2)
KRARB A EEBRTRS
RESAHG BEZADL
a1 Wi 56/ EEtE FrEROBE ROHE (KHEE3) (%) (M &£2)
Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd* ©) Interest of a controlled 3,263,022,857 8,466,120,000 269.59%
EIEERDABERAF corporation
TEEERR
Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) (1 Interest of a controlled 3,263,022,857 8,466,120,000 269.59%
Resources Holdings Limited corporation
¢)I&E (FB)ERERERAA TREEER
Jinchuan (BVI) Limited (1)&(3) Interest of a controlled 3,263,022,857 8,466,120,000 269.59%
2BV BRAF corporation/
Beneficial owner
ZEAEER
ERfEA
Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited Beneficial owner 1,872,226,377 N/A 43.03%
NBV)IERAF EREEA TER
Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited Beneficial owner 855,874,372 N/A 19.67%
ENBVIERAT ERBEEA TER
Jinchuan (BVI) 3 Limited Beneficial owner 534,922,108 N/A 12.29%
£ JI(BVIIERA R ERBEEA TEA

*  For identification purposes only
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£ )IIEERMHERA A (Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*) directly owns
100% of the issued share capital of Jinchuan Group (Hongkong)
Resources Holdings Limited which in turn owns 100% of the
issued share capital of Jinchuan (BVI) Limited which owns 100%
of the issued share capital of Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited, Jinchuan
(BVI) 2 Limited and Jinchuan (BVI) 3 Limited. Therefore, Jinchuan
Group Co., Ltd*, Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited and Jinchuan (BVI) Limited are deemed to have an interest
in 11,729,142,857 shares under the SFO.

The calculation is based on the number of shares of the Company
as a percentage of the total number of issued shares of the
Company (i.e. 4,350,753,051) as at 31 December 2016.

Jinchuan (BVI) Limited directly holds PSCS in the amount of
US$1,085.4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$8,466.1
million) which may be converted into 8,466,120,000 shares of the
Company at an initial conversion price of HK$1.00. Under the
SFO, Jinchuan (BVI) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
8,466,120,000 shares of the Company underlying the PSCS.

Save as disclosed below, none of the Directors is a director or
employee of a company which had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.
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Name of Director

Mr. Yang Zhigiang
Mr. Zhang Sanlin
Mr. Chen Dexin

Name of Director

Mr. Yang Zhigiang
Mr. Zhang Sanlin
Mr. Chen Dexin
Mr. Zhang Zhong

Name of Director

Mr. Yang Zhigiang
Mr. Zhang Sanlin
Mr. Zhang Zhong

*

Posts held in Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*

Chairman and director
Vice President and director
Vice President

Posts held in Jinchuan Group
(Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited

Chairman and director

Director

Director

General manager and director

Posts held in each of Jinchuan (BVI)
Limited, Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited,
Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited and Jinchuan
(BVI) 3 Limited

Director

Director

Director

For identification purpose only
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, so far as is
known to any director or chief executive, no other person (i) had
interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying the right to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any
options in respect of such capital.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 77.2% (2015: 86.7%) of the total sales
for the year and sales to the largest customer amounted to
21.4% (2015: 25.7%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 67.7% (2015: 48.1%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
amounted to 36.4% (2015: 20.4%).

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a
director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers for the year ended 31 December
2016, save that a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Jinchuan
Group was one of the five largest customers of the Group (2015:
save that Jinchuan Group was the largest customer of the
Group).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in making mandatory contributions for its staff in Hong
Kong and staff retirement fund for those staff in the South Africa,
the DRC and Zambia. Details of the Group’s retirement benefit
scheme for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the directors of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group throughout the
year ended 31 December 2016.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out
by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Board, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics as well
as the recommendations of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee of the Board.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 20 June
2012 and a share incentive scheme on 2 June 2015 as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees. Details of the share
option scheme adopted on 20 June 2012 is set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Golden Harbour, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
purchased corporate bonds issued by Jinchuan Group in a series
of on-market transactions conducted between 30 June 2016 and
7 July 2016 with a total nominal value of RMB27,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$4,049,008) at an aggregate
consideration of RMB25,661,250 (equivalent to approximately
US$3,848,245).

As Jinchuan Group is the controlling shareholder of the
Company, Jinchuan Group is therefore a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
abovementioned purchase of corporate bonds constituted
connected transactions of the Company. These transactions
were subject to reporting and announcement requirements but
were exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BEEERE

N BR

AEEZEREFWRRIBESETREEL
B BEENENETE -

ARAREEZHFWIHESEREZELALT
MEEE - ERRR - mETLRRARZBIE
URESEHFHRRECZESNEEME -

ARBERZE-—ZFEXNAZ+BHERMPBER
EFEIRAR-ZE—EF A -HEMRME
BiztE > UmESEREERESRMERE - B
CE-—EXRBZTHERANBRAET &R
BERGE M RERHMEEI0 ©

REANRERE

REAQRDTNEZAHENRBESSR
HE - RARERH  ARFERFRE LR
B2 RERDRARBEBHITRN25% 225

DNREFRE -

BEXS

ARRZ2EWBAREBRR_-F—REX
A=tHEZE-—A"FLtAtRHPBEZESRD
2 LR STRERT)IKRERT2ARES
HEEAZEA ARM27,000,0007T (FHERK
4,049,008%7t) - MAER ARME25,661,250
JU (FHE R 4I3,848,2455% 7T) o

HREEBAFARAZEZERRR  MRE
EHRA R)IEEBAREZBEEANL
o FP2BEQRBESBRADA ZEE
Re BZERZABTHRBEELERELCE
BRBTBEYRRMERE -

[
A
[
bl
ﬂ?
Hu
b=n|

ANNUAL REPORT 2016




18

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERG

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions which were subject to
reporting and announcement requirements but were exempt from
the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement.

(i)

(ii)

Pursuant to the license agreement in relation to office
premises (the “2013 License Agreement”) that the Golden
Harbour (as licensee) entered into with Golden Wealth
International Trading Limited (“GWL” as licensor) on 31
December 2013, the Group leased office premises from
GWL for the period from 1 January 2014 to 30 April 2016.
GWL is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Jinchuan
Group, and thus a connected person of the Company. The
transactions contemplated under the 2013 License
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules. In such respect, the
Group paid rental expenses of approximately US$154,000
for the 4 months ended 30 April 2016 which did not exceed
the annual cap for 2016 of US$180,000. Details of these
continuing connected transactions are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2013.

On 16 May 2016, GWL (as licensee) entered into the
license agreement (the “2016 License Agreement”) with
Golden Grand Investment Limited (“GGL”, as licensor), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to
which GGL has agreed to license to GWL the office
premises for a term form 16 May 2016 to 31 March 2019.
The transactions contemplated under 2016 the License
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules. In such respect,
the Group received rental income of approximately
US$216,000 for the period ended 31 December 2016 which
did not exceed the annual cap for 2016 of US$260,000.
Details of these continuing connected transactions are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 16 May
2016.
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During the year under review, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions which were subject to report,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement.

(i)

On 2 December 2013, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (“2013 Agreement”) with Jinchuan
Group in relation to the trading of mineral and metal
products between the Group and Jinchuan Group and its
subsidiaries (for the purpose of these continuing connected
transactions, excluding the Group) for a renewal period from
1 January 2014 to 31 December 2016. Jinchuan Group is a
connected persons of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the 2013 Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules. In such respect, the Group recorded sales
to Jinchuan Group and its joint venture in aggregate of
US$26.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2016
which did not exceed the annual cap for 2016 of US$1,500
million. Details of these continuing connected transactions
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 2
December 2013 and in the circular of the Company dated
11 December 2013.

On 2 December 2015, Golden Harbour entered into an
agreement with Lanzhou Jinchuan for the sale and
purchase of cobalt hydroxide produced by Ruashi Mining
(“2015 Cobalt Agreement”). On 15 June 2016, Golden
Harbour and Lanzhou Jinchuan entered into a
supplemental agreement supplementing the 2015 Cobalt
Agreement (“2016 Cobalt Supplemental Agreement”).
Lanzhou Jinchuan is a company indirectly held as to
approximately 99% by Jinchuan Group, and thus a
connected person of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the 2016 Cobalt Supplemental
Agreement (as supplemented by the 2016 Cobalt
Supplemental Agreement) constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules. In
such respect, the Group recorded sales of US$45.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016 which did not
exceed the annual cap for 2016 of US$106.0 million.
Details of these continuing connected transactions are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 2
December 2015 and 15 June 2016 and the circulars of the
Company dated 21 December 2015 and 15 July 2016.

All the above continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2016 have been reviewed by the
independent non-executive directors of the Company. The
independent non-executive directors of the Company have
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have been
entered into:

(a)
(b)

()

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

in accordance with the respective agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Group as a whole.
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The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors have
issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
for the year ended 31 December 2016 in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Other than as disclosed above, no contracts, transactions or
arrangements of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or any entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group has no significant event after the reporting period that
need to be disclosed.

AUDITOR

During the year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) were the
auditors of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Deloitte as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

YANG Zhigiang
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 20 March 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set
out on pages 90 to 179, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS ERETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional HEETSEESBERMNEXHE 58
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the ARG EUBERRNBIZEBEENSE-
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These EEEHERARMETERGSVEHRERR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the HESRBETEEN KM SYELS
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our HIRHEBNER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RRETER B EtnAHRARETSRETRE

Depreciation/amortisation of property, plant and equipment and mineral rights for mining operations
(“Mining Assets”)
RBXBITAYE BERREARBER ([FRELE]) WITE #Y

We identified the depreciation/amortisation of mining Our procedures in relation to depreciation/amortisation
assets calculated using the units of production (“UOP”) of the mining assets included:

method as a key audit matter due to the significance of {4t ¥IRIEEEMITE M THREFEIE

the balance to the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income, combined with the

significant management judgement and estimation . \Working with our internal industry expert to examine

associated with determining the mineral reserves. the mining plan prepared by the Group’s experts on

HRRBEEAGAGSERREMEZAKRERNE extraction of estimated proved and probable ore

RER MEtBEFEEHESLEEEBRNE AHE R reserves throughout the life of the mines, and

fHst MBI ERBEEENITE i (REEE checking the consistency of estimating mineral

2 (UOP)) %=:tE) BHEEASEETE1E o reserves, notably changes in the geology of the
reserves and assumptions used in determining the
economic feasibility of the reserves used in the
mining plan to these reserves estimates.
ERMABOTEERHERERREEERAR
BERRPARREERBVBEOMTHEMRR
MRS & WRBERZEBWA MG #ERET 2
HFT A A9 B A st 5 AR — B - BRI SRR
R ANEERENLE T AR



Key audit matter

RREITER

As explained in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the depreciation and amortisation of the
mining assets for the year ended 31 December 2016
amounted to US$46,772,000 and US$10,973,000
respectively. The management of the Group assesses
the UOP rates against the estimated reserve base and
operating and development plan regularly taking into
account the recent economic production and technical
information about each mine from the Group’s experts.
The UOP rates of depreciation and amortisation can
fluctuate from initial estimates when there are significant
changes in any of the factors or assumptions used in
estimating mineral reserves.

MEZE M IERRMTAFTRIE > KBEEEWNITE #H
EREBE-E—ARE+-A=+t—-HLEEEDA
46,772,000% Tt} 10,973,000% T - EEEEEESE
EEEERNESESIEENTCHEBELEEREME
B EHEEHHEER R ECLHAEFTENUOPH
Z o LM EEFEN T MEZRBRHREAE
B o IERESEMUOPLL RO AL AL (A5T B TS -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EOAHRARETSRETRE

+ Assessing the Group’s ability to achieve the
production level by reference to the Group’s
historical performance and future outlook of the
mining industry.
SZERENBEVBRBARFBEENRRAR
T EEEEREEKFHEES -

» Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
UOP rates and recalculating the depreciation and
amortisation of the Mining Assets.

MG EEETENUOPLL RSB I EH A E R
EEENTERBES -
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Key audit matter

RREITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EOAHRARETSRETRE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, mineral rights and exploration and evaluation

assets (“Non-current Assets”)

¥ BERRE BEBURBERTFEEE ([HRBEE]) R B ETFE

We identified impairment assessment of Non-current
Assets as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balances to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, combined with the significant management
judgement and estimation associated with determining
the recoverable amounts in the impairment assessment.

HAFRBEEARAERGSVBHRRNEAESR
0 EEERERT LAY AT W £ 5RS  E IR fE M E K H
Kfhst - B MR BERDEENRENERERET
El

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment,
minerals rights and exploration and evaluation assets as
at 31 December 2016 amounted to US$688,100,000,
US$478,007,000 and US$181,630,000 respectively and
are allocated to five cash generating units (“CGUSs”) in
respect of the Group’s mining operations in Zambia and
Democratic Republic of the Congo as per note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ME- -BERRE BERURBRRIGEEER =
E-RE+ZA=+—BWIREES 5#688,100,000
3= JT ~ 478,007,000 T }2181,630,000% 7T » W4 &
MmN 4 BRAERE T REERENE
EERARREANBNRBERE THNREREELE
Bu(REEEEMN] -

Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of Non-current Assets included:

RS ERBEENWRENEATHRFELE

Understanding the Group’s impairment
assessment process, including the impairment
assessment model adopted, CGU allocation
and assumptions used.
THESRENRENGBRRE  EFEKMNRET
RS  REELEEBUNDER AR

Working with our internal industry expert to
carry out, among others, the following
procedures:

EEMABNTEERBERT (HPEE)T
PR

> evaluating the appropriateness of the model
used to calculate the recoverable amounts;
HHAUGTERNE S ENER NS EEEDLFT
& ;

> assessing the reasonableness of the
discount rates by benchmarking against
independent data;

BN FRE8BAEETMUBRENEGEY



Key audit matter
HREAER

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
management of the Group performed impairment
assessment of these CGUs due to recovery in copper
and cobalt prices, successful implementation of cost
saving plan as well as delay in certain production plan,
details of which are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements. The recoverable amounts of these
CGUs are determined using value in use calculations
based on the management’s cash flow forecasts in which
key assumptions on future production level, future copper
and cobalt prices and discount rates can significantly
affect the discounted cash flows.
BE-Z—XRF+-A=+—BLFE HREEK
HEQDA W BRRRAHNBRRE TEETEF
® HMEEEEEBHZEREELENHTREN
i FEERGEMBRERMNIS - ZEREEEE
VWAKWESENEREREBENESREME (EF
BHRERREEKF - ARFAERHERBERTHT
ERER HUHERAESREBHNEATE) RE
REEFEEE -

Based on the impairment assessment on each of the
CGUs, as described in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group reversed an
impairment loss of US$67,765,000 on mineral rights and
recognised an impairment loss of US$14,017,000 on
exploration and evaluation assets during the year ended
31 December 2016.

RIBRE W RRMASAMMZIEREEE BV
B REE-F—XE+=-A=+-ALF
B BE5EEEEMNEEESRSRERRE67,765000
ERRBUARKFLEEFRSRERE14,017,0003%

JC ©
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EOAHRARETSRETRE

> evaluating if the management’s estimate of
future production level is consistent with the
reserve estimates and mining plan prepared
by the Group’s internal expert; and
HEREBRAREEKTEWMEFTEREMTTR
BEEBRIBERARBKET 2 —BEEH
FE R

> assessing the appropriateness of future
copper and cobalt prices by reference to
entity-specific historical information and
market data.
2EZREERNBEEMNR TS HIBRTMEAR
RIERHBEHREN

+ Evaluating the historical accuracy of the
management’s cash flow forecasts by
comparing the historical cash flow forecasts
with the actual performance; and
FRUBLTHERERAVEERRBANLER &
EEEBAENRERERMNEREFELTE S &

* Re-performing the sensitivity analysis on the
key inputs performed by the entity to evaluate
the magnitude of impact on the recoverable
amounts.
ENHTEBERUYTIEGARBETHHRE
D LTI E S ENZRERE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

H &
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mak Chun Bon.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeEnAEMEEEmER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

2016 2015
ZE-RF —E-RF
Notes Us$’000 US$ 000
Bt & FER FTEx
Revenue W= 5 364,845 470,691
Cost of sales SHE KA (362,488) (462,637)
Gross profit EF 2,357 8,054
Other gains and losses Hir s R &8 7 (2,273) (3,922)
Selling and distribution costs HER D HRAR (23,440) (28,453)
Administrative expenses THAX (20,925) (26,898)
Reversal of impairment loss REEEEE
(impairment loss) CREEE) 8 53,748 (312,264)
Finance income B RS U A 686 449
Finance costs B 75 R AR 9 (6,832) (6,603)
Profit (loss) before taxation MR RF (E18) 10 3,321 (369,637)
Income tax credit FrIERiiEeE 12 2,993 13,821
Profit (loss) for the year FAR=F (E5E) 6,314 (355,816)
Other comprehensive income: Hh2EUW A :
Item that may be reclassified HETGEFTIEZE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmzIEE
Fair value change on cash flow ReERgHHz A ¥E
hedges, net of income tax =8 HIBRATEBH 270 24
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEBEBRA
for the year 270 24
Total comprehensive income AEEZEHKRA (X)) £%
(expense) for the year 6,584 (355,792)
Profit (loss) for the year THALTEIEFR
attributable to: wmA (EE)
Owners of the Company KARER A 8,347 (291,767)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (2,033) (64,049)
6,314 (355,816)
Total comprehensive income TIALTEEZEBA
(expense) attributable to: (FAxX) %% :
Owners of the Company RATEEBA 8,617 (291,743)
Non-controlling interests RS (2,033) (64,049)
6,584 (355,792)
Earnings (loss) per share BRER (HE) 13
Basic (US cents) ER (EA4L) 0.19 (6.71)
Diluted (US cents) 158 (Z4L) 0.07 6.71)
JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD #® JIl & BRERBRRDA



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

5]

MR ER

At 31 December 2016
R=Z—AF+=A=+-8

2016 2015
—E-XE —EB-FHE
Notes US$’000 US$’ 000
FFaE FEx FE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BERZE 14 688,100 689,879
Mineral rights EERE 15 478,007 421,215
Exploration and evaluation assets ~ #)i% & sFEEE 16 181,630 172,685
Other non-current assets HithERBEE 17 18,578 22,195
1,366,315 1,305,974
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 18 109,066 102,961
Trade and other receivables BESRHEMEWRIE 19 104,395 118,772
Held for trading investments BEEERSE 22 3,705 =
Derivative financial instruments fTESmITA 23 219 1,062
Restricted cash deposits FREREFR 24 - 4,182
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREES 24 96,402 47,422
313,787 274,399
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B S RHEMENATRIE 25 71,764 92,907
Amount due to an intermediate FEAS R R BR D B FRIE
holding company 21 4,331 2,615
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary R R B2 T KIE 21 744 744
Bank borrowings IRITIER 26 83,333 16,437
Short-term provisions S HA R 27 5,416 8,286
Tax payable FE 18 338 1,927
165,926 122,916
Net current assets RBEEFE 147,861 151,483
Total assets less current HWEERTRBAEES
liabilities 1,514,176 1,457,457
Non-current liabilities FkREBEE
Bank borrowings RITERK 26 311,222 257,000
Long-term provisions RAEAEME 27 27,303 26,184
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 28 288,107 293,313
Amount due to an intermediate FEAS R IE AR 2 Bl TR IE
holding company 21 115,000 115,000
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary  FE{J[E & [ B A A1 7B 21 5,000 5,000
746,632 696,497
Net assets EEFE 767,544 760,960
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBRRE

At 31 December 2016
RZZE—XRFE+=ZA=+—H

2016 2015
—EB-—XE —E-—RE
Notes US$’000 US$’000
M &E FER FER
Capital and reserves B AR
Share capital &N 29 5,578 5,578
Perpetual subordinated K R OR AR O] 2 BR 7
convertible securities 31 1,089,084 1,089,084
Reserves e (394,079) (402,696)
Equity attributable to owners of the ZA2AT]#HE ABEER
Company 700,583 691,966
Non-controlling interests FEE RS 66,961 68,994
Total equity SRR 767,544 760,960

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 179 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
20 March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

YANG Zhiqgiang
BEaE
DIRECTOR
EE

BNEOR17TIENGFES U BHRRELESS
REZ—tHF=F=-T+HHLERKER
WHUTATRAEESE

CHEN Dexin
REE
DIRECTOR
EE

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQA



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FEERmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTHE AR
Perpetual
stbordinated Accumulated Non-
convertible Share  Translation ~ Hedging Other profits controlling
Share capital ~ securities ~ premium reserve reserve  resenves (losses) Total  interests Total
KARR il
kx  TERRS  ROEE  BERRE  WMRRE  AHGR (E8) Sit FERRR  £RR
USS000  USSO0  USGO00  USSO00  USS000 - USFOOD  USSooo  USS00  USSolo LSS0
0 i1 T 3 e i1 T 3 e e
(Note)
(&)
At 1 January 2015 HE-1E-B-A 5518 1,089,084 294,19 (2384) (294 o) 19710 983,709 18043 116752
Loss for the year Engg = - - - - - (e (on76n) (4049 (365816
Othercomprehensiveinoome.~~~ AEEEB2ANA
for the year - - - - U - - U - U
Tolal comprehensive income REERENA
(expense)for the year (B2 a8 - - - - U - (TR ) MY (5T)
At 31 December 2015 R-8-RE12R=1-A 5518 1,089,084 294,19% (2384) (20 o2ty @205 69196 66,994 760,960
Proft loss) for the year Eighl (&) - - - - - - 8347 8347 (2089) 6,314
Other comprehensiveincome.~—~~ AEEEBRANA
for the year - - - - pi(l - - V(I - pAll
Tola comprehensiv income REEREYA (BR)
(expense) for the year g = - - - mn - 8347 8617 (2039) 6,564
At 31 December 2016 R-B-7E12R=1-A 5518 1,089,084 294,196 (23,844 - (072 (6370) 700563 66,91 767 54
Note: Other reserves comprised (i) the excess of the nominal value of e HtREEeEE(ON -2 =FEREEEE

the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group
reorganisation (“Combination”) in 2013 over the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor and (ii) the
issue of 1,595,880,000 shares of the Company with a fair value
of US$206,646,000 and the issue of perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (“Convertible Securities”) of the Company
with a fair value of US$1,089,084,000 on 14 November 2013 in
exchange for the entire equity interests in Jin Rui Mining
Investment Limited (“Jin Rui”) and the settlement of all
shareholder’s loans outstanding by Jin Rui to Jintai Mining
Investment Limited (“Jintai”) amounting to the principal amount of
ZAR9,193,369,000 (equivalent to US$895,000,000).

HTEHDMEBHBATRAG 2EHE
BEAQAIMEAKNBREMZTRAZEE
MEBERHNKR=Z—=F+—HF+H0AE%T
1,595,880,000% 2 ¥ {& £206,646,0003% 7t #Y
D F) B D LA K 3% 1T A F{E £1,089,084,000
ETHAQAB KRB ITERBREHF ([T
EBED O UKWESHEBEREERAT (£
) 22MRAEDS  UREEEHRERESR
BEREERATV (R NWABEREER
REFHA£%E9,193,369,000F kB4 (EER
895,000,000% 7T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

2016 2015
ZE-RF —E-IfF
US$’000 US$’000
Ep x5
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K SEE)
Profit (loss) before taxation MRE AR (&) 3,321 (369,637)
Adjustments for: KPR
Finance income g T ON (686) (449)
Finance costs B # A AN 6,832 6,603
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERSZESE
equipment 98 47
Change in fair value of derivative financial fTA€@MTENFEEE
instruments, net HEE 1,113 (385)
Change in fair value of held for trading BEEEREATEEY
investments 143 -
Provisions for rehabilitation and BB RRREAZNRE
environmental expenditure 2,830 6,580
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- - BERREINE
equipment 46,888 50,003
Amortisation of mineral rights TEEREEE 10,973 7,496
(Reversal of impairment loss) impairment © R EERE
loss recognised in respect of mineral CREEERE)
rights HEEE (67,765) 129,386
Impairment loss recognised in respect of CEREHERTFLEE
exploration and evaluation assets REEE 14,017 182,878
Utilisation of rehabilitation trust fund FEREEETRES - 19
Operating cash flows before movements in Kt & EE S B BHAT 2 K&
working capital RERE 17,764 12,541
Increase in inventories FEEM (6,105) (4,925)
Decrease in trade and other receivables Z 5 REMEWRFIERD 14,377 17,954
Decrease in royalty prepayment BRESERAEENRIBRD 2,446 1,968
(Decrease) increase in trade and other S RHEMEATKIE
payables O 4) 18 hn (21,143) 2,084
Increase in rehabilitation trust fund BIEETEESEM (12) =
Increase in held for trading investments BEEEREEM (3,848) -
Cash generated from operations REXKMBERSE 3,479 29,622
Income tax paid 2 EH (3,802) (7,030)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM CREE (BR) FERSE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (323) 22,592




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GAReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

2016 2015
—EB-RE —E—FE
US$’000 US$’000
Ep e
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETH
Decrease in restricted cash deposits ZREREEFTHD 4,182 5,446
Interest received 2 WF R 686 449
Repayment from a Democratic Republic ~ BRIRREHFEH
of Congo (“DRC”) state-owned power (HR()DEBEHLQT
company ZEX 1,183 1,336
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEW¥* - BERREMEBIE
and equipment 365 22
Repayment from ultimate holding company B &K ER A E 2B - 3
Payment made on rehabilitation and EERBRREBEHRE
environmental provision (4,581) (2,880)
Expenditure on exploration and evaluation #)i#% & L EER X
assets (22,962) (18,055)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BE¥ ¥ - M=K &RE (32,519) (93,610)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZBHAEESTFE
ACTIVITIES (53,646) (107,289)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES A& E B
New bank borrowings raised IR IT AR 207,789 134,398
Advance from an intermediate holding RE—BEFBEERAA
company ZEBR 1,716 9,766
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary m—ERARKE AR Z
B - (15,014)
Repayment to ultimate holding company  EB&RZER DA F 2B - (58)
Interest paid 2FFE (19,885) (11,568)
(Decrease) increase in trade invoices BESERRRRE (RL) 1B
discounting facility (3,871) 2,375
Repayments of bank borrowings BERTER (82,800) (47,863)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METBREREFHE
ACTIVITIES 102,949 72,036
NET INCREASE (DECREASE)INCASH RE&RBELSZSEEBFHEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Om4) B8 48,980 (12,661)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FUREREASEEER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 47,422 60,083
CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHEEND OF HX&H&%{EIEHR
THE YEAR 96,402 47,422
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERBESEHRBDIM
EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITEBRKRES 96,402 47,422




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e M TRk &L

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

1. GENERAL

The Company is a public company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Its parent is Jinchuan (BVI) Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is
£)IIEBRMBAER2AF (Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd) (“*JCG”)
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)).
The addresses of registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information in the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are the mining
operations and the trading of mineral and metal products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
United States dollars (“US$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to ifrss issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time:

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure initiative

—REHR

AAARRAERESEMALIZAIRLD
8 HROREBHESXZAARAF
(TBEZ P ) £ - QBB E)I(BVI)
BRAR (RNEBELESEMMKL) K
HEREZRLAAAZ)IEBROBERA
A ([JCG D) (RAEARAME ([HE )
AMAIL) c ARBMNEMPEER TR
EXRBHFBIRFHRO AT ER T D
W -

ARABBREERRAT » XA F R EH
BT (BB AEE]) cEEXBR/K
BEBRABERETBERES -

REMBHRERUAETZN  ERTBAE

DNEUEEE -

P& P 3R] R A4S 7T B PR B 35 e o5
2 Al ([ B PR B % 3R &5 22 Rl 1)

T2 4F BE 58 1l 4 3z B PR Bt B R o
Rz 85T
FEBORAFEERERUTEERS
sHERIZE S S MM 2 BB RS 2 Al
Z1BE]

BRET AR BT KB

Amendments to IAS 16  Clarification of acceptable
and IAS 38 methods of depreciation
and amortisation
Amendments to IAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer plants
and IAS 41

Amendments to IFRS 10, Investment entities: Applying
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 the consolidation exception

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations

Annual improvements to
IFRSs 2012 - 2014 cycle

Amendments to IFRSs

BREHERIE16%R MATEANATEREE
G-k Pl
2B

EReERE16EK
BIPR &R F415E

BX  EEREY

A

ERTBREEAFE0% . REER RARSHR

BRI BRE LR 125

REREEAF285

2B

ERTBREENENT  WRGEERREZER

2B RE

BRHBREEN BT  ARNBREER
“R-CFZ
“E-RmEESL
EEYE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

The application of the above amendments to IFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

IFRS 9 Financial instruments’

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers and the related
amendments’

IFRS 16 Leases?

Amendments to IFRS 2  Classification and
measurement of
share-based payment
transactions’

Applying IFRS 9 “Financial
instruments” with IFRS 4
“Insurance contracts”’

Amendments to IFRS 4

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets
and IAS 28 between an investor and its
associate or joint venture?
Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure initiative*
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of deferred
tax assets for unrealised

losses*

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017

2,

REMBRERNE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAHTRLETBEBRMEHRE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

IFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9
was subsequently amended in 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for
general hedge accounting. Another revised version of IFRS
9 was issued in 2015 mainly to include (a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and (b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measurement category
for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9 are described below:

. All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of IAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement” are subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, are
measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

R ([EBRFIREEA ) (&)
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R-ZEZNFEMNWERR KR EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAHTRLETBEBRMEHRE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL B ([ BB RS SRS 2ERI ) (&
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

(Continued)
IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued) ff MBREERNESR €M I A
V-1

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in
the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss
was presented in profit or loss.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements
retain the three types of hedge accounting. However,
greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of
transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically
broadening the types of instruments that qualify for
hedging instruments and the types of risk components
of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge
accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has
been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an
‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of
hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s
risk management activities have also been
introduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERM T

WRE 7

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Except for the potential early recognition of credit losses
based on the expected loss model in relation to the Group’s
financial assets measured at amortised costs, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the adoption of IFRS 9 in
the future may not have other significant impact on
amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities based on an analysis of the Group’s
financial instruments as at 31 December 2016.

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede IAS
17 “Leases”, introduces a single lessee accounting model
and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for
all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under IFRS
16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying leased asset
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make
lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee should recognise
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the
lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the
lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion
and presents them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the
right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially
measured on a present value basis. The measurement
includes non-cancellable lease payments and also includes
payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the
lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly different from the
lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating
leases under the predecessor standard, IAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, IFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for
those two types of leases differently.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As set out in note 33, total lease commitment of the Group
in respect of certain of its equipment, premises and
vehicles as at 31 December 2016 was amounting to
approximately HK$2,865,000. The directors of the
Company do not expect the adoption of IFRS 16 as
compared with the current accounting policy would result in
significant impact on the Group’s results but it is expected
that certain portion of these commitments will be required
to be recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Other
than that, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the effect until the Group performs a detailed
review.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of another new and revised IFRSs will have no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial
instruments and held for trading investments that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHHEE

(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 “Share-based payment”,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17
“Lease”, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in IAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in IAS 36 “Impairment
of assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved

when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFTHEHEE

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time
all the following conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

. the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

For all sales of minerals, the selling price is determined on
a provisional basis at the date of sale, as the final selling
price is subject to the grades of copper and cobalt in the
Group’s copper and cobalt products and movements in
copper and cobalt prices up to the date of final pricing,
normally 30 days to 90 days after initial booking. Revenue
on provisionally priced sales is recognised based on the
estimated grades of copper and cobalt in the Group’s
copper and cobalt products and the estimated average
copper and cobalt prices up to the date of final pricing.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than freehold land
and construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at historical cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Freehold land is stated at cost and is not depreciated.

Construction in progress, which represents assets under
construction, is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
When the assets are completed and ready for intended
use, the carrying amount of the assets will be reclassified
to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Mining assets, including buildings and infrastructure, shafts
and mine development costs, are depreciated to their
residual values based on estimated proved and probable
ore reserves using the unit of production (“UOP”) method.
For mine development costs, please refer to ‘stripping
costs’ section below.

Depreciation for other property, plant and equipment (other
than freehold land, mining assets and construction in
progress) are depreciated using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives to their residual value,
which vary between 4 to 10 years.

The estimated mineral reserves, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFTHEHEE

(Continued)
Stripping cost

Stripping costs incurred in the development phase of a
surface mine are capitalised as mine development costs.
Depreciation of the stripping costs, on the same basis as
the related mines, commences when the mines commence
production. To the extent that stripping costs incurred in the
production phase of a surface mine (“production stripping
costs”) provide improved access to ore, such costs are
recognised as a non-current asset (“stripping activity
asset”) when certain criteria are met, and are capitalised as
mine development costs and are subsequently depreciated
based on estimated proved and probable ore reserves
using the UOP method once the mine comes into
commercial production. The costs of normal ongoing
operational stripping activities are accounted for as
inventories.

Mineral rights

Mineral rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Mineral rights
include the cost of acquiring mining licences. Mineral rights
are amortised based on estimated proved and probable ore
reserves using the UOP method.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

I ERBL A

BRABRESHEBEBRAELE 2R REATS
ERCRESHEAE - R ABRES
FIaEERMATRITE - EXEEMEE
BSHER - HERESEERRAEL
ZHERR [EEHRERAD T E
BAORMK  AIRSEMAERTEE THK
HREXRFERBDEE (HXREHE
ED  UERMCBBSMBHAR - — &
BERABRLEE ZSRAERSE
MHUOPEZ ST NEBERBANRARE
FHRITE - ERFENKEMARED
ZRAUMARIIBEFE -

mERE

R E R R R AR R 5T 85 K AR (R E RS
B - BEREEEUSRIETAIEZ
BN - RERRMATHNEERMIER
2L AUOPERT IR #EH -

AR SR T RS A
L 2 2 SR SR AR R B UM B3 o
L S A 5 P W A
800t & T RS F RS A B REE
B2 235 0 SRR R B RS
R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHHEE

(Continued)
Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Costs of exploration
are capitalised pending a determination of whether
sufficient quantities of potentially mineral reserves have
been discovered.

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of
exploration rights and the expenditures incurred in the
search for mineral resources as well as the determination
of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting those resources. Once the technical feasibility
and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral
resources in an area of interest are demonstrated, any
previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets
attributable to that area of interest are first tested for
impairment and then reclassified to either mineral rights or
property, plant and equipment under the heading of
construction in progress.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets
is reviewed at least annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired. Impairment test is
performed in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of
assets” whenever one of the following events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

. the period for which the Group has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to
be renewed; substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in
the specific area is neither budgeted nor planned;

. exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in
the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources
and the Group has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area; or

. sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from
successful development or by sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFBERE)

(Continued)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets HMFERIEEEZRE (&)
(Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever H—EEE2EEHEBLEETkE S
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable % BB R ERREERE -

amount.

Taxation 18

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently Bt IEEHEAFRIERIELERIE
payable and deferred tax. ZHBF o

Current tax BB 18

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the ENERFE AL IE AR I E N FE R B Al 5t
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as o ERENENENEGEEEEREM
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 2ENBRAEFRZIBERFHANEFR |
other comprehensive income because of items of income BErROEEMNEE 2 ERH R IR U
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years AREXER P TAEFEHBERBIR
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s A HFHIER - ANEBEZEHHEBHRAR
current tax is calculated using the tax rates that have been MEHARDERIARCER 2/ RS
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the & o

reporting period.

Deferred tax JEAEFH 1B

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences EEREIR G BREANAEERE
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in EZEREEEAUGTEERBSR 2
the consolidated financial statements and the AR EE R EEMmMER c IELERKIE
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable EE—RITEERNEREZEE -
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all BEHRIBEEREEEESUEH AT
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are R EREERE 2 ERBRAFER - 4
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference FREERBENSER -2 S (EKE
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be GERRAN) B Y ﬁ?&ﬁf;?i BAREsE
available against which those deductible temporary FEERSER R E=E5R - BIAEBIEER
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and Iﬁﬁé}ig\fg?r%ﬁﬁ;{l °

liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSFHBXE)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) WA (&)
Deferred tax (Continued) IEAL T IE (1B)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. US$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
translation reserve). A change in presentation currency is
accounted for retrospectively.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Consumable stores are valued at the lower of cost,
determined on a weighted average basis, and estimated
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling
and distribution. Obsolete and slow-moving consumable
stores are identified and are written down to their net
realisable values. Product inventories are valued at the
lower of cost, determined on a weighted average basis,
and net realisable value. Costs include direct mining costs
and directly attributable mine overheads.

Retirement benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
Payments made are dealt with as defined contribution
plans where the Group’s obligations under the schemes
are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value
of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provision for rehabilitation and environmental
expenditure

Long-term environmental obligations are provided for
based on the Group’s environmental plans, in compliance
with current environmental and regulatory requirements.

Full provision is made based on the net present value of
the estimated cost of restoring the environmental
disturbance that has occurred up to the end of the reporting
period. The estimated cost is capitalised in property, plant
and equipment as decommissioning assets and amortised
based on estimated proved and probable ore reserves
using the uop method. The estimated cost of rehabilitation
is reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate for
changes in legislation or technology and unwinding for the
time value of money. Changes in estimated costs are
added or deducted from the cost of the relevant assets in
the period such changes occurred.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFTHEHEE
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA(E)
Financial assets THEE

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified at FVTPL when the financial
assets is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEFBRE

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRIAE)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued) BAFHETAEBERZERMEE ()

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective . A—EREREERFEEMREFIA
as a hedging instrument. HETET A °

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any BAFEFAEBZ 2 EREERATE

gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in FE BN EEE2EARESERE

profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or RIERER - NEREI 2R EDEE

loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the FHEEECMEERNZEMRKRERF

financial assets and is included in the ‘other gains and B Wit ARMKBERER - A FER

losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner MizE32FT Rt 2 F RNEE

described in note 32.

Loans and receivables Bk ERRIE

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets EXREWFEIEEEEES ATEEN
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in Mo MAEERBTIZREZFTESH
an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade EE  BREREWRE (BRESZRHEM
and other receivables, restricted cash deposits and bank FERRIE  SREBRESFRURBITE
balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using 8RN IR S) A B IRRIZR A 12 8 85 Al AR
the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. EEMBEEEE -

Impairment of financial assets TREERE

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed EREE (MERERATFEAEGZZE
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting MEE) REREHRFTEE S RAED
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired R NMEEBRBERIAYNLSER SR
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or EERBRE—BYIZEENH  BHRE
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the ZEFTRRBEESFTEZSINTE Bl
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the EEEARE -

investment have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of BMEEMEREEMS  BREZEE

impairment could include: BEURIE:

«  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or s BITARBEFAIBABRENTKR
counterparty; or 5,8

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in . BN MEFEEENIEX AR E
interest or principal payments; or RASRIE ;
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116 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXRETBEE
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a
collective basis even if they were assessed not to be
impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEBERGE

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA(E)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments EHIEERIKR KT A

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a HEEERRT2eMABERRAT
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as B DREBENZHEZRE - E2REE
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual ERATIACEZBATHAENE
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and I °

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments IRATE

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a BRATEEZREEREEREENTTA

residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all HE8ER2RRERZEMAEN -

of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity, EEEEMETZ2RATEREWERE

are recognised at the proceeds received/fair values HIECRAQAFEREZERITHRARE

recognised, net of direct issue costs. o

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities KA R AR RR % 5

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities are KARBABRRESFSTERASEEHE

convertible into a fixed number of ordinary shares of the WARDNBREBER  TEEEREE IR

Company and include no contractual obligation for the FRRAEB2ER - BREAREE @R

Group to deliver cash or another financial asset to the BEARNRESHMEMEE > KK

holders or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities BEARBReHEESSREENEGNE

with the holders under conditions that are potentially F-ZEBLFPEARKIE L%

unfavourable to the Group. These securities are classified HRBTHBNWAFERR  HERT

as equity instruments and are initially recognised at their BHEE -

fair value on the date of issuance and are not subsequently

remeasured.

Financial liabilities TRIEE

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities TREEIEARATEFABRZE

at FVTPL or other financial liabilities. mEsEEmERas-

Financial liabilities at FVTPL RAVESABEGZZERMEAE

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the MeEMEBERABFEEEINNLTEIRR

financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated EEAKRAFEFAER  BoBEAIR

as FVTPL on initial recognition. AFEFABRZEHRERE -

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: HeaTiHRtzemBEs BABHEE

=

« it has been incurred principally for the purpose of s E4XANEEENAREHRED

repurchasing in the near term; or =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

. on initial recognition it is a part of portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss incorporates any
interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the
‘other gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in note 32.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, amounts due to an intermediate holding company
and a fellow subsidiary, and bank borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXRSHBR(E

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA (&)

Derivative financial instruments TEZHT A

In the ordinary course of its operations, the Group may RABEEKBEY  AEEFTLSE
enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to TEERMI A UEBEHEMRERKE
manage its exposure to commodity price and foreign ZEREMREO o

exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date PTETRENSRITETIASGHNTLEAR
when derivative contracts are entered into and are ZATEER HERARBSHRZ
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of AFEEHTE AUEEZRAEDE
the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is EEERERER  HHTETREERE
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the AERMNEAFAIER  ARERER 2K
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging B R FEFBERERZMEEME °

instrument, in which case the timing of the recognition in
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge

relationship.

Embedded derivatives BARXSTETIR

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are WHTETEZEFRBENRENITET
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the BERFETETIAECZERRFIRIEBRB LN
definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are TAEIER BEREREFEIESAN
not closely related to those of the host contracts and the B RASEL T ZYERE > MEBEL
host contracts are not measured at FVTPL. WA FEFTABRFTE °

Hedge accounting g A

The Group designates certain derivatives, which include AEBBETEIE (BEEEERE
derivatives in respect of commodity price risk or foreign ERERSIIMNERRZITETR)IEEAH
currency risk, as hedging instruments for cash flow hedges. EREREHHFZEHPIE - BmER
Hedges of commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk B Bz 8 O BE R B 2 S R A BRSIME IR &R
are accounted for as cash flow hedges. =¥ o

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group REZEHNEERRE > AEBTHREPT
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument BEE¥ FIEE B2 BEE  WETBHEER
and the hedged item, along with its risk management EEHERHEETZIEHEPIRZZE
objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge BE o b4 BET M ¥R AEBFE
transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge FER¥ENT T B e BB AR Mt K ¥+
and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether A ERNE FIEE A ERIRERE
the hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting 2B E o

changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk.
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120 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEHBEKE

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments (Continued)
Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of ‘hedging reserve’. The
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period when the hedged
item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the
recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes
the hedging relationships, when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When
a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEFBER(E)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £®MIEE)

Derecognition (Continued) BUEER (#B)

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference REERAECREER EERAMEHE
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the EWEERRKEREREMEEBAR
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative RN ERBT 2 BB NG BHELN
gain or loss that had been recognised in other BMZER REZPER -

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only AEBERRTEE 2 EETHE - BUES
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or EREFEFEERREHREE - BUEER
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the ZeaBEsRABEHECS T REMNKE
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid Bl ZRESER - MBITRATLR
and payable is recognised in profit or loss. When equity BESHEE SREEREEERAK
instruments are issued to extinguish financial liabilities, the TEAVEEZZEE (IE) RERkER

difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liabilities and the fair value of equity instruments, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing HE

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms EHEZRREEEE 2B D AR
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards &@#ﬁﬁﬁﬁriﬁ*ﬂkﬁt HEYBEAR
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified EHE - FTEHMEE »EAKER
as operating leases. g

The Group as lessee KEEEBAHA

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense KREHENEUNESEENHHRER
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. REAX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERM T

WRE 7

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company
have identified the following judgements and key sources
of estimation uncertainty that have significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed
below.

Mineral reserves

Technical estimates of the Group’s mineral reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the subjective judgements involved in
developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to be
met before estimated mineral reserves can be designated
as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and probable mineral
reserves estimates are updated on a regular basis and take
into account recent economic production and technical
information about each mine. In addition, as production
levels and technical standards change from year to year,
the estimate of proved and probable mineral reserves also
changes. Despite the inherent imprecision in these
technical estimates, these estimates are used as the basis
for calculation of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and amortisation of mineral rights and for
assessment of impairment losses as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of mineral rights

Mining assets included within property, plant and equipment
and mineral rights are depreciated and amortised
respectively using the UOP method. The calculation of the
UORP rate of depreciation and amortisation, and therefore
the annual depreciation and amortisation charge to
operations, can fluctuate from initial estimates. This could
generally result when there are significant changes in any
of the factors or assumptions used in estimating mineral
reserves, notably changes in the geology of the reserves
and assumptions used in determining the economic
feasibility of the reserves. Estimates of proved and
probable reserves are prepared by experts in extraction,
geology and reserve determination. Assessments of the
UOP rates against the estimated reserve base and
operating and development plan are performed regularly.
Any change in estimates will increase or decrease the
inventories for the period in which the changes occur. The
depreciation and amortisation of the mining assets is
US$46,772,000 and US$10,973,000 respectively. The
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and
mineral rights are set out in notes 14 and 15, respectively.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets

Property, plant and equipment, mineral rights and
exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be fully
recoverable. If an asset’s recoverable amount is less than
the asset’s carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. Future cash flow estimates which are used to
calculate the asset’s recoverable amount are based on
expectations about future operations primarily comprising
estimates about production and sales volumes, commodity
prices, reserves, operating and rehabilitation and
restoration costs. Changes in such estimates could impact
recoverable values of these assets. Estimates are reviewed
regularly by management. Where the recoverable amount
is less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise. As at 31 December 2016, property, plant and
equipment are at carrying amount of US$688,100,000
(2015: US$689,879,000), mineral rights are at carrying
amount of US$478,007,000 (2015: US$421,215,000) and
exploration and evaluation assets are at carrying amount of
US$181,630,000 (2015: US$172,685,000).

The recoverable amount was determined on the basis of
value in use. Details of these are set out in note 8.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"EtA=1t—HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for rehabilitation and environmental
expenditure

The provision for rehabilitation and environmental costs
has been determined by the directors of the Company
based on their best estimates. The directors of the
Company estimate this liability for final reclamation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of future cash flows spending for a third
party to perform the required work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money, adjusted
for inflation and the risks specific to the liability, such that
the provision reflects the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. However,
as the effect on the land and the environment from current
mining activities becomes apparent in future periods, the
estimate of the associated costs may be subject to change
in the future. The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it properly reflects the present value of the obligation
arising from the current and past mining activities.

Recognition of revenue and inventories

Mineral and metal products are purchased and sold under
provisional pricing arrangements where final grades of
copper and cobalt in copper and cobalt products are
agreed based on third-party examination and final prices
are set on the date of final pricing. Revenues and
inventories are recognised when title and risk of the mineral
and metal products are passed to customers and from
suppliers using history of grades of copper and cobalt in
copper and cobalt products based on internal examination
statistics and estimated average price up to the date of final
pricing.

4,

FAEEHHER AT TRERE
ZEBERR (&)

BERRRAXRE
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BHEHREMHEE - AR AESHIUIA
RARBEEREAF 2 EEELMEE T
ERUE=ZSREMJFIERAEAZR
RRERETHERFE 2HBAE (RE
BIRLEA)  RARRARRTBENHE
WISEE (BRFELAR) RZAES
ERE R FE MR KA - AR
RRBEEEBRBAFMZHE R
- AEREAREESH T RREZ
FEBRNERAE AR - AKX
Rfhst BRATEBREE - BEDE
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hEkEFEZER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. BRESTTHERMETIRERE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERIR (&)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Deferred tax assets BEEHBEE
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary WA ARRESAHEESANNERERE
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable ZERPRF - BRI A TR EZRERR
profit will be available against which the deductible BEBEEE BRAETESIRHECER
temporary differences can be utilised. Recognition primarily EEBREBEEZHEEAZRKKIRME
involves judgement regarding the future performance of the HHE - ZRERAEAEFRI ZBRER
particular legal entity in which the deferred tax asset has PEARRARBAE T2 RABIEL
been recognised. A variety of other factors are also BMEEER ISP CZEEAMEZ -
evaluated in considering whether there is convincing L0 R 2R PE SR B Kl & KA R B A5 47 B SR B
evidence that it is probable that some portion or all of the £ o W B 1EE1834,447,000% 7T (=
deferred tax assets will ultimately be utilised, such as the E—FHF :31,701,000E v) BRIELE
amounts of the future taxable profit and tax planning BIEEE  FEEREEFEIRFERE
strategies. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on W o BT IR E 7 2 BREE SR HIFE28 ©
the tax losses of US$34,447,000 (2015: US$31,701,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. The
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is set out in note 28.
REVENUE 5. &
Revenue represents revenue arising from sales of goods. WRIEHEEMMEE 2WE - AEH
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as FRAZWEZDHAT -
follows:
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E-HF
US$’000 US$’ 000
FTER Ep
Sales of copper $HE 1 306,848 394,866
Sales of cobalt tHE 57,997 75,825
364,845 470,691
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

IFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”) in order to
allocate resources to the segment and assess its
performance.

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. They review the Group’s internal reporting
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of

segment performance.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as
follows:

. Mining operations
. Trading of mineral and metal products
Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2016

BB RS R FSR [ EE D IR
o REDPBARFTEBARIT D ZA
MWBERE  AEABREEHETES
BERREETHEN USRI BERK
A D BRER

TELERRELCREALDANITE
E -REEEEHMAEEH AR HRE N
ETERDERFTADERR -

FEBEERTHRETEMT ¢

. REEL
- BEREBEMRES
DENERFE

UTAREEREERTRED EE D
ZW R REDHT o

BE_Z-—R"F+-A=1+—-HLFE

Trading of
mineral and
Mining metal
operations products Total
BERSE
RIEER ERES #mat
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FExn FErn FEx
Segment revenue 2B 263,186 101,659 364,845
Segment results DEEE 6,886 (962) 5,924
Unallocated corporate income F N VNCIT N 217
Unallocated corporate expenses &7 B A BB X (2,820)
Profit before taxation RRF A% T 3,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

FEMTBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-T-AF+-A=+-BILFE
6. DHEER(E
DEWNERFE (F)
BE-ZF-AF+-A=1+T—HLEE

Trading of
Mining mineral and
operations metal products Total
BEREE
KB ERES B3
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
EP Ep Ep
Segment revenue pal g 333,509 137,182 470,691
Segment results DEER (365,761) (717) (366,478)
Unallocated corporate income RAEABTEA 56
Unallocated corporate expenses K% it X & B8 X (3,215)
Loss before taxation PRELATE B (369,637)

Note: The accounting policies of operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment revenue and
segment results comprise revenue from external customers
and profit (loss) before taxation of each segment (excluding
finance income and other central administration costs),
respectively.

M RESEEBRREREESHEE
HE - P EWER D EEED R BES
DERBIMREF 2 WK & D E
Bz BB AT (BER) (TeEFER
ARHMRRITHERA) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

THEER (&
TREEREE

UTAREERELRTHRED EED

liabilities by operating and reportable segments: ZEERBEDN:
Segment assets THEEE
2016 2015
=F-AR"E ZZ2-5F
US$’000 US$’ 000
FEn £
Mining operations RIEER 1,623,689 1,517,619
Trading of mineral and metal products RBERECBERES 49,339 60,593
Total segment assets DEEEHE 1,673,028 1,578,212
Unallocated corporate assets AOBATEE 7,074 2,161
Consolidated assets HREBE 1,680,102 1,580,373
Segment liabilities THEEE
2016 2015
—E—-RE —_E—_FE
US$’000 US$’ 000
FEn E
Mining operations RIEET 599,887 511,094
Trading of mineral and metal products RBERESBERES 23,302 12,569
Total segment liabilities DEEERE 623,189 523,663
Unallocated corporate liabilities KXoWATER 289,369 295,750
Consolidated liabilities meaE 912,558 819,413

Note: Segment assets and segment liabilities comprise total
assets (excluding unallocated corporate assets) and total
liabilities (excluding tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated corporate liabilities) of each segment,

respectively.

MaE: 2BEERIEEEIHNBERIEZ

EEAE(TEERIBELARNEE)RE
R (TRERABUE  EESIEAR
REMAIBELAREE) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMTBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. 2EER (&)
Other segment information Hitt o EER
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BE-ZE—XR"E+-A=+—HLEE
Trading
of mineral
Mining  and metal
operations products Unallocated Total
BEREE
REE® ERES ROE @t
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Us$’000
FEx TEn TEx TErx
Amounts included in the STEDEEER
measure of segment results D EEER
and segment assets: HPNERE
Addition to non-current assets JFEREEERE
(Note) (53) 67,933 - 601 68,534
Finance income BB 593 92 1 686
Finance costs B A AN 6,583 112 137 6,832
Impairment loss recognised in B &R 8 IR K 71
respect of exploration and EEREEE
evaluation assets 14,017 - - 14,017
Reversal of impairment loss ERRAEEERE
recognised in respect of BB
mineral rights (67,765) - - (67,765)
Depreciation of property, plant  #13%  BERREFE
and equipment 46,772 39 77 46,888
Amortisation of mineral rights B 7= #& 8 85 10,973 - - 10,973
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE BER
property, plant and equipment R B (W) 126 (28) - 98

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

—E—AEH




130 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. 7EEHR (&)
Other segment information HittpBEHR (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 BE-_Z-HF+=-A=+—HLFE
Trading
of mineral
Mining  and metal
operations products Unallocated Total
BEREE
REXER EmE R e e
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’ 000
e EYH ER xR
Amounts included in the FTESEEER
measure of segment PEEER
results and segment PN
assets:
Addition to non-current FRBEERNE
assets (Note) (Mg =E) 119,969 - 20 119,989
Finance income B R U A 349 86 14 449
Finance costs B 7 B AR 6,269 334 - 6,603
Impairment loss recognised ERREBERFEEE
in respect of exploration RN Ei=
and evaluation assets 182,878 - - 182,878
Impairment loss recognised B ERBEEREEE
in respect of mineral rights 129,386 - — 129,386
Depreciation of property, M BERREBITE
plant and equipment 49,939 54 10 50,003
Amortisation of mineral rights 5% 7= 2 1 §8 7,496 - - 7,496
Loss on disposal of property, HHE¥¥% + BE K&
plant and equipment HEEE 47 = = 47
Note: Non-current assets excluded loan receivable and M FRBDEEFTBEERERREBET
rehabilitation trust fund. Heo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. 7EEHR (&)

Geographical information i &= E R

Information about the Group’s revenue from external EBELERNIABEFRRZERTIER
customers is presented based on geographical location of EEEHEERY - BEEAEEIERE
the customers. Information about the Group’s non-current EE(TERERERREBEIESR)
assets (excluding loan receivable and rehabilitation trust ZERDEREEFMEHWERZY -

fund) are based on geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
HIREEZ W FREEE
2016 2015 2016 2015

TE—-XE —ZE—FHE Z—ZBE-—-XE —EB—FH
US$’000 US$’ 000 US$’000 US$’000

FER EYH FER ET
Hong Kong 58 - - 628 145
Africa FEM 52,813 71,399 1,362,783 1,301,754
Mainland China ] A3t 159,655 206,311 - -
Switzerland Wt 152,377 192,981 - -
364,845 470,691 1,363,411 1,301,899
Information about major customers ERXERFZER
The following is an analysis of revenue from customers of UTAREBRFEmAREBETR10%MHA
the corresponding year contributing over 10% of the total ARG Z2ERF 2GRS :
revenue of the Group:
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E-RF
US$’000 US$’000
FER xR
Largest customer (note a) BAREF (Haka) 77,899 89,367
Second largest customer (note a) EF-_REF (Kza) 72,961 90,191
Third largest customer (note a) F=KEF (M&Fa) 52,288 67,255
Fourth largest customer (note aand b) F W KEF (KtzFakb) 45,175 75,825
Notes: Mi=E
(a) Revenue from the above customers is arising from mining (a) UEEFEMZWBETDRBERBEER -
operations.
(b) Revenue from above customer, representing an indirect (b) HULEMBBEZEFARRRGELERA
non-wholly owned subsidiary of ultimate holding company of RzEEEZERB AT -

the Company
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"EtA=1t—HLFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. EtWEREE
2016 2015
—EB-KRF —E-RF
Us$’000 UsS$’ 000
FTER EYH
Other exchange gain (losses), net HibE H U (B8) » F58 126 (6,481)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEY¥% BEKREERE
equipment _ (98) (47)
Change in fair value of derivative financial {74 €@ T E QA FEZE -
instruments, net HEE (1,113) 385
Others H it (1,188) 2,221
(2,273) (3,922)
8. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS 8. MEBERE (CHERIE)
(IMPAIRMENT LOSS)
2016 2015
—E-XRF —E-RF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FTERx Ep
Reversal of impairment loss (impairment Fhi&EE R~
loss) recognised in respect of mineral B E R E
rights (note a) CREEE) (Ftata) 67,765 (129,386)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  &h#F & :P4h & E R
exploration and evaluation assets 2R EEE (MizEb)
(note b) (14,017) (182,878)
53,748 (312,264)
Notes: Mt
For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s property, plant BETRENG  mEEZ2WE  BERSE
and equipment, mineral rights and exploration and evaluation BERURBRRIEEES DR EREE
assets were allocated to five cash generating units (“CGUs”), PETHEREELEEN(REEEEN])
comprising two operating mines, one developing project and two BIEWELERS  —ERREE RWEFRE
exploration projects in Zambia and the DRC, within the mining BE > EURBAIR (£) RELE - BEFHZ
operations segment. Details of the impairment assessment are set R
out below:
(a) As a result of the increase in the copper and cobalt prices (a) HRWERSFEESAFREFALARSF

towards the end of the year and the successful
implementation of the cost-saving plan for the two operating
mines during the year, the impairment review led to a
reversal of impairment loss of US$67,765,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: impairment loss of
US$129,386,000). The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets has been determined on the basis of their value in
use. The recoverable amount was determined based on the
cash flow projections derived from the current mine plan,
production reserves and estimated future copper and cobalt
prices. The pre-tax discount rate used in measuring value in
use was 13.3% and 14.9% (2015: 13.3% and 14.9%) for
Zambia and the DRC respectively.

WEEIJJEAWE ERSERAANTNE
WEREFLE  REBEZZE—ARF
+ A=+ — B FEHEREHREE
67,765,000 T (ZE—HF : BEFFE
129,386,000%;%) cHHEEEzTREE
HRAGHEEEE - THESELE
RERESE - £EERERMETRFRNR
BREBESHZAESHREGEEE - 312
BUDRAR (£ 2EABEBHAZ
BB ATEEIE RS B 513.3% K 14.9% (=&
—FF 13.3%K14.9%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS
(IMPAIRMENT LOSS) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Despite the recovery in copper and cobalt prices towards
the end of the year, the production plan of a developing
project of the Group has been delayed mainly due to
additional work performed during the year. This additional
work is neither budgeted nor planned. The recoverable
amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the
basis of their value in use. The recoverable amount was
determined based on the cash flow projections derived from
the current mine plan, production reserves and estimated
future copper and cobalt prices. The pre-tax discount rate
used in measuring value in use was 14.8% (2015: 14.8%).
Accordingly, an impairment loss in respect of exploration
and evaluation assets of US$14,017,000 (2015:
US$182,878,000) for the related CGU is recognised in profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Given the nature of the Group’s activities, information on
the fair value of an asset is usually difficult to obtain unless
negotiations with potential purchasers are taking place.

There is no impairment recognised for the other CGUs
during both years.

FINANCE COSTS

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

MERERRD CREBSE) (&

s @ ()

(b)

BENENRSESAFREMTF - B
EE—EMIER CAEERE T8
RHRFRETHEIIR - WESTRET
ERERFE A - HREEZTRE S
BNEHEREEEE - RS HEIE
RERRSE - EERERMAFHREKE
BERUHESEZASREBGEETE - 512
EAEERTAZBRBA IR ER14.8%
(ZZ—HF 1148%) - Alt - RBE=
E-—AR"E+ZA=T-HLFE BHM
BREELEEN 2 AEBEHRETEE
EMRE SR R(ERE 14,017,000 T
(=ZZ—H%F : 182,878,000 T)

BERAEE 2 EBMNE  BEHURE
FHEELATEZEN BRIERREE
EERGEZBRERS -

RMEFELEREMNREELES N
HERRIRE ©

Bt %5 A X

2016 2015
—E—RE —E-—FF
US$’000 US$’000
FER EY
Interest on UT&EZRE
Perpetual subordinated convertible K KRR O] IR 7
securities 135 -
Bank and other borrowings RITERRHMEE 15,733 11,001
Loan from an intermediate holding RE—BEFBEERAA
company ZER 3,057 2,879
Loan from a fellow subsidiary RE—RERRHNEAF
ZE 960 1,047
19,885 14,927
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of & : EXR{tEEREEZ
qualifying assets %G - (13,053) (8,324)
6,832 6,603

[
A
[
bl
ﬂ?
Hu
b=n|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

10. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

10. BRBL A= R (B18)

2016 2015
—E-KR¥ —E—-HF
US$’000 US$’ 000
FEx E3
Profit (loss) before taxation has been BB AR (BE8) 2 1k
arrived at after charging: THIER :
Staff costs BIRA
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EE=ME (1) 1,118 1,458
Other staff costs Hh8 T4
— Salaries and other benefits - HeRHEMBEF 40,408 53,988
— Retirement benefits schemes — RAERIGHEIHER
contributions 2,538 4,630
44,064 60,076
Auditors’ remuneration ZE BTN £ 355 459
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- - BERREINE
equipment 46,888 50,003
Amortisation of mineral rights TEEREE# 10,973 7,496
Change in fair value of derivative financial fT4A €@ T E A FEZE -
instruments, net HE (1,113) 385
Change in fair value of held for trading F#FEESEREATFEEH
investments (143) -
Operating lease rentals in respect of B YMERREZ
equipment, premises and vehicles wEHERS 1,044 1,365
and after crediting: Wt AUTIER :
Finance income B A 686 449
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMTBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND M. B - BETHAERESMHE
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBERESITHRAEME
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BE_Z-X"Ft+ZA=+—-HL
FE
Retirement
Salariesand  benefits schemes
Fees allowances contributions Total
EAER
fig FeREE EE J2E @t
US§'000 US§'000 USs§'000 Us§'000
Tin Tin TR TR
Executive directors yi7Es
Yang Zhigiang (note a) R4 (Hita) - - - -
Zhang Sanln (note f) R (A3 - - - -
Chen Dexin (note b) R (W) - - - -
Zhang Zhong A 30 183 2 215
Peter Geoffrey Albert Peter Geoffrey Albert
(note ¢) (Kie) 2 79 2 819
Independent non-executive directors B 34T E%S
Wu Chi Keung i 28 - - 2
Yen Yuen Ho, Tony B 28 - - 2
Neil Thacker Maclachlan Neil Thacker Maclachlan
(note g) (Hfstg) 28 - - 2
135 979 4 1,118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 1. EE - ERTBRAEBREEMS
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (42
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERESITTHRAEME (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 BE-ZE—HF+=-HA=+—HL
FE
Retirement
Salariesand  benefits schemes
Fees allowances contributions Others Total
RAEN
fs FeRER HE 758 2 it
US§'000 US$'000 US§'000 US$'000 US$'000
in in in i in
(Note)
(H3t)
Executive directors HiTEs
Yang Zhigiang (note a) B34 (Mfika) - - = - -
Zhang Sanin (note ) R (i) 12 - - - 12
Zhang Zhong R 3 198 2 - 231
Chen Dexin (note b) RS (Hzb) - - - - -
Douglas Campbell Walter ~ Douglas Campbell Walter
Ritchie (note d) Ritchie (Kf&Ed) 2 - - - 2
Peter Geoffrey Albert Peter Geoffrey Albert
(note ¢) (Kite) 15 556 1 - 572
Non-Executive director ~ FHTEE
John Adam Ferreira John Adam Ferreira
(note c) (Hftc) 8 96 12 418 534
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Wu Chi Keung i u - - - u
Yen Yuen Ho, Tony Bk 27 = = = 27
Neil Thacker Maclachlan ~ Neil Thacker Maclachlan 21 - - - 21
175 850 15 418 1458

Note: The amount represents a non-contractual
compensation for loss of office as a chief executive
officer in connection with the management of the
affairs of a subsidiary of the Company.

The executive directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company.

Mzt : ZEREEAQXFAMBLANSE
BERERENTHARBRANE
EOEHEE -

PR ITESERHESTHRASRMH
TEERAREFRA D ARLERE
EERREUREER - LBV F
BITESHMEETZAREEES
RNAESZWE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND M. B - BETHAEREEMNE

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (18
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERESITTHRAEME (&)
(Continued)
Notes: B =E -
(@) This director was also the Chief Executive of the (a) REBPEEAQATHEAZEZE
Company up to 30 June 2015 and his emoluments —E-HFXA=1TH HEsH
were borne by the ultimate holding company. BRASTEIR D BRI o
(b)  This director was appointed as Chief Executive of the (b) ZESR-B—AEXATHEE
Company on 15 June 2016 and he waived director ZEAEDTATHER  HEKE
fees for both years. HRBEECESHSE -
(c)  This director resigned on 30 April 2015. (c) %%%Eﬁéig—ﬁiﬁ =+H
e
(d)  This director resigned on 26 November 2015. d) ZEEER-_ZFT-—-HF+-—A
—t+BEBHME-
(e)  This director was appointed as an Executive Director (e) HEBER-_T—HFtA—HEZ
and the Chief Executive of the Company on 1 July FEARQAAHTEESRTHREARR
2015 and resigned on 13 June 2016. RZBE—REXA+=AFE-
(f)  This director had waived his director fees since 1 April () ZEBCE-Z—HFINA—AH#
2015. HRERESHE -
(g)  This director resigned on 31 January 2017. (9) ZEBERZZE—tHF—A=1+-—
BBHE o
There was no arrangement under which a director or FREEPRIGIEXERKR=MAELES
the chief executive, except Mr. Zhang Sanlin and WEIIVAZEEENRESTHRAR
Mr. Chen Dexin, waived or agreed to waive any HEIREREERNWMEFE2E
remuneration for both years. &z 8o
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME
The five highest paid employees in the Group during rEEAEERTEREHESEE
the year included one director (2015: two directors), —EZEE(ZE-—01F WBES)
details of whose emoluments are set out in note 11(a) HNSFEEN EXMFE11(a) ° I
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the FAREEBHRBHITHASRER
remaining four (2015: three) highest paid employees THE(ZE—HF =ZR)BoH
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the EBEZARFEHNEBUOT

Company are as follows:

2016 2015

—E—RF —E-FEF

Us$’000 US$’ 000

FEx FEx

Salaries and allowances & RIER 933 537
Retirement benefits scheme ENRERGEH

contributions 101 153
Performance related incentive BREAMEHRE

payments 157 163

1,191 853

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 =& — X F %



138

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND M. B - BETHAEREEMNE

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEME (&)

The performance related incentive payment is
determined with reference to the financial
performance of the Group and the performance of the
individuals.

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the directors of the Company whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

BB RE TS RAEE M
BRERBARREE -

YHAALNDNESHEMEN F U
THENRSHEEARNOT :

2016 2015
—E—-XREF —E-RHF
No. of No. of
employees employees

BEAE BEAH

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7t £2,000,000
(equivalent to US$128,205 to 7Bt (15 7128,205
US$256,410) %t £256,410% 7T) 0 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 jt £3,000,000
(equivalent to US$256,410 to 7Bt (18 54256,410
US$384,615) %t £384,615%7T) 4 1
4 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group.

FEEREQRQRRNEETRHEER
BEFA LN EMME - FERMA
REESMAREEE 2 RZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. FiIBHIKE

2016 2015
—E-KR¥ —ZE-hF
US$’000 US$’ 000
FEn £

The tax expense (credit) comprises: MIER X (Fe) BF :

Current taxation B AR I8

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEBMEH - -
Corporate income tax in DRC MR () LEMERH 2,134 2,687
Corporate income tax in Zambia BHhEeEMREH 34 1,746
Corporate income tax in South Africa P EEMES - -
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 45 914
2,213 5,347
Deferred taxation (note 28) IEFER 18 (P 5E28) (5,206) (19,168)
(2,993) (13,821)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as EEE(\??W@@JEZF ’Z\ﬁ SI]?EE’\‘E‘EEE
the Company does not have assessable profits arising in ZERBURF » AT RE BRI EHRE
Hong Kong for both years. & o

EERE  BERBR (2) 20XHRE
B2 B R B F R G ERBOER &
15% ~ 28%%30% ( —F—HF : 15%
28%8%30%) 2 BLRETE o

Corporate income tax in Mauritius, South Africa and the
DRC are calculated at 15%, 28% and 30% (2015: 15%,
28% and 30%) on the estimated assessable profits for the
year, respectively.

Corporate income tax in Zambia is calculated at 30% in the
current year (2015: 30%). The tax rate applicable to the
assessable profits arising in Zambia for the year ranged
from 30% to 45%. The applicable tax rate is determined on
a number of factors including the revenue of respective
subsidiaries and the average copper price of the year.

BT o hEMEBRERKRION (ZF
—HF 30%) 2BEFE - BARER
RELELTEENERBEFN ZHENTF
30%ZE45% c EAREERZIERZE
E BEEEMBARAZVARFERF
ER1E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 12. FREHIE R (FF
The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the profit AEENHREREUHEGESER R M
(loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement of ZHWREKREBE T HBRBIANER (B518) &
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: BRINT -
2016 2015
—E-KR¥ —ET-HEF
US$’000 US$’000
FER EY
Profit (loss) before taxation RRELADRF (E8) 3,321 (369,637)
Tax credit at Hong Kong Profits Tax at  3£16.5% (=& — A :
16.5% (2015: 16.5%) 16.5%) 3 8B & B 5%
BB (548) (380)
Tax credit at income tax rate in Zambia &Lt 11 fT 55 E30%
for operation at 30% (2015: 30%) (ZZ—HF :30%)5T&
SBRIEE R (4,566) (6,666)
Tax credit at income tax rate in DRC for #Z[@I R (£) FrB8F £30%
operation at 30% (2015: 30%) (ZZ—EHF :30%) 5t &
“EBIEE R (15,720) (85,708)
Tax credit at income tax rate in Mauritus 3% EERETFr 158 2 15%
for operation at 15% (2015: 15%) (ZZ2—EHF ' 15%) 5t &
EERIBRER (2) )
Tax charge (credit) at income tax rate REIEFREHE28%
in South Africa for operation at 28% (ZZ—0%F :28%)5t&
(2015: 28%) SERIENR GER) 17,650 (16,634)
(3,186) (109,390)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for R A HFi I X 2 T TG &
tax purposes 134 95,857
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax HBERBIMA 2FHIES L
purpose (439) (282)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BABERERBIBEEE
previously not recognised ZHKEE - (920)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ KRHERFEE B oI5/ & 453 =
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 45 914
Taxation credit for the year FABIEKR (2,993) (13,821)

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 13.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

BREN (FR)

RRBFEEARLEEREARBERF

(E18) IREBET I BB E ¢

2016 2015
=F-AR"E ZZ2-5F
US$’000 US$’ 000
FER EY
Earnings (loss) B (E58)
Earnings (loss) for the purpose of basic F{EFtESREARKEE
and diluted earnings (loss) per share BRI (FE) 287 (E1E) 8,347 (291,767)
2016 2015
—E—-XRE —E-HF
Number of shares iidvig- =|
Number of ordinary shares for the REFHESRELREZR
purpose of basic earnings (loss) (BB 2EBEREE
per share 4,350,753,051 4,350,753,051
Effect of dilutive potential WEMBETEBERTE .
ordinary shares:
Convertible Securities EE:SE 8,466,120,000 -
Number of ordinary shares for the AETESREERA
purpose of diluted earnings (loss) (BB 2EBREE
per share 12,816,873,051 4,350,753,051

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2015 does not assume the conversion
of the Company’s outstanding perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (“PSCS”) into 8,466,120,000 ordinary
shares since their conversion would result in a decrease in
loss per share.

There were no other potential ordinary shares outstanding
as at the end of both reporting periods.

BE-_Z—HF+-A=1+T—HEE >
TEEREEFEEITARBRARTR
BERTENXRKAIBTERESS
8,466,120,000/% Z @ A% - LTI RESE
EREEYFREEBRD

D TR EHR S AR D 84T
BB BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. 9% - BMERRE

Plant, Mine
Buildings and  machineryand  development  Construction in
Freehold land  infrastructure shafts costs progress Others Total
i BE &% By
t4  BTRER RE# s RRIE Ef it
US§ 000 US§'000 US$ 000 US§ 000 USS 000 USS 000 US§'000
*xﬁ %7:73 *xﬂ: *7:75 ?7:75 %7:75 %7:73
At1 January 2015 H-%-1%--A
Cost i » 5428 29,700 632,181 112,666 144120 60,360 984,455
Accumulated depreciation and EifERAE
impairment - (11,194) (305,806) (10621) - (18817) (346,43)
Carrying amount L] 5428 18,506 326,375 102,045 144120 41,543 636,017
At 1 January 2015, net of accumulated #=%-FE-R-H
depreciation REiTE 5428 18,506 326,375 102,045 144120 41,543 638,017
Depreciation provided during the year  ERFHEHTE = (1,936) (35,946) (8,89) - (3.226) (50,003)
Addtions HE 1,060 212 15,950 - 70272 14,440 101,934
Disposals ti - - - - - (69) (69)
At 31 December 2015, net of Ro2-RESZA=T-R-
acoumulated depreciatonand  MIREHTERHE
impairment 6,488 16,762 306,379 93,160 24392 52,668 689,879
At 31 Decermber 2015 R-Z-2E1ZR=1-H
Cost ﬁM& \ 6,488 2912 648,131 112,666 21439 74731 1,086,320
Accumulated depreciaion and ZHTERAE
impaiment - (13.130) (341752) (19,516) - (22,083) (396.441)
Carying amount ] 6,488 16,782 306,379 93,150 2439 52,668 689,879
At 1 January 2016, net of accumulated =% -7E-A-H:
depreciafion fihgite 6,488 16,762 306,379 93,150 24392 52,688 689,879
Depreciation provided during the year  ERFIRIAE - (1,743) (33,143) (8,930) - (3072) (46,888)
Addiions A2 - 105 54 - 25,880 19,046 45,572
Disposals & - (210) (1) = = (25) (463)
At 31 December 2016, et of REE-METZA=1-R-
accumulated depreciaonand ~ MREHFERFE
impairment 6,468 14,934 213776 84,220 10,272 68,410 688,100
At 31 December 2016 RB-AET2A=1-H
Cost S 6,488 2807 648,671 112,666 10212 93,525 1131429
Accumulated depreciaion and SiffTERAE
impairment - (14873) (374,8%) (28446) - (25.115) (443,329)
Carrying amount L] 6,488 14,934 213,776 84,220 10212 68410 688,100

Note: Included in others are pollutant treatment plant and related
equipment and facilities and decommissioning assets, motor
vehicles, furniture and fixtures, office equipment and other
equipment.

The Group’s freehold land is situated in the DRC and Zambia.

Impairment assessment is performed for the years ended
31 December 2016 and 2015, details of which are set out
in note 8.

it HttBIESRYEERKERERBRER
BREREE - A= - BAKREE B
RNERBREMRME -

£
H

YK R SEHE £ i (U AR (&) R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

15. MINERAL RIGHTS 15. IEERE
US$’000
FER
(Note)
(Mg &E)
At 31 December 2015 R=—ZE—HF—HA—H
Cost AR 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt EERRE (437,146)
Carrying amount REE 558,097
At 1 January 2015, net of accumulated R-ZE—-HFE—-—R—H"
amortisation and impairment IR 25T 8H OB E 558,097
Amortisation provided during the year FAEHRE (7,496)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RiEERERREEE
(see note 8 for details) (F1E R HIzE8) (129,386)
At 31 December 2015, net of accumulated R=-ZE—EHEE+=-A=+—RH"
amortisation and impairment HREFHEERRE 421,215
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-—FHFE+=-RA=+—H
Cost DN 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt RRE (574,028)
Carrying amount BREE 421,215
At 1 January 2016, net of accumulated R=—FE—XRE—HA—8"
amortisation and impairment HREFHEERRE 421,215
Amortisation provided during the year FATTIREH (10,973)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in RIEZEAERBEEERE
profit or loss (see note 8 for details) (F1ERHIEE8) 67,765
At 31 December 2016, net of accumulated R—-EBE-—RNFE+=-_BA=+—H"
amortisation and impairment R ZEFT#ERRE 478,007
At 31 December 2016 R-FB—RE+=-A=+—H
Cost A 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt #ERRE (517,236)
Carrying amount REE 478,007
Note: The mineral rights represent the rights to conduct mining Mz BEREASERELEIREIR (2)W
activities in the Group’s two operating mines, one developing MEEERS - —EZE+TEE RME
project and two exploration projects in Zambia and the DRC. FREE RERETE 2 &R ZWE
The mineral rights for the two operating mines are granted EERGERBERATFHRAIRTE
for the remaining terms of 3 and 7 years (2015: 4 and 8 (ZZ—HF 4R8F) °
years).
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REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

16. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
ASSETS

16. BI R R FTFEEE

US$’000

P

At 1 January 2015 R-—ZE—-—FHEFE—H—H 337,508

Additions nE 18,055
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RERREZBESE

(see note 8 for details) (F1E R HIEE8) (182,878)

At 31 December 2015 R=ZZ-HF+=-RA=+—H 172,685

Additions hE 22,962
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RERARERREERE

(see note 8 for details) (F 1B RKIzE8) (14,017)

At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—RE+=-A=+—H 181,630

Exploration and evaluation assets represent the cost
incurred for evaluating the technical feasibility and
commercial viability of extracting mineral resources in the
Group’s exploration mines. The management considers
that the determination of commercial viability is still in
progress at the end of the reporting period.

17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

HHERFEEERE BT EERNEE R
BEARMRBREERZEMEERTT
MMELEZRAE BEEERAR REE
R MEETHBEATHE -

17. Hib ERBEE

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—FE
USs$’000 US$’ 000
FTER EP
Loan to a DRC state-owned power ARER(2)EEENAF
company (Note a) REER (Hizta) 4,824 6,007
Less: Amount to be recovered within 1 & : 5t A B 5 & H U
year included in trade and other B AR —FAKRE
receivables (note 19) 2R (fta£19) (2,000) (2,000)
2,824 4,007
Royalty prepayment to non-controlling ) fff B 2 B FEHE IR AR SR TR A
shareholders of subsidiaries (Note b) EREEAE (MEb) 15,674 18,120
Rehabilitation trust fund (Note c) BiEEEES (FaFc) 80 68
18,578 22,195

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

18.

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

17. Kb RBEE (&)

(Continued)

Notes: MiaE

(a) It represents a loan provided to a DRC state-owned power (a) E—2REHF-—ERR (£) lﬁﬁ%ﬂ
company for the construction and commissioning of a Q@ngﬁi ARBIR (2) —BESEE
high-voltage powerline and substation in DRC to secure the BREBINEZRHAE  UREEREER
future power supply to the Group. The loan carries interest HEESHE ZERZRRBERTRIE
at London Interbank Offered Rate (‘LIBOR”) plus 2% (2015: wE (RBRITEFEFED M2E (=
LIBOR plus 2%) per annum. It is unsecured and has no Z—0F  mALRTEEFEME) 2
fixed repayment term. The management considers that FRRFE  HEEARILEETENR
US$2,000,000 of the total amount will be settled within one B o BB R B #%A2,000,0003 TR
year. —FRET -

(b) It represents advance to the non-controlling shareholders of (b) EBRAFERR () HREXKZHEL
subsidiaries operating in DRC. The directors anticipate that AREERBRR2HIE  EEBEFAE
it will be recovered through royalties to be charged in the AW EERE S A B 2 E o
future.

(c) Payments are made to rehabilitation trusts or investment (c) ERTHEBRECEBEERRERE
accounts held by banking institutions with the intention of IRNRE EEREFBFZREEH
fully funding those liabilities as required by the governments BECERAESZ8E -
in South Africa for the mines that have been closed.

Pl

INVENTORIES 18. &

2016 2015

ZE-RF —E-RF

US$’000 Us$’ 000

FEx EpL

Consumable stores 23 35,489 42,398
Product inventories EREE 73,577 60,563
109,066 102,961

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 =& — X F %




146 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EZ R HMERFIE

2016 2015

—E—-RE —E—FF

US$’000 US$’ 000

FER ETT

Trade and bill receivables ESZRWRIEREREE 39,363 65,657
Less: Impairment W ORE (310) (310)
39,053 65,347

Other receivables =g A E ] 9,116 6,916
Prepayments T RIR 2,790 3,664

Loan to a DRC state-owned power iR (2)BEEEH AT

company — current (note 17) RMER—BE (FHEE17) 2,000 2,000
Value-added tax recoverable ] Uk [B] $E (B F5 51,436 40,845
104,395 118,772

Included in trade and bill receivables as at 31 December
2016 was an amount due from a fellow subsidiary of
US$6,631,000 (2015: Nil) and an amount due from ultimate
holding company Nil (2015: US$18,430,000), which were of
trade nature. The Group provided its fellow subsidiary and
ultimate holding company with a credit period ranging from
180 days to 360 days.

The Group provided customers (other than its fellow
subsidiaries and ultimate holding company) with a credit
period ranging from 15 days to 180 days. Before accepting
new customers, the Group uses a credit bureau to perform
a credit assessment to assess the potential customers’
credit limit and credit quality.

Included in trade and bill receivables as at 31 December
2016 was an amount of receivables of US$572,000 (2015:
payables of US$36,000) which arose from provisional
pricing arrangements. The amount of provisional pricing
arrangements represents the difference between the
estimated average price up to the date of final pricing and
the quoted price on the date of recognition of revenue when
title and risks and rewards of the mineral and metal
products are passed to customers.

MR-ZBE—ARNEFE+ZA=+—BZE5E
WRIEBRERZEBIERER—BRE R
B /A 186,631,000 T (ZE—HF:
BRERUBRARERAGARE (ZF
—FH 4 :18,430,000%7T) - BREFIEY
BESMHE -AEEOHRAKMB AT
R EREER A TIRMEN F180H £360H
ZIEEH -

AEEEOEF (FERERRMEARK
RAERLQAE) BRHNF15HE180R 2
FEH -ERHEFA  AKEERERE
EEUHREEN ML UFHEBEERF
ZEERBEREEER -

“E-RE+ZA=+—-HZEBEZRWK
REREBRREEEXREBEREERH
Z FEWFRIEE72,000%X T (ZF—HF :
P& 13 FX 7836,000% 7T) ° B b5 E B &2 B
CHRERERATERR L 2fAEFH
B RREENRECBERMERELEAR
CHREEEFFIFEIAREE HZRE
Bz ZE8 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
The Group has significant concentration of credit risk where
a debtor, being a fellow subsidiary of the Company,
constitutes 17% (2015: Nil) and the ultimate holding
company of the Company, constitutes Nil (2015: 28%) of
trade and bill receivables. As at 31 December 2016, Nil
(2015: 24%) of the Group’s trade and bill receivables was
covered by letters of credit issued by banks of the
Company’s ultimate holding company.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bill
receivables, net of impairment, presented based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period.

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

19. E5 R H B FIE ()

AEBAORBAREFTERRBEETEER
B LB EERKBERERK B
HEHSREEEEHRT -E—RE
BABEKRABRDAMBLATEHES
EUREREREEZ217% (ZE—1
F HB)RAQRAREKERLATEEZE
WHEREREEAE (ZZ—HF:
28%) NEBHEBEEXREEEFTEMR -
RZE—RE+ZA=1+—H F£&EH
EZRWANEREREETE (ZZ—F
F 1 24%) HARD B RAZER DT ZHBIT
B2 EAMRERR -

UTHARBERARARBEZAHZ252
B RWRERERRE (HRRE) 2
BRER 4 o

2016 2015

—E-RE —E-AF

US$’000 US$’000

FETX Ep

Within 3 months =@BER 36,768 44 714
4 to 6 months MZENMEA 2,285 18,049
7 to 12 months +tZ+=@A - 2,584
39,053 65,347

Included in trade receivables is a receivable of
US$1,627,000 (2015: US$5,586,000) which is past due as
at the end of the reporting date and is regarded as not
impaired as there has not been a significant change in the
credit standing of the debtor. The Group does not hold any
collateral over the receivable.

There are no movements in provision for impairment of
trade receivables during both years.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, included in the above
provision for impairment of trade receivables was a
provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
US$310,000 with a carrying amount before provision of
US$310,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in default or delinquency in principal
payments and none of the receivables was expected to be
recovered.

EZREWAREBEBERRERRE A2
FEUN 7 181,627,000 T (Z B —HF :
5,586,000 Jt) ' HREH A 215 Ak
M BBEEEREE)  ZFEHERES
AERBE - NEEIN EFZEE R
BEETMEER -

RWEFE - B5 BWIRZBERE

R=ZZ-—XER=-ZF-—AF+_F
=+—R0 LREBEZERKRFERERE
FEEERRE2E S R E (BE
R TE 18 £310,0003 7T) 2 310,000
ES

B RR{E 2 8 5 BUWRIER R HIER
REERNEFER  BZERWAE
RS AT UL E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

20. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

21.

The following were the Group’s trade receivables that were
transferred to banks by discounting those trade receivables
on a fully recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred
the significant risk and rewards relating to these trade
receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying
amount of these trade receivables and has recognised the
cash received on the transfer as a secured borrowing.
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

20 BERTREE

UTAREEERTIRT ZE S EBW
B EZELSAAREEEREENRZ
ZESRWBIE - HRASE I EER
HEEZRURBZERNABR DR
HAEE S PR AREE - WS ERE
BB zREEIASBERMAER HES
MEERAEE 2GS MBMRRERAR
85 R A B B o

Trade invoices discounted to
banks with full recourse

MEFROTOVATRERE

ZEGBE
2016 2015
—E—-RE —E—FF
US$’000 US$’ 000
FTER ETT
Carrying amount of transferred assets  FrEEEE < IREE 3,980 7,651
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 1 & & < BREE (3,980) (7,651)

AMOUNTS DUE TO AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY AND A FELLOW
SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2016, a term loan due to an
intermediate holding company amounted to
US$115,000,000 (2015: US$115,000,000). The term loan
carries interest at floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 0.70%
to 2.25% (2015: LIBOR plus 0.70% to 2.25%) per annum
and is repayable over one year (2015: over one year).

As at 31 December 2016, a term loan due to a fellow
subsidiary amounted to US$5,000,000 (2015:
US$5,000,000). The term loan carries interest at floating
interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.5% (2015: LIBOR plus 4.5%)
per annum and is repayable over one year (2015: over one
year).

The remaining amounts are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

All the balances are non-trade in nature.

21.

BAFEZERATSRERKEBA
Bl 2 7RI

RZEBE—XRE+ZA=+—H8 B
BN F 2 EHE 7 A115,000,000%
T (=ZF—FH% :115,000,000% T) °
ZEHE R IRMEIRITEI 2 500.70
EZ225E(ZS—HF  mERITEZE
FREMO.70EE2.25) 2 3 & F 5t
B WER—FRgER(ZZE—HF: —
FE) o

REZZB-_AE+ZA=+—H EBN—
E[E) % M /B A 5] 2 E H & 50 %55,000,000
£ (=ZZ—A% :15,000,000%7T) ° %
EHE R M AR AT E E 7 E h4.5E
(ZZ2-0F  MAMTEXRF 245
B) 2 FEFEFNEAE AR -FEE
B(ZE—0F: —F1#&)
BRERNEENEY (BN RKEZERA
BIRRIEL RSB SRAEIEKT 25
WARBREE -

FrEFSRIIBHESZHE -
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22. HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS

23.

Held for trading investments comprise:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

22. HEEERE

2015
—_E—RE
US$’ 000
FEx

Listed investment:

Bonds with fixed interest rate of 4.75%

BIFEERERRE
2016
=F-RE
Us$’ 000
TXT
LHRE
[ElE & A % 54 752 3

per annum and maturity date on 17 July R=-Z—tFtHA++tH

2017 are listed on the Stock Exchange

(note)

BUH 2 B A PR

L&z (M) 3,705

Note: The issuer of the bond is the ultimate holding company of

the Company.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

23. fTEEMIA

M ESRRTARKRDAZHLERAT -

Assets
BE
2016 2015
—EB-XE —E-RE
US$’000 US$’000
FEx E
Cash flow hedges: BEREBE W :
Commodity derivative contracts BmITEEL - 791
Not under hedge accounting: WHEH SRR
Foreign currency forward contracts RHMES D 13 271
Commodity derivative contracts BRITEEN 206 —
219 271
219 1,062

Cash flow hedges:

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had the following
commodity derivative contracts designated as highly
effective hedging instruments in order to manage the Ha4d,
Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to
price fluctuation risk in relation to highly probable

forecasted sales of copper products.

BEREH

[=n}

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23.

(Continued)

Cash flow hedges: (Continued)

The terms of the foreign exchange contracts have been
negotiated to match the terms of the respective designated
hedged items. The major terms of these contracts are as

follows:

As at 31 December 2015

TTESMIA (&)

Ren88™: (&)
HEEHNZHRREEEENTSEREET

HHIEE 2R - ZESHNZETERR
M :

R-ZZE—HFE+ZA=+—H

Quantity Maturity Commodity forward price

¥E A mmEHER

Copper 2,337 metric tonnes January — March 2016  Sell at weighted average US$4,635/
$@2,337 A i —E—-RH¥—H&%=AHA metric tonne

MEFHEE S ANE4,6355% T

Commodity derivative contracts utilised by the Group are
mainly standardised copper futures contracts in the London
Metal Exchange. The fair value of the commodity derivative
contracts represents the difference between the quoted
forward price of the commodity at the end of the reporting
period and the contracted price per the commodity contract
of the commodity.

At the inception of the above hedging relationships, the
Group formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship, risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge. The cash flow hedge mentioned
above was assessed to be highly effective.

At 31 December 2016, no commodity derivative contracts
were under hedge accounting.

AEBRERCERITEEGHNETERR
AEBREFMBBRERBESH -
BmITESNZ A FEABRREREH
RAeEHREEARESNNEERBZ
EH

RN U E$h R ARBERE
EEHER EREEEERYMHER
B Wi 2 FE - LR REE T
TERFEEEM -

R-ZB-XRFE+=ZA=+—H0 AEYH
AmITESNETE IS RE -
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23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23. STEEMIA (&

(Continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accountings): HtfTE TR (L FEHHETERE) :
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts (net RHMESHN CFRLEE) 2 ERRW
settlement) are as follows: ™

Notional amount Maturity Foreign currency forward price

EREH FHR SEEHERE

As at 31 December 2016
R-ZE—ARFF+—HA=+—H

US$1,890,000 July 2017  The Group will receive US$1,890,000 while
1,890,000 JT —Z2—tH+tHA paying RMB13,500,000 at a forward rate of
7.143

AREEE YEL1,890,000% 7T » [ iRz HAE =
7.143% 1+ AE#13,500,0007T

As at 31 December 2015
R-FE—F#F+=-A=+—H

US$2,767,000 January 2016  The Group will receive US$2,767,000 while
2,767,000 7T —=2—-Xx¥—A paying RMB17,984,000 at a forward rate of
6.5

REEEUEL2,767,000% T © [FiREHRER
6.5 1 A %17,984,0007T

US$2,772,000 February 2016  The Group will receive US$2,772,000 while
2,772,000% 7T —E—-X¥ZH paying RMB17,937,000 at a forward rate of
6.4715

AEEWE2,772,000% T » [F 5 HAE =R
6.4715% ¥ AE#17,937,0007T

US$4,188,000 March 2016  The Group will receive US$4,188,000 while
4,188,000 JT —E—-RE=A paying RMB26,869,000 at a forward rate of
6.4152

ANEE B U HL4,188,000%E T » [B) iR R HAE =
6.415232 4 A & %26,869,0007T

US$3,753,000 April 2016 The Group will receive US$3,753,000 while
3,753,000 7T —E2—REMA paying RMB24,926,000 at a forward rate of
6.6415

AEE R WEL3,753,000% 7T  [F 5 HARE =
6.64153% 14 A F&%24,926,0007T

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 = & — /X F i}
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23.

24,

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23.

(Continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accountings):
(Continued)

Major terms of the commodity derivate contracts are as
follows:

TTESMIA (A

HfTE TR (U EHPETFERE) :

(&

AmITEENZETERRAOT ¢

Quantity Maturity Commodity forward price
¥E FHME mmEHRES
As at 31 December 2016
RZE-—ARF+ZHA=1+—H
Copper 1,000 metric tonnes February 2017  Sell at weighted average US$5,600/
$71,0007 M —E—+HZH metric tonne

hn#EF Y EE S AME5,600% 7T
CGG Zinc 101.21 metric tonnes March 2017  Sell at weighted average US$2,727/
EEEFREF101.21 20 —E—+HF=H8 metric tonne

InEFHEBS AME2,727% T
RESTRICTED CASH DEPOSITS AND 24, IRHFRESFRURBITERR

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances comprising cash and short-term deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less carried
interest at prevailing market deposit rate. As at 31
December 2016, the effective interest rate of bank balance
ranged from 0.001% to 0.01% (2015: 0.001% to 5.75%) per
annum.

As at 31 December 2015, restricted cash deposits of
US$4,182,000 were related to bank deposits placed with
banks as securities for funding environmental liabilities
relating to mining operations.

BE

ROTGHERERASRFIHER=1EA
HUARLLBITHEFRMETEZ
EHER -R-B-—AR"F+-A=+—
B RITASR 2 EFRFRZRTF0.001E
Z0.01E (ZZ—HF : 0.001EE5.75
E) -

R-ZZE-—RF+=ZA=+—H " ZR4
IR 174,182,000 T AR &
REXEXKHBENRREEMEARITHE
AERZBITER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

25. EZ R HEMENRE

2016 2015

—E—-RE —E—FF

USs$’000 US$’ 000

FER ETT

Trade payables B EARIA 53,516 59,022
Other payables and accruals HithEARIERESTER 18,248 33,885
71,764 92,907

Included in other payables and accruals are accrual for
freight charges, export clearing charges, provision for
unpaid import duties and related surcharge in DRC, and
other general operation related payables.

Included in trade payables as at 31 December 2016 was
payables of US$572,000 (2015: receivables of US$38,000)
which arose from provisional pricing arrangements. The
amount of the provisional pricing arrangements represents
the difference between the estimated average price up to
the date of final pricing and the quoted price on the date of
recognition of purchase when title and risks and rewards of
mineral and metal products passed from suppliers to the
Group.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

HBNRER B ERARERTESE
RHEOBEE REBR(£) AOBK
HEMME 2 BE URAEt—REE
HEEEN T ©

—E-XE+ZA=t—-RAZESEN
NEEREREGREERHEZENRK
1E572,000% T (ZE—HF : EWFE
38,000%7T) - R EBLZHSEEEE
BRATEEBHAILEZHFFIEE  HEE
FEBERZERERREREHRHHE
BEBRZEAEERERABEERQ ZRE
Bz E%E -

UTARBEMRRBEBRZARZ52
B RARIEREBE DM

2016 2015

—E-XNE C—B-HF

US$’000 US$’ 000

FEx Ep

Within 3 months =@AR 40,263 54,287
4 to 6 months mZEAMEA 10,470 1,794
7 to 12 months tZ2+=@EA 2,550 2,732
Over 1 year —F Lk 233 209
53,516 59,022

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 0 to
90 days.

BEERZEEHN FOEIHTE -
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26. BANK BORROWINGS

26. R1T A

2016 2015

—E-RE —E—F0%F

uUs$’000 UsS$000

FEx E

Term loans EREMR 390,575 265,786
Trade invoice discounting facility BHBTEME 3,980 7,651
394,555 273,437

Secured BiKH 283,168 266,790
Unsecured K 3 111,387 6,647
394,555 273,437

The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as follows:

REBRTERZERPAOT

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—A0%F
US$’000 US$’ 000
FER EL

Within one year and repayable on —FRREZRAEER
demand 83,333 16,437

More than one year, but not exceeding —®F LUt BFREBBWE
two years - =

More than two years, but not exceeding MELU L BEFRBBHF
five years 245,222 134,000
More than five years EFULE 66,000 123,000
394,555 273,437

Less: Amount due within one year Wi ARBEBZ—FR

shown under current liabilities BHAFRIE (83,333) (16,437)

Amount due after one year shown as NAEFRBEEZ —F#
non-current liabilities E GG 311,222 257,000

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank borrowings of
US$382,000,000 (2015: US$257,000,000) are guaranteed
by the ultimate holding company. As at 31 December 2016
and 2015, the bank borrowings carried floating rate interest
ranging from LIBOR plus 1.0% to 4.5% (2015: LIBOR plus
1.0% to 4.85%) per annum. The effective interest rate on
the Group’s borrowings ranged from 1.65% to 5.36% (2015:
1.6% to 5.46%) per annum.

RZEBE-—XREF+ZBA=+—-—H 'K
£ [B382,000,000 % (ZE—H &
257,000,000 7T) 2 BITERTIHZL
ERARRMBER R-ZBE—XRER=
E-—RFE+=ZRA=+—8  RBIITERS
AEE  BERRTEEREMOESR
ASE(ZZE—HF  RBABTEERFE
IN1.0EE485E) 2 FF T E - KE
B2 BB E R A F1.65E £5.36
E(ZE—F1% 1.6EZE546FE) °
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27. PROVISIONS 27. & 1E
2016 2015
—E-RF —
Us$’000 US$000
FETT EV
Long-term provisions REARB
Rehabilitation and environmental BERRRES (M)
provision (note) 27,303 26,184
Short-term provisions EERE
Termination benefits BERLAE A 1,026 1,738
Rehabilitation and environmental BIERRREE (M)
provision (note) 820 820
Leave pay and bonuses RN R TEAL 3,570 5,728
5,416 8,286
Total provisions BB EER 32,719 34,470
2016 2015
—E-RE —E-—HE
Us$’000 US$000
FET ETT
At 1 January n—A—H 34,470 30,770
Utilised during the year EREH (4,581) (2,880)
Provided during the year FARE 2,830 6,580
At 31 December Bn+=-—A=+—H 32,719 34,470
Note: The Group is exposed to environmental liabilities relating to Mz : AREBEREHEFEXEEEZRRE

& - RRREMBYR TR (NEE - B
REBURBREE) 2 RATIRIEE
Szt AR S FELMEE -

its mining operations. Estimates of the cost of environmental
and other remedial work such as reclamation costs,
close-down and restoration and pollution control are made
on an annual basis, based on the estimated lives of the
mines.

DERERZBERBRRBEEREES
RN —FREEZHNE -

Rehabilitation and environmental provisions classified as
short-term represents the amount estimated to be settled
within one year at the end of the reporting period.
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION 28. IR IE

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis
of the deferred tax balances before offsetting:

MREIGEEMBRREMS - & TEL
BEEENREBECFHEE - LT HHH
Al Z IESE B TR AR BR 0 A

2016 2015
—E-RF —
Us$’000 US$000
FERT E

Deferred tax assets EEBIREE (11,441) (9,613)
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIEEE 299,548 302,926
288,107 293,313

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD # JIl & MERBRAQA
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

28. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 28. IEERIE (&
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) UTARAFERBEFENEI ZE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and ZELEHEBERE (EE) REZH :
prior years:
Property,
plant and
equipment,
mineral
rights
and other
intangible
assets, and Foreign
exploration exchange
and difference
evaluation arising
rights from
0% BE Leave pay Other intra-group
KR provisions provisions  activities Tax losses Others Total
BER
REMER S8R
EENR NEE
BRR  HEHM i3 A

HER BE HtBE EXZE HEER Rt #s
US§'000  US§'000  US$000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000
Txx  FTRx  Txx TEn fEr TEn TEn

(Note)
(Mfzt)
At1 January 2015 W-Z-FE-A-R 290,601 (15)  (2649) 15635  (14634) 23453 312481
(Credit) charge to profit or loss 83 (5T A) 1k
(note 12) (MizE12) (30,124) (219) (1,816) = 9,720 32711 (19,168)
At 31 December 2015 R-E-1%
+-A=+-H 260,567 (234)  (4465) 15635  (4914) 26724 293313
Charge (credit) to profit or loss REZME (tA)
(note 12) (H312) 2,834 26 226 o300 (26212  (5206)
At 31 December 2016 RZB-5%
+ZA=1+-H 283,401 8) (2,219) 15,635 (9,214) 512 288,107
Note: Others include tax deduction on qualified capital MizE: HMEEEEREAHX HPIAR
expenditures, hedging instruments and others. Hhg B 2 o

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 =& — KX F #f




198

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 28.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has unused tax losses
of US$64,782,000 (2015: US$48,081,000). A deferred tax
asset of US$30,335,000 (2015: US$16,380,000) has been
recognised in respect of such losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining
US$34,447,000 (2015: US$31,701,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

EERE (&

RIEBE—RE+ZA=+—80 x5£H
BARBABIEEE64,782,000E T (=F
—FF : 48,081,000 7t) - #ABRIE 12
ERRIELER B E #E30,335,000% 7T (=
T —FF :16,380,000% T) o B AR
FFAAIFER - 82 T34,447,0003% 7T (=
ZT—F 4 :31,701,000% T) W HEHEFLE
EERIBEE - BIEEEERRLE o

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. g
Number
of shares Amount
ROEE 8
HK$'000
TE T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREENMEBTZEER
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015, RZZE—-HF—HF—H "
1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016 —E-RF¥+-RA=t—-H"
“E-R"E-A-HK
—E—ARFF+ZH=+—H 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015, R=-ZE—-HF—HA—H-
1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016 —E-HF+-R=+—-A8-
—E-R"E-A-BK
—E-R"E+ZA=1+—H 4,350,753,051 43,508
Shown in the consolidated financial statements as: RNEeBRRIPBARSE !
Amount
Us$'000
FHET
At 31 December 2015 and 2016 RZE-FAER-Z—REF
+=—A=+—H 5,578

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQA
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30. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

On 20 June 2012, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2012 Scheme”). The purpose of the 2012
Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants for their contribution and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of the Group. Eligible participants of
the 2012 Scheme include the directors (whether executive
or non-executive, including any independent non-executive
director) and employees (whether full time or part time) of
the Group. The 2012 Scheme, unless otherwise terminated
or amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years
from 20 June 2012.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2012
Scheme, any other new share option scheme and existing
scheme of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed
10% of the ordinary shares in issue as at the adoption of
the 2012 Scheme or any other new share option scheme of
the Company. The Company may seek approval of its
shareholders in a general meeting to refresh the 10% limit
under the 2012 Scheme. The total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the share options
granted under the 2012 Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
ordinary shares in issue at the date of grant. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the
Company.

Any share option granted under the 2012 Scheme to a
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive director (or any of their
respective associates) of the Company, in excess of 0.1%
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the date
of grant and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant, are subject to recommendation from the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is
also the grantee of the options) and shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting of the Company.

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

30. BRAEETE

AABTRZBE—ZFEXAZ+HRMNE
BEES (= —=F8)) - =F
——FHEEERBRRESEKSH
EHREXAEBFNEMELNEREES
BEH —T—_FHEzEENKSH
EREAEEES (FTHkEBT > BFF
FABIFLHTES) RES (ZHEIFK
B o BRUAEAM A RKEHIERTIH =&
——FEBHRE-E—FX<A=+
B+ FEHASFFER -

RIE-F—ZF5E - ADEEMHAM
BB EIRRA B TFREZFF
EEREETERTTRITZESRND
HE AHTSEBERA-FT—_F3t
AR FEM A B RES SRS
BITEBERZ10% - AR A ARKRERK
ELrERERRMUEEHF_F—_F5
£ Z210%MR &) - RBERH B HILEM
T-EAHE RE-FT--Fi8R
AEBEAHEMBRESEOZTSEE
Rz BRE (BEETERERTEZ
BRE) BITEMES BT TFRITZR
R TEEBAARARKREBAHE
BATEBRZ1% o X W AE A8 H LR
ZBREYAHRREADARRAE
L#tE . FHBEX-

HREBEERHAH (BEZA) LEM
TZEASE  RE-F--F33 @
ARBREERR(EXR EMARA) B
MFHTES (FMESENEMBHEA
) RHEZBREBHAQTNEHBAH
ERTEERZ01% REAHBE S
R BB RA QR RO 2B
BtE) BHE BB AIAEARRQF
BYFAITES (ARG BBREERA
ZAEMB U FERTESRIN 2HEBES
ERRERRADARRAE LHE B

FE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

30.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued)

A share option may be accepted by a participant within 14
days from the date of the offer for grant of the option. The
exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors in accordance with the terms
of the 2012 Scheme, and commences from the date of
acceptance of the offer of grant of the share options and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the share options. At the date of offer of the
option, the directors of the Company may specify any
conditions which must be satisfied before any option may
be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors of the Company, but must not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of the offer for grant, which must be a business day;
(ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
ordinary share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No options were granted or exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2016 and no share options
were outstanding as at 31 December 2015 and 2016.

30. IR T E ()

SEETRESRHBREZIAHE
aF 10 B AR I - FTIR B AR
ZITEMBRESRE-_Z——F3t8l2
RAEE  FHEARHBEREZQH
HEERHBERERBEFTTIBEBTF
ZARLE -REHBREZENER 22
B E B 0] RIS TE T R 147 8 AR A A 4%
TR R VAR (TR

BRETEERAQARNESEE BF
BERTI=Z=EZ2E&SE : (/A 2AR
PREEREHBH(EREER) BB
B BREXRAARZBHE  ()ERD
AROABEREREBHALEE X
BEBIMEBABRERAMTZFHIR
TE; R(iEBREE -

BRELERTEEARBRERER
RREEREZHER -

REE-B-AER-F—_AT+=
A=+— BT AR
RITHE RR=B-—RFR-F—AF
+=A= -8 FEBREYRET
{F o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

On 14 November 2013, the Company issued the
Convertible Securities with an aggregate principal amount
of US$1,085,400,000, being part of consideration for the
Combination. The fair value of the Convertible Securities,
which was determined based on a valuation carried out by
Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent valuer not
connected with the group, on the date of completion of the
Combination amounted to US$1,089,084,000.

The Convertible Securities are convertible into a maximum
of 8,466,120,000 ordinary shares of the Company at an
initial conversion price of HK$1 per share, subject to
anti-dilutive adjustments. On or at any time after three
years after the date of issue of the Convertible Securities,
the Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to convert
the Convertible Securities in whole or in part into ordinary
shares of the Company. At any time when a holder of the
Convertible Securities is not a connected person of the
Company, a principal amount of the Convertible Securities
which upon conversion will result in the holder holding in
aggregate under 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company shall be automatically converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The Convertible Securities shall not bear any distribution
for the first three years from the issue date but shall bear
distribution at 0.1% of the principal amount per annum
thereafter payable annually in arrears on 31 December
each year and can be deferred at the discretion of the
Company. The Convertible Securities have no fixed
maturity and are redeemable at the Company’s option at
their principal amounts together with any accrued, unpaid
or deferred distributions. While any distributions are unpaid
or deferred, the Company may not, inter alia, declare or
pay any dividends or distribution on any ordinary shares of
the Company or redeem or buy-back any ordinary shares
of the Company, for so long as any distributions which are
due and payable have not yet been paid in full.

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

31 KRR R AR FE &5

R=ZB-—=F+—-—A+WA  KAQ=F#
TARE 4% 51,085,400,0003E T 2 Al #2
RESH  ERBEOH 2D RE - AR
BHEZAFE(BREXEHE R —BEK
EEVEBEC B GEMPHESE
TEEMERAAETZHEEEE) A
1,089,084,000% TT ©

ARRESIZRNEERESRIBETE
58 %8,466,120,0001 R A~ A1 & B R
(RFHRBERR)  -RuUBRESZ
RITHPR=FREAAEREMERE
ARAA2ENBEEESTRRESS
BHABLBERD/ARQTZER - IMEM
B il TR EFFEALFADF
BEAL MERETBRREZR XS
BREHZFEAGHEELA LT CH#
TTIRA10%AT » BIZAEEEEBE
BARRNAEER -

TRREBEFERTHAHEE=FAF
MHEEMDIK  EEREBFEASHZ
0.1%sTEDIK - RBF+=-A=1+—
ARERIAxN MAXATHREE
FEHR K o IR R R 35 30 B EHIR
ARBAEEREANSES MER - R
TEIELE 2 7Kk BB B AT R IR 8 55 o fisl {F
D IRERFER A - IR ZEAE
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance
between continuity of cash flows from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings. The Group
also monitors the current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
regularly to ensure that sufficient working capital and
adequate committed lines of funding are maintained to
meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which include the borrowings disclosed in note 26 and
amounts due to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary disclosed in note 21, net of bank balances
and cash; and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. 2T A (&

Categories of financial instruments £E T BER
2016 2015
A —E-HEF
US$’000 Us$’000
FER En
Financial assets THEE
Loans and receivables (including cash ~ BXR KR EWFIE (BERER
and cash equivalents excluding trade ReLEER  T8F
and bill receivables under provisional EREEERECZES
pricing arrangements) FEW R IE R B R E) 98,948 64,527
Trade and bill receivables under EHRNEERHEZE SRR
provisional pricing arrangements RIERERERE 39,053 65,347
Held for trading investments BEEERE 3,705 -
Derivative financial instruments in EEHHEFERTZ
designated hedge accounting PTEERIE

relationships - 791
Derivative financial instruments not EEHHEFTEET 2

under hedge accounting relationships fTESRTA 219 271
Financial liabilities EHEE

At amortised cost (excluding trade
payables under provisional pricing
arrangements)

Trade payables under provisional pricing BREEEBZHZZ 5

arrangements FE {4 R IR

BEERA (T RERRE
EERHFzE 7 EMNRE

523,606 404,238

53,516 59,022

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan
receivable, trade and other receivables, restricted cash
deposits, bank balances and cash, derivative financial
instruments, held for trading investments, trade and other
payables, amount due to an intermediate holding company,
amount due to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary and bank borrowings. Details of financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currencies
other than the functional currency of the respective group
entities, which mainly represent held for trading
investments, trade and other receivables and bank
balances and cash at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

32. &Rt T A (&)

MEREREERREREE(E)

5
Bt ER

REERR - AEEUSNE (BEEEE
BERYEEBUNZER) TEZEEE
EREE(FEAFFEERE BE5R
HitbBUWRIRU R RITAEBR R E) 28R
EEWT :

2016 2015

—E-KRF —E-RF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE =L EE =L
US$’000 USsS$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
FEx FER x5 ER
RMB AR 4,035 - 24,792 -
ZAR e kS 1,831 - 61 -
HK$ BT 598 - 4,557 -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. Other than the foreign currency forward contracts as
disclosed in note 23, the Group currently has not entered
into any foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
against foreign currency risk.

FEBEBRIERMEZRZEHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currency of RMB and ZAR relative to US$. Under the linked
exchange rate system, the financial impact on foreign
exchange difference between HK$ and US$ is expected to
be immaterial and therefore no sensitivity analysis has
been prepared. The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase in functional currency against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive (2015: negative) number below indicates
an increase in profit (2015: loss) for the year where
functional currency of each group entity strengthens 5%
against the relevant foreign currency.

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

32. &I A (&

MEEREEBSERBER (&)

w5 R ()
BRED

AEEXTERZIAREBEEHBESR
EnzEZFBER  EREBEESE
BrTHRETEEZECV RS ERBAFRE
Ko BMUBERBBEDN o TRF
REBHNREEE L EBINEFES%
ZHBE 5% B EEBHERSE R
BEFTE2TE c MREIMESFU
INESTEZARRBREMER  WRIRE
HARMS% e EXEHEHBREFAE -
LTZEHS(Z2—FF : 88) HoAMN
EEEER IR EREEEINEAE
5% @ FREN(ZZ—AF : §518) 1§
hn e

2016 2015

—EB—-RE —E—FE

US$’000 US$'000

FERT ESL

RMB AR 202 (1,240)
ZAR EER ks 92 (3)

For a 5% weakening of functional currency of each group
entity against the relevant foreign currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit (2015: loss) for
the year and the balances above would be positive.

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

MESEER CWEEE R BRAINER
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate loan receivable and borrowings with
reference to LIBOR. The management continuously
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable rate borrowings and amount due to an intermediate
holding company and a fellow subsidiary. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest so

as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of LIBOR arising from the

Group’s US$ denominated borrowings.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s exposure of the
short-term bank deposits to interest rate risk is not
significant as interest bearing bank balances are with short

maturity period.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for floating-rate interest bearing
loan receivable and borrowings. The analysis is prepared
assuming those balances outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease which represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible

change in interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on loan receivable, borrowings and
amount due to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary carried at floating-rate had been 50 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the profit for the year ended 31 December 2016
would decrease/increase by US$1,819,000 (2015: loss for

the year would increase/decrease by US$1,370,000).

2.&mM T A (&)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. &I A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BMBERRBEEEEREE (&)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) FlF 7 Bz (&)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE DT (4
In the opinion of directors of the Company, the sensitivity BAREERE BRESIWMTRUR
analysis is unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as KEAZFERRE  RERFERZER
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during W O 3 A BREE R AR 2 R B D o
the year.
Commodity price risk B REREE
The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk arising AEBTAZERITESARETER R
from commodity derivative contracts and the Group’s sales RN EERH EL 2 EEMELENE R
and purchases which are subject to provisional pricing EXER (FEARE) - AEBEZE4HE
arrangements, predominantly copper price. The Group has B E B A B EE AR R R o IR E R
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will ZEE R -

consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk FEEmE

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event RBEHER > AEBRXZHFREIT
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at HEFAZBRT REECHEIRSHE
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of EREZBRREERRKO  BiRaH
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those BMRRERAI 2 ZEEERAE - A&
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial FERBBREREK XAREZCEE
position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of EEHEEEEEEFERE FEMER
the Company has delegated the management to be HMEREF  UERKERETEW
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit ElEHAER o tih REBRRSHR
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that BIASEENESEE A KREISEE
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In DRRBAATWE 2 £ 55T IR 2 AR
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of BEEBE -BUMS  AARNEERAR
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period SEZEERBE RKBEK -

to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for

irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the

Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances ROTFRRBOTESERZEERRE
exposed is considered minimal as such amounts are BRABEK FEARZSEHENIFHRNAZS
placed with various banks with good credit ratings and BEERFEEFTR2RIT BR1THE
there is no significant concentration of credit risk for bank MRBTHEBUBERCEESEHER -
deposits and bank balances. Details on concentration of BSEWREBEEESETREMR ZHEBER

credit risk on trade receivables are shown in note 19. MizE19 o



168

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"EtA=1t—HLFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s
copper and cobalt sales are allocated between nine (2015:
eight) customers all of whom have a good track record with
respect to settling receivables within the agreed credit
period.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

32. &Rt T A (&)

MBEREEBRRREE(E)

EERE (&

RBEZZ-AF+ZA=+—-BLF
B AEBOAE(ZB-HF: N\E)
EPHERN  ZEEFERBER
EHAEFRIRIES H9EE RIFC
& o

MEBELEE

BRBESREMEEMS  AEBER
REeRBRLLEEBARBZRERER

BRARMZKE M@ﬁ$5.%%
¥R cESRBEREESREEZEH 2%
L FEEEREREABR  LER
REEREE (WA) °

THRAVNAEBZTESRBE G
Té%ﬂ%%& NRDRESHMEE
ZAMBESREBRAEBUREASN
REBsRFAPFER - HaETE S
BEZIHBNRBEZERBHEE -

TREFFNEREACRERE - MF L
/Jlbi?.%/?-,%\ ’ E\U*EEIE%%‘ED/EE’\\‘%%%
HRZH=E o

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JIEEE B E R H R A 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In addition, the following table details the Group’s liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual
net cash inflows on derivative instruments settled on a net
basis. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative
financial instruments is prepared based on the contractual
maturities as the management considers that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of
the timing of the cash flows of the derivatives.

REMBRERNE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

32. &R T A (&)

MBEREEBEREREE(E)

REBELEGE (&

o TRFIAKEBZITEERTIA
ZRBES DM FIRTDBEBELUFEE
EEETETERBBENEESR
FHEMAER - AEETEEMIAZR
BESOMIBBESNIBARER R
AREEERREGHNEGBHERITE
TEBEEREZKE+TIEZE -

Over
one year
Weighted  On demand but not Total
average  and within more than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year five years fiveyears  cash flows amount
TS REXR -8 RERRE
kS -£R BER B8R RELE REf
% Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000
% TER TETL TERL TERL TERL
As at 31 December 2016 RZB-AE+ZR=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiiEERAR
Trade and other payables (excluding trade & 5 R £ thEATFUE (FBH
payables under provisional pricing EEREERHZESR
arangements) HUE) S 3976 = = 3,976 3,976
Trade payables under provisional pricing & lEE EEZ #2 & BEH
arrangements T - 53,516 - - 53,516 53,516
Amount due to an intermediate holding JEﬁEF BERDAR
company 362 4,464 120,268 - 124,732 119,331
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary JEﬁH?Bﬁ%’ ﬂ 545 1017 5,068 - 6,085 5744
Bank borrowings - floating rate RTER— 482 102,369 80,391 330,375 513,135 394,555
165,342 205,727 330,375 701,444 517,122
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. ¢RI A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and HBERREEEZEREE (&
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B E LR (4E)
Over
one year
Weighted ~ On demand but not Total
average  and within more than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year five years fiveyears  cash flows amount
ik 37 REXR -F4fE RERRE
kS -£R BER BRLE RELE REf
% Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000
% TER TETL TERL TERL TERL
As at 31 December 2015 RZB-BE+-R=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiiEERAR
Trade and other payables (excluding trade € 5 & S EEATE0E (FEEE
payables under provisional pricing FENEER2EA
amangements) EfFE) = 7442 = = 7442 7442
Trade payables under provisional ERREEZHZES
pricing arrangements e = 59,022 = = 59,022 59,022
Amount due to an intermediate EffREERADTE
holding company 362 6,792 116,041 - 122,833 17,615
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary EHRAMBLAAZE 545 1017 5,068 - 6,085 5744
Bank borrowings - floating rate R/ITEH— 28 542 31262 175,496 138,111 344,869 273437
105,535 296,605 138,111 540,251 463,260

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD # JIl & BMEREBRALDT



Fair value measurements of financial instruments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and

financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on

a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)

and inputs used).

For the year ended 31 December 2016

B2

32. ¢TI A (&)
SMIAZAFENE

RETZA=T—-BLFE

REEZAEE M EEL L FETEZ

A E
BWARE) -

EHEERTHMEMRZ L FE

FEEETEREERERBBERNSHE
BEPRBRAFETE - TREINEH
ZETHEERTHMAEGEZL
FEZER (LERGERMTKAERD

Fair value Fair value Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ as at asat  Fairvalue unobservable  unobservable input
financial liabilities 31.12.2016 31422015 hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s) inputs to fair value
RZE-AF R-%-1% TUREAA
tZA=t-8  fTZR=t-H EXFURE $BRLTE
tHEE/ERAR PANTE JOYE  AVERE  HERWRIEEANE BANE B
Commodity Assets— il Assets-US§791,000  Level 1 The fair value of the derivative contracts NA NIA
erivative contracts BE-B BE-IN00XT  2-§ contracts represents the diference TER TER
(under cash flow between the quoted forward price of the
hed e) commadity at the end of the reporting
i ﬂi f period and the contracted rate per the
(BREREHN) A§sets - US$3,705,00_0 Agsets = Nil commadity contract of the commadiy.
' RE 3760037 HER RN ATEABRNRSER
Feld for i JEBRESERANTERLEE:
investment
BEEERE
Foreign currency Assets - US§13.000 Assets-US$271,000  Level 2 Discounted cash flow: Future cash flows are NIA N/A
forward contracts BE3000%n EE-00FT  EIf estimated based on difference between TER TEH
(other derivatives not predetermined forward exchange rates
under hedging and forward exchange rates at the end of
accountlng) the reporting period discounted at a rate
EHNERY that reflects the credit risk of various
(TEHReitz Agsets - U3$206,00_0 Aqsets - Nil counterpartis.
AfiEI8)  RE-2E0KR REH O BTy Vet
, ERERREREIRNEIEZN
Commoty 2B TRRRFRHTAEERRN
derivative contracts HERH -
(other derivatives not
under hedging
accoun mg)
BRiTEEH
(FRHHE: 2
HipfiET8)
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying RANREZEERS  REERATLEREZS

amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded

at amortised cost approximate their fair values.

iEE=IU
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32.

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements

The Group has entered into certain derivative transactions
that are covered by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) with
various banks. These derivative instruments are not offset
in the consolidated statement of financial position as the
ISDA Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that the
Group currently has no legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts. Other than derivatives
transactions mentioned above, the Group has no other
financial assets and financial liabilities which are subject to
similar netting arrangements. No further disclosures are
provided as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group’s derivative transactions are not significant.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group was
committed to make the following future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which
fall due as follows:

32. &I A (&

EMIAZAVETEE)

ATHHEZEHMEERBE ~ AJEH
BT HY A FBE A B 2 B R SR U 15 e

AEBECIYETIIETARS  XH
BEXZRAERBTHEREHRIT
£ T AHE 1 ([ISDABE]) - AR
ISDAZRESRNEN - BOEBERKE
RARETHE RAKEEALET
FOEBE T AN EHC RIS
WZETETATENGS BB R R
HE - REMTETAERZH - A&EH
VTEAGBETHEENRTHEEFTETE
UHBZHE - ARBDESRA  ARAE
SEZTETERGTEKXR  #HUREE
—SWE-

33. HEARE

RB|EHR - AEERBTIRELE
HEMRAE 2 RRKEBAERER T3
SRR

2016 2015

—E—RE —E—FHE

Us$°000 US$'000

FErx ETT

Within one year —FR 1,253 567
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EZELF (BIEEEWSE) 1,612 704
2,865 1,271

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the
Group for certain of its equipment, premises and vehicles.
Lease is negotiated and rental is fixed originally for a lease
term ranging from one to five years.

EEEERARAEEREETRE
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34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34, EARAIE
2016 2015
—E-RE —E-HEF
US$’000 US$’'000
FER E
Capital expenditure in respect of FREMBEHRRETEIN
property, plant and equipment, mineral ~ {ERZBHE 2 FE  BER
rights and exploration and evaluation B BEEURBRR
assets contracted for but not provided TEEEZEARMX
in the consolidated financial
statements 8,081 11,017

35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of trustee.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs with a
cap of monthly contributions of HK$1,500 (equivalent to
US$160) (effective from 1 June 2014) to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by employee.

Contributions are made by the South African companies to
independent pension and provident funds which are defined
contribution retirement benefits plans governed by the
Pension Funds Act, 1956. All eligible employees are
required to become members of these schemes.

DRC employees contribute to the DRC National Social
Security Fund in accordance with applicable labour laws.
All eligible Zambian employees are required to join and
contribute to an external pension fund, Africa Life. Both
funds are defined contribution retirement benefits plans.

The assets of each of the retirement benefits schemes are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of the trustees. The amounts incurred for retirement
benefits schemes contributions are disclosed in notes 10
and 11. According to the respective schemes, those
contributions are not refundable nor forfeitable.

35. RIK@E A&

rEBAEBMASEREESHE -]
EAREE B DB 5 BMRPIFE SR HI M
NEEFEEBERBLZREETE -
Zat Bl EEEFENZRAREHE
EZAEEEEDRER - AKRERE
B AR5 %EZT B - S A
PR %1,50058 T (FHER160%7T) (B
“E-NEAB-HERER) c MESR
BRI BREH R -

MIEATHBURKERAEE (A
—REARFRKREER(Pension Funds
Act) B8 2 RERFRKEFE) FEH
MR -FEEEREEYEASMILES
2o

MR (2)EERBER S EHEIR
(2)zEHEREESHR -FIEEE
BB EEEHESMIBRAES
Africa Life Mz fEH MR - MEEEIRE
HBFTRAKERGTE -

ERIBAGFE CEEREFERZTA
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174 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

36. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 36. EEHE M
In addition to certain trade receivables transferred to banks MRIE20FT BB ETRITZETES
as disclosed in note 20, the Group pledged the following BUWEEN  REBIKBUTEEES
assets as securities for borrowings as follows: BERZIER -
2016 2015
—E-REF —E-HF
US$’000 Us$’000
FTER ETT
Property, plant and equipment, mineral ~ ¥% - BMERRE - BERE
rights and evaluation and exploration URFFEREBTREE
assets - 71,741
Inventories FE 3,880 4,301
Trade receivables g 2 ERFIE 4,000 5,000
7,880 81,042
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS IN.BABALRS
The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies AEBARICC(—REERERHFEA
under JCG, a state-owned enterprise with its majority RBNFENEELE MEHFEAR
equity interest held by the People’s Government of Gansu BAZHPEBRAZEG) ETHAREE R
Province, which is controlled by the government of the PRC Az— KB A EEH B BUFTZ
and the Group operates in an economic environment - HEEFHRBEEAZEHIZER
currently predominated by entities controlled, jointly FEMNRBRBPRLEETLE
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC
government.

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-—R"E+-A=+—HLEE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3V.BHALRE (&

(Continued)

(a) Transactions with JCG and its subsidiaries (a) EHJCGREMBRAAZRS
Apart from details of the balances with related parties FRIAAEEE M T P iR TR BA B A L 4584
disclosed in respective notes, the Group entered into HESN REEBRFREICGRE
the following transactions with JCG and its MEBARRILUTRS :
subsidiaries during the year:

2016 2015
AL —E-AF
Us$’000 Us$’000
FERT ETT
Sales of goods to ultimate holding RI&AERATEESE R
company (note a) (Mg Ea) 5,340 41,571
Sales of goods to a joint venture of BIRAIER AT 2EERE
the ultimate holding company HEE M (Msta)
(note a) 21,594 19,050
Sales of goods to an indirect O RAZER AR 2 EEFE
non-wholly owned subsidiary of 2ENMBARIEEER
ultimate holding company (FffzEa)
(note a) 45,175 75,825
Interest expenses on term loan EArEERADTCHER
due to an intermediate holding ZRERX
company 3,057 2,879
Interest expenses on term loan BARZAKEAREHER
due to a fellow subsidiary ZREREX 960 1,047
Interest expenses payable to an FEAS AR B = IR A B K AR
intermediate holding company ABBRES ZAER
on the perpetual subordinated
convertible securities 135 =
Interest income received from the  WELRALIER AR FTE1T2
bond issued by the ultimate BEE 2 FEWA (HzFakb)
holding company (notes a and b) 88 =
Rental expenses paid to a fellow  BIEZRKMBA T XNHEHESHX
subsidiary (note a) (MtzEa) 154 390
Rental income received from a BERAKMEBARWERESMAX
fellow subsidiary (note a) (FffsEa) 216 -
As at 31 December 2016, corporate guarantees in RZE—-—XR"E+ZB=+—8 "
aggregate amounting to US$382,000,000 (2015: JCCERAEEER 2RTEER
US$257,000,000) was provided by JCG for banking 4 $382,000,000% T (ZF—H
facilities obtained by the Group, of which £ : 257,000,000% 7T) A AIER
US$363,000,000 (2015: US$257,000,000) was Hh 2 8 /363,000,000 7t (=&
utilised. —E % : 257,000,000 7T) °
Note a: These transactions are regarded as connected Mizta : IRIEHEZFIES L TRAIE14A
transactions, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Rules B ZERZWRABEERS -
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
Note b: As set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial MiEEb @ HARS B IR R M EE220T 4
statements, the issuer of the bond acquired by the KEBR-_Z—R"FEHHL
Group in market during 2016 is the Company’s BEZESZBITARLAH
ultimate holding company. ZRAERAT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016

BT

RETZA=+—-BLFE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD

Transactions/balances with other PRC
government controlled entities

In addition, the Group has entered into various
transactions, including deposits placements,
borrowings and other general banking facilities, with
certain banks and financial institutions which are
government-related entities in its ordinary course of
business. In view of the nature of those banking
transactions, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that separate disclosure is not meaningful.

Transaction with non-PRC government —
related parties

IT.EBMALRS (&)

(b) EﬁiEfﬂﬁP BBAEHER 2

(c)

5/ %

o REBEREREEKBRE
TEHEBBRNHEBERE 2B THRT
FEMBEBIILZERS  BERF
FBREEM—RBITHRE &
E(‘niﬁﬁﬁﬁ&% HHE AAFE
ERXRATHEBEERETK o

EFPEBFRABALZRS

2016 2015
—E-RE —E-ARF
Us$’000 US$'000
FErx ET
Royalty expenses paid to o fff B A R FE IR R 2 A
non-controlling shareholders of BRECAERX
subsidiaries 4,739 6,133

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
consultancy fee of Nil (2015: US$244,500) was paid
to Mr. Douglas Campbell Walter Ritchie, a former
director of the Company who resigned on 26
November 2015.

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Company are
its directors. Further details of their emoluments are
disclosed in note 11(a). The emoluments of Mr. Yang
Zhigiang are borne by the ultimate holding company.

(d)

(e)

RBE-Z—R"E+-A=+—
BEFE YEH(ZE-—RF:
244 500% ) AR =B —HF+—
BZ+XREBBEZERARAAES
Douglas Campbell Walter Ritchie
FEXNBHAERM

FTEEBEASHRMN

RKABZEEEBAEAES-F
BRSNS 2 FBHRME11(@) °
BEREECHEHBRERAT
FRHE o

TNEEERERBRRQA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the

reporting period are set out below.

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

38. Y B R BF1E

REBRFEHR 2B RFHERT

RT3 e

Attributable equity interest

Place of Issued and fully of the Group
incorporation/ paid share/ TEEELRE
Name of subsidiary establishment Place of operation registered capital 31122016 31122015 Principal activities
- BETRERRE/ “3-7EF Zg-3F
HEATEE HRAL/HINY  EE4Y HREX +2A=1-R f2AZ1-R iEMR
Chibuluma Mines plc Zambia Zambia U8550,000 85% 85%  Copper mining
ERE ERE 50,000% 7 MR
Copper Resources Corporation British Virgin Islands ~ South Africa U8§104,924,166 100% 100%  Investment holding
(‘BVI) Bk 104,924,166 ¢ REZR
AERLES
(#BELES])
Golden Grand Investment Limited® BVI Hong Kong US§t 100% 100%  Investment holding
SEERERRAT AERLES Bt 157 REER
Golden Harbour International Trading Limted - Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of mineral and
SEREAREAERAE BE BE 1000047 metal products
RERZBERES
Golden River Mining Investment Limited BVI Hong Kong Usst 100% Nil- Investment holding
ABRLES Bt 1%7 £ REER
Jin Rui Mining Investment Limitec® Mauritius Hong Kong US$t 100% 100%  Investment holding
tHREREARAT 2R Bk 127 REZR
Kinsenda Copper Company SA (formerly DRC DRC US$1,250,000 1% T7% - Copper mining
named Kinsenda Copper Company Sarl) B (£) BE (%) 1,250,000% 7T HRRE
(Bi%Kinsenda Copper Company Sarl)
Maranda Mines (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa ZAR103,289,332 100% 100% In closure
3 3 103,289,332 A% B&%
Metorex Copper Corporation (DRC) South Africa South Africa ZAR100 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Proprietary) Limited 1008 B REER
Metorex Holdings (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa ZAR101 100% 100%  Investment holding
L 3 01EFHE RER
Metorex (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa US$597,766,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
[ 507,766,000% 70 RELER
Metorex Share Incentive Scheme South Africa South Africa ZAR100 100% 100% Dormant
(Proprietary) Limited E EE 00B%EE e
Ruashi Holdings (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa ZAR1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
[ 3 1,008 3 B REER
Ruashi Mining SAS (formerly named DRC DRC U$$12,000,000 75% 75%  Copper and cobalt mining
Ruashi Mining Spr) BE#) HE#) 12,000,000% 7 HHRAR
(Bi%Ruashi Mining Spr)
# These subsidiaries are directly held by the Company. # ZEWBARBAARHEEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-_Z-R"E+-A=+—HLEE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that none
of the Group’s subsidiaries has non-controlling interests as
at 31 December 2016 that are individually material to the
Group, therefore, no further financial information in respect
of these subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are

presented.

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

38.

Go)- WNCIEES g6

BEMNB R RANFERBTEAGEHES -

RRABAESRR R=T-—~"E+=A
=t-B FAEENBARGEESY
AEBEMSERBEXR 2 FERER -
WU ELFERFERER ZHEQT
ZEMEEER -

39. X B By B B AR 0 R R I 1

DNARBEBR 2 BT HRER

Company at the end of the reporting period includes: b=
2016 2015
=BT i in
uUs$’000 US$’000
FET =5
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BERSE 39 25
Interests in subsidiaries M B A B ER - =
Amount due from a subsidiary AL NG 667,031 666,935
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 667,070 666,960
Current assets REEE
Other receivables HihpE W R IE 132 160
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN NG E ] 82,010 87,344
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRES 5,716 1,863
Total current assets MEEEHE 87,858 89,367
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables Hth FE A FRIR 775 495
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary R RERME R RRIE 149 14
Total current liabilities TREaEEEE 924 509
Net current assets RBEEFE 86,934 88,858
Net assets EEFE 754,004 755,818
Equity iz
Share capital [N 5,578 5,578
Reserves (Note) ki (k) 748,426 750,240
Total equity R 754,004 755,818

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JI| & MERBRAQA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRERWE

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-Z-—R"F+ZA=t-HLFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39. XA A M BAMRRMKR KRB
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (#&)
(Continued)
Note: Movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: Mzt : AQRRRELBUT :
Perpetual
subordinated
convertible Share  Contributed ~Accumulated Total
securities premium surplus losses reserves
XARE
TakES ke BHES ZiER fEaE
US§'000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000
e e E E ES
At 1 January 2015 RZE-1%-F-H 1,089,084 294,196 9 (278,782) 1,104,507
Loss and total comprehensive ERBER2E
expense for the year Rx8% - - - (354,267) (354,267)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-EF+ZB=1-H 1,089,084 294,196 9 (633,049) 750,240
Loss and total comprehensive ERBERZE
expense for the year BXA% - - - (1814) (1814)
At 31 December 2016 RZB-RETZA=1-H 1,089,084 294,196 9 (634,863) 748,426
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to R-B-AFR-Z-"FMEFE -
shareholders represented the aggregate of share premium AARAHIIKFRRE2FEIDIERSG
account, contributed surplus and accumulated losses, BB - EHMEGKEER AN
which amounted to nil for both 2015 and 2016. THEAZ -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A FHME

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

FEEBEREMBFEZCTREER &
E -SERFERESHME (DHZES T
HRERMBEHRERRNEBEREHR 2B WT :

RESULTS E
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
ZE-RE ZE-HF ZZFE-NF ZE-=Ff IZE-ZF
Us$’000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEr Ey ES E E
Revenue Wz 364,845 470,691 652,475 742,242 625,230
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable 72 T AE AL ER
to owners of the Company wAl,/ (BE) 8,347 (291,767)  (230,512) 203,837 44,838
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE BER
NON-CONTROLLING RS
INTERESTS
Assets BE 1,680,102 1,580,373 1,864,269  2,259.919 2,202,437
Liabilities =X (912,558)  (819,413)  (747,517)  (839,942) (1,860,528)
767,544 760,960 1,116,752 1,419,977 341,909
Equity attributable to owners AAREEARLES 700,583 691,966 983709 1,216,310 140,723
of the Company
Non-controlling interests FERER 66,961 68,994 133,043 203,667 201,186
767,544 760,960 1,116,752 1,419,977 341,909

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD

TNEEHERERER 2 A



“Acquisition” or “Combination”

the acquisition by the Company of the entire equity interest in Jin
Rui (along with the Metorex Group) in November 2013 pursuant
to the sales and purchase agreement dated 27 August 2013, the
details of which are set out in the circular of the Company dated
30 August 2013; with a total consideration of US$1,290,000,000
was satisfied by the allotment and issue of 1,595,880,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$1 per
share and the issue of PSCS of the Company in the aggregate
amount of US$1,085,400,000

“Board”

the board of Directors of the Company

MCECM

Copperbelt Electrical Corporation, a Zambian electricity company

“Chibuluma plc”

Chibuluma Mines plc, a company incorporated in Zambia and a
subsidiary of Metorex

“Chibuluma South Mine”

an underground copper mine owned by Chibuluma plc situated
in Zambia near the town of Kalulushi

“Chifupu deposit”

an adjacent copper deposit to Chibuluma South Mine under
exploration which is located approximately 1.7 km southwest of
Chibuluma South Mine

“Company” or “JCI”

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

“Director(s)"”

the director(s) of the Company

MDRCM

the Democratic Republic of Congo

GLOSSARY

Tl

[WEEE]ISRNIE6
AKAARZE—=F+—-AREAHA=Z
—=ZE N NB=-t++tEEEHERESLE
(EEMetorex5E B) 2P/ AER BRE
1,290,000,000% 7t + UIREBITEESR 1B THE
& % 2 171,595,880,00008 2 A B T L B IR -
LUK 2% 172N A 5] #2{81,085,400,0003 7T 2 K
ARBAIBBEFR2HAIZA FHEERAAR
ARBHAE-E—=ENA=+tH2BHX
[EEg

AABEES

[CEC.

Copperbelt Electrical Corporation » — &Lt
BEHAT

[ Chibuluma plic]

Chibuluma Mines plc » RELL MK L 2
AT+ BMetorexZ [ B 2 7

[Chibulumarg & ]

EChibuluma plc#EH 2t T 5% - L RELL
I > #PiFKalulushitE &

[Chifupu® b |

B8 F1 EAChibulumafg BB AR 2 $AHE AR - LA
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GLOSSARY

%

"EBITDA"

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and
impairment loss

“Exploration Projects”

the two advanced stage exploration projects owned by the
Metorex Group located in the DRC namely,

(i) Lubembe Project; and

(i) Musonoi Project

“Gécamines”

La Générale des Carriéres et des Mines, a state-owned mining
company in the DRC

“Golden Harbour” or “GHL"

Golden Harbour International Trading Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

“Group” or “JCI Group”

the Company and its subsidiaries

IIHK$II

Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
“Indicated Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage, densities,
shape, physical characteristics, grade and mineral content
can be estimated with a reasonable level of confidence. It is
based on information from exploration, sampling and testing of
material gathered from locations such as outcrops, trenches,
pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are too widely or

inappropriately spaced to confirm geological or grade continuity
but are spaced closely enough for continuity to be assumed

[EBITDA

REFRE ~ BIR - FrERBHE R RERERN
Hy & A

[FEEE ]

HMetorexEEBFTEB LRI R (£) 2 EE
HiPEER IRIBEIEE - 5 ¢

(i) Lubembel@H ; K&

(i) Musonoil® H

[ Gécamines ]

La Générale des Carriéres et des Mines - [l
RE)EHAERELT

[&#iR] = [GHL]
TRREMEZERLT  —EREBEM
B RBERARANBEZENBE QR
[A&EEIH[ICIKH ]

ARBREMBLE

[T

BT BBEEER

[ &%

TEEBERITHE

[EHEEERE

BEERETEMML BE R WES
B muURBYEESEGEAESEARE
KTz B8R o LeTH LARERDER ~ BRI 2R
IRFEEE - HRAE - 1B - IREREASHEZ
MEFRBEBSR2ENBEE - QBB

RERREEFNEE @ AW E i mE
B BHEEREMRUAREEBEN



“Inferred Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which volume or tonnage,
grade and mineral content can be estimated with a low level of
confidence. It is inferred from geological evidence and assumed
but not verified geologically or through grade continuity. It is
based on information gathered through appropriate techniques
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes that may be limited, or of uncertain quality and
reliability

“Jinchuan Group” or “JCG”

£ JIIEBRBAEMRRA T (Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*), a state-
owned enterprise established in the PRC and the controlling
shareholder of the Company

“Jin Rui”

Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited (£IEEREBROT), a
company incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius and a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Jin Rui Group”

Jin Rui, Metorex Holdings and the Metorex Group

“Jintai”

Jintai Mining Investment Limited (£Z%BEXREBRLT), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited

“Kinsenda Project” or “Development Project”

a brownfield copper project owned by Kinsenda SA and situated
in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“Kinsenda SA”

Kinsenda Copper Company SA, a company incorporated in the
DRC and a subsidiary of Metorex

*  For identification purposes only

GLOSSARY
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[EEEEERE ]
BEEREPEHEIMN RURBEYE
EFEAZHERNEAEEKFE 2D 1t
DRBHEZEEFRBR (BERERE) HE
R EEEMEEH G HOUEEER
TR SR - 1BHE - 1Bh - REREILE
WHKRESR2ENRBEE  HEBRERT
REERSAREREHEZERTEM
[€)IEEI[ICG]
TINEEROGEBRAT > RPBKLZ2EE
¥ DARXRZERRKRE

[€% ]

Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited (£ # &%
REBRAT) » REE R ME M AL
ZAR RARTzEEREE2ENB R
[Em&EE]

£ % » Metorex Holdings & Metorex% &
(&%

Jintai Mining Investment Limited (& =B %%
BERERAR)  REBEMRLZAT > AT
NEB (B8 ERERERAARAIZEES2E
LipE=RNE|

[KinsendalE B |k [ B3 15 B |

FKinsenda SABEE 2 EBIZE R EEIBIER » U
REIR(£) M/neE

[Kinsenda SA |

Kinsenda Copper Company SA @ A& (£)
HMAK Lz AT > BMetorex 2 i B2 A
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GLOSSARY

%

“Lanzhou Jinchuan”

BN S| FATRIRH R 2B R 23 (Lanzhou Jinchuan Advanced
Materials Technology Co., Ltd.*), a company incorporated in the
PRC, approximately 99% interest of which is indirectly held by
Jinchuan

“Listing Rules”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“LME"

the London Metal Exchange
“LOM”

Life of mine

“Lubembe Project”

a greenfield copper project owned by Kinsenda SA and situated
in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“Measured Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which the tonnage, densities,
shape, physical characteristics, grade and mineral content can
be estimated with a high level of confidence. It is based on
detailed and reliable information from exploration, sampling and
testing of material from locations such as outcrops, trenches,
pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are spaced closely
enough to confirm geological and grade continuity

“Metorex”

Metorex (Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated in South
Africa and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Metorex Group”

Metorex and its subsidiaries (including Chibuluma plc, Kinsenda
SA and Ruashi Mining), which comprise (amongst other
investment holding companies) the operating companies within
the Group

“Metorex Holdings"”

Metorex Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

*  For identification purposes only

(BN )1l
BMESNIFHMEBREROERRA - —BR
REIREM AL 2 N ) H99% sk B & I
BER

[Em A
BBMERZMERRAAES LHARA

=

[Me&Frl
RAEBRZ T
[LOM ]

% 355 B £ 4
[LubembeIE A |

HKinsenda SA#EE 2 AR MEEE - UK
MR (£) mAME

[GHEBEESRE ]

BEEREREWEMNL BE B WEHS
B RURBYESETEAZ2HEBRSAE
EXRFEZEBD o LTILABNER - IERAERE
BIREDE  BE - BEn > BREREASHE
ZYBEHARTSERNBEE R SME
BESEZMEUEEHE KM EEN

[ Metorex

Metorex (Proprietary) Limited - R 3EFE M A
MN2AT ARARZBEZENE QA

[Metorexs H |

Metorex 2 H Kff B 2 7] (23EChibuluma plc
Kinsenda SAK; Ruashi Mining) @ CEREIH %k
BERAR)ARAEBZEENT

[ Metorex Holdings ]

Metorex Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

v EREE



“Mineral Reserve(s)”

the economically mineable material derived from a Measured
Mineral Resource or Indicated Mineral Resource or both. It
includes diluting and contaminating materials and allows for
losses that are expected to occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-feasibility study
for a project and a LOM plan for an operation must have been
completed, including consideration of, and modification by,
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing,
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors (the
modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be disclosed

“Mineral Resource(s)”

a concentration or occurrence of material of economic interest
in or on the earth’s crust in such a form, quality, and quantity
that there are reasonable and realistic prospects for eventual
economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade, continuity
and other geological characteristics of a Mineral Resource are
known, or estimated from specific geological evidence, sampling
and knowledge interpreted from an appropriately constrained
and portrayed geological model

“Musonoi Project”

a greenfield copper and cobalt project owned by Ruashi Mining
and situated in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“Operating Mines”

Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine
“PRC"

the People’s Republic of China
“Probable Reserve”

the economically mineable material derived from a Measured
Mineral Resource or Indicated Mineral Resource or both. It
is estimated with a lower level of confidence than a Proved
Reserve. It includes diluting and contaminating materials and
allows for losses that are expected to occur when the material
is mined. Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-
feasibility study for a project or a LOM plan for an operation
must have been completed, including consideration of, and
modification by, realistically assumed mining, metallurgical,
economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and
governmental factors (the modifying factors). Such modifying
factors must be disclosed

GLOSSARY
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RERPREERER, REHEE éﬁz
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GLOSSARY

%

“Proved Reserve”

the economically mineable material derived from a Measured
Mineral Resource. It is estimated with a high level of confidence.
It includes diluting and contaminating materials and allows for
losses that are expected to occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-feasibility study
for a project or a LOM plan for an operation must have been
completed, including consideration of, and modification by,
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing,
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors (the
modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be disclosed

“PSCS" or “Convertible Securities”

the perpetual subordinated convertible securities to be issued
by the Company to satisfy part of the purchase price for the
Acquisition

"RMB"

“Renminbi”, the lawful currency of the PRC

"ROM"

run-of-mine, being the one that is usually produced from the
mine for delivery to the process plant

“Ruashi Holdings”

Ruashi Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated
in South Africa and a subsidiary of Metorex

“Ruashi Mine”

an opencast oxide copper and cobalt mine owned Ruashi Mining
and situated in the DRC on the outskirts of Lubumbashi, the
capital of Katanga province

“Ruashi Mining”

Ruashi Mining SAS, a company duly incorporated in the DRC, a
subsidiary Ruashi Holdings

“SAMREC Code”
South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results,

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (2007 edition) as
amended from time to time
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MSFOM

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 the Laws of
Hong Kong

“SHEC"

Safety, Health, Environment and Communities
“SMBS”

Sodium meta bi-sulphite

“SNEL"”

Société Nationale d’Electricité, being the national electricity
company of the DRC

“Sodimico”

Société de Développement Industriel et Minere du Congo, a
state-owned enterprise in the DRC

“South Africa”

the Republic of South Africa

"SX-EW"

solvent extraction — electrowinning

“Stock Exchange”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

"US$” or “US dollar”

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the US
“Zambia"”

the Republic of Zambia

"ZAR"

South African Rand, the lawful currency of South Africa
noym

percentage

"Co”

cobalt
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" ”
Cu

copper
“Km"”
kilometre(s)

gt

thousand tonnes
“KWh"

kilowatt hour

oo

m
metre(s)

N

million

"Mt

million tonnes

MW

megawatt, a unit of power equivalent to one million watts
“MWh”

megawatt hour

g

tonne(s)

“TCcu”

total copper

[cul

[km ]

>
f

[kt

[kwh |
FTRE
fm]
™M
BB
Mt
BEM
rMw |
BERY  DXEN HER-BBRS
[MWh ]
BERE
[tl

M
[TCul

2

JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO.LTD £ JIl & MERERAQF



JINCHUAN<JII

Unit 3101, 31/F, United Centre,
95 Queensway, Hong Kong
BEBLEBESHERA— P U31EI101E

www.jinchuan-intl.com

& This annual report is printed on environmentally friendly paper
AERKABRRAEDH



	封面
	公司簡介
	目錄
	JCI礦區地理位置分佈
	財務摘要
	公司資料
	主席報告
	行政總裁報告
	採礦業務回顧
	資源及儲量
	可持續發展報告
	管理層討論及分析
	企業管治報告
	董事及高級管理層
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	詞彙
	封底

